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Trust  
well placed
Nationwide is a credible alternative to the banks,  
a financial provider designed to put customers first,  
and one they can trust. As the world’s biggest building 
society, we are well placed to provide that alternative.
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Financial highlights

Provided an estimated £680 million of member value  
through pricing benefits

Underlying profit before tax £393 million

Reported profit before tax £212 million

Strong capital ratios with Core Tier 1 ratio of 12.1%

Mergers with The Cheshire and The Derbyshire Building  
Societies completed

results
2005 – 2009

2005 

Pro-forma

2006 

underlying

2007 

underlying

2008 

underlying

2009 

Underlying

Profit before tax £m 468 539 669 781 393

total income net of claims on insurance contracts £m 1,518 1,636 1,923 2,212 2,117

Cost income ratio % 61.9 60.6 56.6 55.7 60.0

total assets £m 112,086 120,586 137,379 179, 027 202,361

loans and advances to customers £m 92,878 101,348 115,938 142,804 155,482

Member savings balances £m 72,627 80,919 86,795 113,816 128,284

total regulatory capital £m 6,577 6,984 7,961 9,474 9,706

Underlying results

these results have been prepared in line with International Financial reporting standards accounting policies (‘IrFs’).  
Where appropriate, certain aspects of the results are presented to reflect management’s view of the underlying results  
in order to provide a clearer representation of the performance of the group.

Profit before tax shown on a reported basis and underlying basis are set out on page 9. reported profit before tax of £212 million 
(2008: £686 million) has been adjusted for Financial services Compensation scheme (FsCs) costs of £241 million, transformation 
costs relating to the restructure and resizing of the business of £107 million, gains arising on business combinations of £157 million, and 
the movement in the value of derivatives and hedge accounting of £10 million, to derive an underlying profit before tax of £393 million 
(2008: £781 million).
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Financial highlights 
continued

Profit before tax 
(£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 468

Underlying 539

Underlying 669

Underlying 781

Underlying 393

Total income 
net of claims 
on insurance 
contracts (£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 1,518

Underlying 1,636

Underlying 1,923

Underlying 2,212

Underlying 2,117

Cost income 
ratio (%)

IFRS Pro-Forma 61.9

Underlying 60.6

Underlying 56.6

Underlying 55.7

Underlying 60.0

Total assets 
(£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 112,086

Underlying 120,586

Underlying 137,379

Underlying 179,027

Underlying 202,361

Loans and 
advances to 
customers 
(£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 92,878

Underlying 101,348

Underlying 115,938

Underlying 142,804

Underlying 155,482

Member savings 
balances (£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 72,627

Underlying 80,919

Underlying 86,795

Underlying 113,816

Underlying 128,284

Total regulatory 
capital (£million)

IFRS Pro-Forma 6,577

Underlying 6,984

Underlying 7,961

Underlying 9,474

Underlying 9,706

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09

05
06
07
08
09



Nationwide 2009 Annual Report and Accounts4

Chairman’s Statement

Our resilience in the face of these challenges proves that  
the traditional building society business model can not only  
work, but actually excel in providing both security and  
value to members. We are committed to helping members 
make the most of their finances, and to support them in  
periods of difficulty. Over the past year, we have worked  
with the Government, the FsA, the treasury and other  
banks and building societies to ensure that our members’ 
interests are protected.

Member value

Our profit has inevitably been affected by lower interest margins 
and higher provisions as a consequence of the credit crisis and 
recession. However, our results compare very well with  
those of our peer group, many of whom have recorded 
substantial losses in the same period. Our underlying profit  
was £393 million, compared with £781 million in 2008,  
whilst reported pre-tax profit was £212 million compared  
with £686 million last year. the reported profit is after a  
charge of £241 million relating to the Financial services 
Compensation scheme (FsCs) which I comment on below.

In addition Nationwide provided an estimated £680 million  
of benefit through competitive interest rates and lower fees  
and charges. 

the society’s assets increased to over £202 billion, up from 
£179 billion last year, helped by mergers and acquisitions.

Campaigning to change the FSCS
Although we manage our business prudently in response  
to market conditions, and maintain our relatively low  
exposure to wholesale market risks, the failure of others  
has had a significant impact on Nationwide. In particular,  
following the collapse of Bradford & Bingley and the  
fallout from the failure of two Icelandic banks, this year’s 
financial statement included £241 million of levies  
imposed by the FsCs. We will continue to lobby for a  
change to what remains an unfair burden on financially  
sound organisations, and in particular, its disproportionate 
effect on mutual building societies. 

New products
this year, Nationwide greatly extended its product range to 
provide alternatives in a low interest rate environment, including 
12 new investment funds in partnership with legal & General. 
We have launched new savings and mortgage products, 
including e-savings Plus, a lifetime tracker mortgage, and 
tailored personal loan pricing. We also unveiled new travel  
and motor insurance through liverpool Victoria.

Corporate responsibility
this year saw a change in the way we work with charities  
and other good causes, working more closely with fewer 
organisations whose activities are better matched to 
Nationwide’s core principles and beliefs. these include  
the £3 million MoneyActive partnership with Citizens  
Advice to recruit and train 1,300 volunteer financial  
advisers; a new partnership with shelter, the housing and 
homelessness charity; increased fund-raising in aid of  
Macmillan Cancer support; and continued support for  
Disability sport events (Dse), which provides opportunities  
for disabled athletes to compete locally and nationally.

In October, in partnership with the royal Institute of British 
Architects (rIBA), we launched the Nationwide sustainable 
Housing Awards, which promotes economic and environmental 
sustainability and encourages architects and design students  
to incorporate issues of sustainability into their future designs.

We also continue to support Cats’ eyes For Kids, and this  
year pledged to give every new school intake child a reflector 
until 2010, having already distributed over 12 million  
throughout the united Kingdom. And since september, 
Nationwide education has announced a series of  
programmes to provide all school-age children with  
easy and fun financial education.

Mergers, acquisitions and expansion
there was significant activity in respect of mergers and 
acquisitions. the Portman integration is now complete (under 
budget and ahead of time), with all savings balances and 
mortgages now migrated to Nationwide systems.  

The last financial year was one of the most 
challenging in recent memory as a series of 
shocks hit the financial system in the UK and 
throughout the world. Although the financial 
system has now largely stabilised, the new year 
continues to be characterised by near-zero 
interest rates, an ongoing recession and low 
levels of consumer confidence, all of which  
affect every aspect of what we do.
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Chairman’s Statement 
continued

We merged with the Derbyshire and the Cheshire building 
societies in December and acquired selected high quality assets 
and liabilities of Dunfermline Building society in March 2009. 

In addition we opened our first branch in the republic of Ireland. 
these transactions will add value to Nationwide, improve our 
distribution footprint and grow the membership and are a 
testament to the strength of Nationwide and our ability to provide 
support to other building societies.

AGM
We are delighted to welcome all our new members and remind 
them of the important role they play in supporting Nationwide  
by voting for its Board. It only takes a few minutes, and can be 
done online at nationwide.co.uk, through the post, or at any 
branch of the Nationwide, Cheshire, Derbyshire or Dunfermline.

Members are also welcome at the Annual General Meeting  
(AGM) in Birmingham on 16 July.

Board Changes
I would like to offer our thanks and good wishes to three 
departing Board colleagues: stuart Bernau steps down from the 
Board in July 2009 after 19 exceptional years with Nationwide  
(13 as a Director); John sutherland stepped down earlier this year 
after 20 years with the society; and sue ellen who joined us from 
the Portman, as a Non executive Director, also leaves in July.

I am pleased to welcome three new directors: Chris rhodes, who 
has joined us from santander as Group Product and Marketing 
Director; Michael Jary, who brings much expertise from the retail 
and consumer sectors; and Kevin loosemore, who has a wealth  
of experience in It.

Finally, I would like to thank all our employees for the  
tremendous efforts they have made in a time of unprecedented 
change. their contributions have ensured Nationwide retains  
its trusted position in the marketplace, while laying the 
foundations for future growth. Congratulations to all on  
a truly outstanding achievement.

Geoffrey Howe 
Chairman  
26 May 2009

Our resilience proves  
that the traditional building 
society business model excels  
in providing both security and

value to members

Nationwide provided  
an estimated
£680 million
of benefit through competitive 
interest rates and lower fees  
and charges
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Chief Executive’s Review

Whilst we have not been immune to the impact of the recession, 
we have delivered a resilient performance with an underlying 
profit performance for the year of £393 million (2008: £781 
million). the reduction in our underlying profit performance 
reflects the impact of carrying higher levels of liquidity and 
operating within an environment of higher retail funding costs 
and significant margin compression and, despite our prudent 
lending policies, an increase in impairment charges reflecting  
the current recessionary conditions.

statutory profit before tax was £212 million (2008: £686 million). 
Our reported profit is 53% lower than it would otherwise have 
been because there is an exceptional charge of £241 million 
relating to levies payable to the Financial services Compensation 
scheme (FsCs) following the failure of a number of banking 
institutions. Without this charge, our reported profit before tax 
would have been £453 million which, in the context of the 
current recessionary conditions and low interest rate 
environment, demonstrates the ability of our business model  
to withstand extremely challenging market conditions.

reported profit also includes transformation costs of £107 million 
principally associated with costs in connection with restructuring 
and resizing the business including the integration of Portman, 
Cheshire and Derbyshire building societies into the Group, gains 
on business combinations of £157 million from Cheshire and 
Dunfermline, and a positive movement in the value of derivatives 
and hedge accounting of £10 million.

Prudent and secure business model:
Nationwide, as a building society, has remained true to its core 
values. We have a strong and diversified funding base, with  
over 70% of our funding through retail deposits, which means 
that we are less reliant on the wholesale markets than many  
of our listed competitors.

We have continued to manage our business in a prudent manner 
throughout the year. Competition for retail funds has been strong 
and economic conditions, combined with the low interest rate 
environment, has seen a reduction in the overall size of the 

market. Our approach has been to offer fair and consistent 
pricing to our savers. Our net receipts, including offshore 
deposits, were £1.7 billion and our retail savings deposit growth 
was £4.5 billion. lending activities have been managed to match 
broadly with the levels of deposit taking. total net lending for the 
year was £2.1 billion (2008: £8.9 billion). Of this, Group net 
residential lending was £1.6 billion representing a market share  
of 8.2% (2008: 7.1%).

We have maintained a consistent focus on the quality of our 
lending, with the average indexed loan to value of new residential 
lending reducing from 61% to 58%. Whilst the recession has had 
an impact upon the level of our arrears, our increase has been 
less than the average increase for the Council of Mortgage 
lenders (CMl). For Nationwide originated loans, the proportion 
of mortgage accounts three months or more in arrears was 
0.60% (2008: 0.40%), compared to a CMl industry average  
of 2.39% as at 31 March 2009. 

Mortgage assets acquired through mergers with Derbyshire  
and Cheshire and the purchase of Dunfermline’s prime residential 
assets have been fair valued on a basis which makes allowance 
for anticipated losses over the remaining life of the loans. As a 
result of the fair valuation exercise, we have provided £203 
million against total residential mortgage assets of £8.6 billion  
to cover our expectation of future credit losses.

the quality of the prime residential mortgage book, which 
accounts for approximately 86% of our residential mortgage 
loans, remains strong with the proportion of Nationwide 
originated mortgage accounts three months or more in arrears  
of 0.44% (4 April 2008: 0.34%). As anticipated, arrears in the 
specialist lending portfolios have shown a marked increase in  
the year and, for Nationwide originated loans, the proportion  
of specialist accounts in arrears increased to 2.45%, compared 
with 1.11% the previous year. 

the current market conditions have had a significant impact 
upon commercial property values and we have seen a substantial 
increase in the level of commercial arrears and provisions 
through reduced tenant demand and business failures.  

Nationwide has performed  
well in unprecedented and 
challenging market conditions:
The past financial year has been marked by unprecedented 
and exceptional market conditions, with problems initially 
arising in the financial services industry spreading to the 
broader economy. We are in the middle of a global downturn 
with the UK economy officially in the deepest recession since 
the second world war. During the year a number of banks  
have required Government support, with some becoming 
nationalised or part-nationalised in the process. Nationwide 
has not been required to raise additional capital and, despite 
the market conditions, has delivered an estimated £680 million 
of benefits to members through competitive interest rates and 
lower fees and charges.
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Chief Executive’s Review
continued

excluding low risk lending to social housing and Private Finance 
Initiatives (PFI), the commercial loan portfolio is well diversified 
by property type, industry sector and geography with only 
limited exposure to subordinated or non senior loans or 
speculative development.

We have experienced increases in levels of arrears and defaults, 
particularly over the second half of the year. there are 179 
Nationwide originated commercial accounts three months or 
more in arrears at 4 April 2009 (4 April 2008: 66 accounts,  
30 september 2008: 75 accounts) all of which have been 
individually assessed for impairment. Over the year, the level  
of balance sheet provision has increased to £194 million  
(4 April 2008: £30 million) bringing provision as a percentage  
of assets to 0.92% (4 April 2008: 0.15%).

the commercial portfolios acquired from the Derbyshire and 
Cheshire include £80 million of subordinated loans and  
£160 million of residential property development. the quality  
of these portfolios is not equivalent to our own originated book 
and they have been subject to rigorous evaluation as part of our 
accounting fair value exercise on acquisition. As a result, in 
bringing these assets onto our balance sheet, we have written 
them down by £179 million out of a total gross exposure of  
£1.2 billion to cover our expectation of future credit losses.  
Our current assessment of the risk inherent in these portfolios  
is not materially different to the view taken during our pre 
completion due diligence for the merger transactions.

Nationwide has always maintained a strong and robust capital 
position. the FsA has confirmed that Nationwide has cleared the 
conditions required to use its Internal ratings Based (IrB) 
models to calculate capital requirements. At 4 April 2009, the 
Group’s Core tier 1 capital ratio, on an IrB basis, was 12.1% and 
tier 1 ratio was 15.1%. these ratios are significantly higher than 
the ratios reported in our Half Year results announcement for  
the six months to 30 september 2008, which were reported on  
a standardised basis and excluded the Cheshire and Derbyshire 
mergers and Dunfermline acquisition. the ratios are also 
substantially in excess of those reported by the major banks  
in their 2008 year end results announcements. In view of our 
strong capital position, the tripartite authorities agreed in  
March 2009 that Nationwide was not required to raise any 
additional capital.

Nationwide responded positively  
to market conditions:
Nationwide has taken steps to support the building society sector 
and promote financial stability during this exceptional period.  
this year, Nationwide has merged with the Cheshire and the 
Derbyshire and acquired the prime residential mortgage book,  
retail liabilities and other selected assets and liabilities of 
Dunfermline Building society. the mergers with the Cheshire 
and Derbyshire were legally completed in December 2008, 
within three months of announcement, whilst the acquisition of 
Dunfermline’s assets and liabilities took place on 30 March 2009. 
the relatively short timescales to completion demonstrates 
Nationwide’s ability to react quickly and positively in the interests 
of all stakeholders.

the transactions have provided an opportunity for Nationwide  
to deepen its national franchise at a local level. Derbyshire, 
Cheshire and Dunfermline will all retain their regional identities 

Strong and robust  
capital position, with  
Core Tier 1 ratio of 

12.1%

Nationwide has taken  
steps to support the  
building society  
sector and promote
financial stability
during this  
exceptional period

We have been  
actively lobbying the 

Tripartite authorities to 
review the way in which 

FSCS levies are allocated 
across the industry
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Chief Executive’s Review
continued

and operate as three new trading brands for Nationwide. Despite 
their separate financial difficulties, which have been prudently 
provided for through the fair valuation of assets as at the date of 
acquisition, we believe these transactions are in the long term 
interests of our members and will generate value over the medium 
term. the fair valuation exercise also ensures that Nationwide is 
protected from any further losses from the acquired assets 
provided that they perform in line with assumptions at take on.

In March 2009 we further extended our retail savings franchise  
by expanding into the republic of Ireland, adding to the offshore 
presence the society already has on the Isle of Man. Nationwide  
uK (Ireland) will not only provide the society with an extra  
outlet for attracting retail savings but it will also offer the society 
access for the first time to funding from the european Central  
Bank should it be required.

The FSCS scheme is inequitable and we  
have been lobbying hard for positive change:
the transfer of Bradford & Bingley’s retail deposit business  
to Abbey and the subsequent failure of other banks and  
deposit-taking institutions during the year triggered claims  
against the FsCs. Nationwide, along with other building  
societies, will be required to pay levies to the FsCs, primarily  
to fund interest payments on treasury loans to the scheme,  
based upon our share of protected deposits. 

We have been actively lobbying the tripartite authorities to  
review the way in which FsCs levies are allocated across the 
industry. We believe the current allocation is unfair and has a 
disproportionate effect on building societies, who are required to 
hold a greater proportion of funding in the form of retail deposits.

Based upon the current FsCs allocation, we have recognised  
a charge of £241 million in our year end financial statements.  
this provision covers the full cost of the Group’s estimated  
share of the levies in respect of the initial three year loan  
facility from HM treasury.

Nationwide has always adopted a prudent and responsible 
approach to lending. We firmly believe that the allocation of  
levies should reflect the risk profile of the organisation and to 
require building society members to bear a disproportionate  
cost of the failures of high risk banking businesses is both unfair  
and wholly contrary to this principle. this view is endorsed by  
173 cross party MPs supporting a need for a review of the way  
it is allocated.

We have also lobbied for the FsCs limit to be increased from 
£50,000 to at least £100,000 per individual – which would cover 
99% of our members’ savings. this would reassure savers  
of independent institutions that they have similar protection  
as those with Government owned, nationalised and  
part-nationalised banks.

The economic outlook remains challenging:
the uK economy contracted very sharply at the end of 2008 and 
the beginning of 2009, following the intensification of the global 
financial crisis in september. Although there have been some 
encouraging indications that the rate of decline is beginning to 
slow, we expect the economy to remain in recession until at least 
the end of 2009. Any recovery in 2010 is likely to be sluggish as 
consumers work off excess debt and fiscal policy is tightened in 

order to control the public sector deficit. the labour market is 
expected to lag developments in the overall economy, meaning 
that the unemployment rate may continue rising well into 2010. 

the financial crisis and the recession have already had a  
significant impact on the housing market, where prices have fallen 
considerably from their 2007 peak. In recent months, the rate of 
price declines has slowed somewhat, although it is too early to say 
that this marks a definitive turning point. lower prices and lower 
interest rates could start to attract more buyers into the market as 
the year progresses. However, high levels of unemployment and 
low wage growth are likely to limit the pace of any recovery. 

the savings market also faces another challenging year, as 
deteriorating employment conditions make it difficult for 
households to save, and the very low level of interest rates 
currently prevailing is leading many households to prioritise  
debt reduction over deposit accumulation. Consequently we 
expect both the uK Household savings market and uK mortgage 
market to contract in 2009/10, taking the net mortgage market 
into negative growth.

Nationwide remains well positioned:
Current economic, market and interest rate conditions are  
leading to a reduction in the Group’s profitability and it is clear  
that 2009 and 2010 will continue to present a very difficult trading 
environment. We remain committed to mutuality and will continue 
to run our business in a manner which responds to market 
conditions but maintains long term good value for our members. 

We expect both the mortgage and savings market to contract  
in 2009 which will lead to intensive competition for high quality 
mortgages and retail deposits. the cost of retail and wholesale 
funding and our prudent approach to liquidity management  
will continue to exert downward pressure on margins and this 
trend will be compounded by the full year impact of the low 
interest rate environment. We expect the level of impairments  
to increase during 2009 as an inevitable consequence of  
prevailing economic conditions. As a result, we expect the 
significantly reduced level of underlying profit in the second half  
of 2008/09 to continue throughout 2009/10 with scope for 
further reduction dependent upon the level of competition for 
retail funds and the performance of the wider economy.

As a sector, mutuals are well placed to tolerate lower levels of 
profitability without the burden of having to pay a dividend  
to shareholders. We do expect further consolidation in the 
financial services sector and Nationwide will continue to act in  
a responsible manner to support the mutual sector and provide 
market stability. However, we will not be a lender of last resort  
and will only consider transactions which are in the interests of 
our members.

Nationwide’s balance sheet is well capitalised with a high level  
of liquidity and a strong retail funding base. the outlook is 
challenging, but we remain well positioned to trade through  
these difficult conditions and remain a real and attractive 
alternative to the banks.

Graham Beale 
Chief executive  
26 May 2009
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Business Review

Profit before tax on a reported and underlying basis are set  
out below. Certain aspects of the profit before tax are presented  
to reflect management’s view of underlying results, to provide  
a clearer representation of the performance of the Group. 

Profit before tax on a reported basis was £212 million (2008: £686 million). underlying 
profit before tax equates to reported profit before tax adjusted for the add back of FsCs 
cost; movements in the value of derivatives and hedge accounting; transformation costs 
and gains on business combinations. underlying profit before tax was £393 million 
(2008: £781 million). the comparative year additionally includes an adjustment for 
policyholder tax and the net impact of disposal of our investment and protection 
subsidiaries to legal and General.

Income Statement Overview

Year to 4 April 2009 As  
reported

FSCS  
costs

Reported 
profit pre 

FSCS costs

Movements 
on derivatives 

and hedge 
accounting

Policyholder 
tax

Transformation 
costs

Gains on 
business 

combinations*

Underlying 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Net interest income 1,758 - 1,758 - - - - 1,758

Other income 516 - 516 - - - (157) 359

Fair value adjustments 10 - 10 (10) - - - -

Total income 2,284 - 2,284 (10) - - (157) 2,117

Administrative expenses 1,252 - 1,252 - - (107) - 1,145

Depreciation and 
amortisation

126 - 126 - - - - 126

Impairment losses on 
loans and advances to 
customers

394 - 394 - - - - 394

Provisions for liabilities 
and charges

249 (241) 8 - - - - 8

Impairment losses on 
investment securities

51 - 51 - - - - 51

Profit before tax 212 241 453 (10) - 107 (157) 393

Year to 4 April 2008 As  
reported

FsCs  
costs

reported 
profit pre 

FsCs costs

Movements 
on derivatives 

and hedge 
accounting

Policyholder 
tax

transformation 
costs

Gains on 
business 

combinations 
/disposal**

underlying 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Net interest income 1,796 - 1,796 - - - - 1,796

Other income 411 - 411 - 15 - (10) 416

Fair value adjustments (31) - (31) 31 - - - -

Total income 2,176 - 2,176 31 15 - (10) 2,212

Administrative expenses 1,168 - 1,168 - - (59) - 1,109

Depreciation and 
amortisation

124 - 124 - - - - 124

Impairment losses on 
loans and advances to 
customers

106 - 106 - - - - 106

Provisions for liabilities 
and charges

(10) - (10) - - - - (10)

Impairment losses on 
investment securities

102 - 102 - - - - 102

Profit before tax 686 - 686 31 15 59 (10) 781

* Gains on business combinations represent the net identifiable assets of the Cheshire and the Dunfermline at the dates of the respective merger and 
acquisition, minus consideration in respect of those transactions. Further detail is given in notes 49 and 50.

** Amounts reported in respect of gains on business combinations/disposals in 2008 related exclusively to the disposal of our investment and 
protection subsidiaries to legal and General.
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We responded prudently to the exceptional 
market conditions during the year by 
significantly increasing our levels of 
liquidity and by ensuring that this 
increased liquidity was concentrated in 
highly liquid securities such as Gilts and 
our Bank of england reserve account. 

the society’s core liquidity ratio at 4 April 
2009 was 12.8% (4 April 2008: 8.9%).  
this increase in liquidity combined with a 
switch into higher grade instruments has 
reduced our net interest margin by around 
4 bps. In addition our net exposure to 
libor-linked assets has reduced significantly 
in the year as borrowers have moved onto 
variable rates and savers onto fixed rates. 
As a result, despite an increase in the 
average bank base rate: libor differential in 
the year, our benefit from this has reduced 
year on year resulting in an approximate  
5bps decline in the net interest margin.

the remaining decline (c10bps) in net 
interest margin is attributable to increased 
costs of funding, including Government 
sponsored funding schemes, and declining 
retail spread. Margins on new lending in 
both the retail and commercial sector have 
widened considerably but with lower levels 
of new business origination have not fully 

offset the progressive impact of repricing 
of both wholesale and retail liabilities.  
the increased propensity of retail 
mortgage borrowers to migrate onto our 
BMr (our standard variable rate) product, 
which is capped at 200 basis points over 
base, at the end of their deal period has 
contributed to this imbalance in the rate at 
which assets and liabilities are repricing.

looking forward we anticipate that our 
margin will continue to trend downwards, 
albeit at a reduced rate, due to the impact 
of the low base rate environment and 
continuing wholesale market disruption. 
Competition for retail funds remains 
intense, and the cost of various Government 
sponsored funding schemes will have an 
increasing impact on our margin.

Other income

Other income represents income earned 
from the sale of insurance and investment 
products together with administration  
and transaction fees not included within 
interest margin. Other income also includes 
dividends on equities held within the 
treasury investment portfolio. 

underlying other income at £359 million 
was £57 million lower than the comparative 
year (2008: £416 million).  

Business Review
continued

Year to  
4 April 2009

£m

Year to 
4 April 2008

£m

Net interest income 1,758 1,796

Weighted average total assets 189,624 160,265

% %

Net interest margin 0.93 1.12

Performance by Income Statement Category

Net interest income, at £1,758 million was marginally lower than the previous year.

Year to  
4 April 2009

£m

Year to 
4 April 2008

£m

Net interest income 1,758 1,796

Other income 359 416

total income 2,117 2,212

expenses 1,271 1,233

Impairment losses on loans and advances 394 106

Impairment losses on investment  
securities and other provisions 59 92

underlying profit before tax 393 781

underlying profit for the year was £393 million (2008: £781 million), demonstrating  
a resilient performance under difficult market conditions. the key drivers of this 
performance are set out below.

A summary Income statement on an underlying basis is as follows:

Underlying Profit 

Underlying profit  
for the year was  

£393 million,
demonstrating a resilient 
performance under  
difficult market conditions

We completed the 
integration of Portman 
ahead of schedule  
and will deliver  
by the end of 2009/10

£78 million,
of cost savings  
per annum

The underlying  
quality of both secured  
and unsecured lending

remains strong
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continued

the sale of our life insurance and unit  
trust businesses in January 2008 
combined with our new distribution 
agreement with legal & General has  
had the effect of reducing both income  
and costs by about £22 million as  
gross income and costs have been replaced 
with a net commission income stream. 

Income from equity shares, which arises 
from a relatively small portfolio and 
naturally exhibits an uneven profile of 
recognition, was £9 million lower than the 
previous year and as a result of current 
market conditions, a loss of £25 million  
has been recognised in the income 
statement in respect of the revaluation  
and sale of the Group’s properties.

the remaining fall in other income reflects 
reduced income from banking in relation  
to unauthorised overdrafts and returned 
items, and reduced fees in respect of 
unsecured personal loans. 

Expenses 

total underlying expenses as reported 
amounted to £1,271 million, representing 
an increase of 3% over the prior year. 
However, adjusting for the additional 
Portman, Cheshire and Derbyshire  
costs and the effect of the sale of our  
life insurance and unit trust businesses 
referred to above, underlying expenses 
have increased by just 1% in the year 
reflecting the continued focus on our  
cost base.

the Portman merger increased the 
underlying cost base since its completion  
in August 2007 and we estimate these 
additional costs to be around £26 million 
relative to last year. In addition the recent 
mergers with the Cheshire and Derbyshire 
have added an extra £22 million to the 
underlying cost base in the current year.

We have completed the integration of 
Portman ahead of schedule and will  
deliver by the end of 2009/10 the  
£78 million of cost savings per annum 
which were planned as part of the overall 

synergies from the Portman transaction. 

Our underlying cost income ratio for the 
year was 60.0% (4 April 2008: 55.7%).  
the pressures on income arising from  
the low interest rate environment and the 
additional costs arising from the mergers, 
before achieving cost synergies which  
we expect to deliver by 2011/12, have 
impacted our ratio. In light of current 
market conditions we are continuing to 
seek ways to contain costs and are taking 
steps to restructure and re-size certain 
areas of the business. 

Impairment losses on loans  
and advances 

the charge for impairment losses on  
loans and advances was significantly  
more than for 2008, driven by increased 
provisions on the secured books. the 
underlying quality of both secured and 
unsecured lending remains strong. Of the 
£280 million charge on secured lending 
£91 million (2008: release of £12 million) 
relates to residential mortgages and  
£189 million (2008: release of £4 million) 
relates to commercial lending. 

the charge on residential primarily  
relates to specialist lending (£87 million)  
as increases in arrears, combined with 
reductions in property valuations, have 
resulted in a requirement for increased 
impairment provisions. the charge on the 
prime book was just £4 million as modest 
arrears and lower average ltV’s have 
acted as a buffer against the impact of 
falling house prices. Deterioration on the 
books has been contained as increases in 
unemployment in the second half of the 
year coincided with the substantial falls  
in interest rates that made repayments 

more affordable and so tended to  
offset the rate of growth in arrears.  
In addition, levels of write off of £8 million 
(specialist £5 million, prime £3 million) 
have remained relatively low. the 
impairment provision has increased by 
223% to £123 million over the year and 
residential provision as a percentage of 
total residential assets increased to 0.10% 
(4 April 2008: 0.03%). Impairment 
provisions as a percentage of originated 
mortgage balances on cases 3 or more 
months in arrears increased to 12.10%  
(4 April 2008: 7.77%). 

In our commercial lending division,  
difficult market conditions resulted in an 
increase in commercial loan defaults, 
particularly over the second half of the year 
where the individual impairment charge 
was £139 million compared with  
£25 million in the first half. the principal 
drivers of the increased provisions in the 
commercial portfolio are covenant 
breaches on ltV’s as a result of substantial 
falls in capital values; reduced tenant 
demand either as a result of tenant failure 
or reduced ability to cure void periods at 
the end of lease terms, and business 
failures on owner occupied properties.

the number of commercial property  
cases in arrears increased significantly  
in the second half of the year from 75  
cases at 30 september 2008 to 179 at  
4 April 2009. Increases in arrears have also 
impacted the collective provision resulting 
in an additional impairment charge of  
£7 million. the overall level of provision for 
Commercial as a percentage of assets at  
4 April 2009 has increased significantly  
to 0.92% (4 April 2008: 0.15%).

the remaining £18 million impairment 
charge relates to a portfolio of european 
commercial loans which are classified as 
‘other’ loans in note 13 on page 72.

the reduction in the charge for unsecured 
lending relates to lower levels of write off 
and delinquent accounts combined with a 
reduction in the provision required against 
the up to date book. Asset quality of our 
unsecured books remains strong reflecting 
our cautious approach and prudence in 
our underwriting. 

Expenses Year to  
4 April 2009

£m

Year to 
4 April 2008

£m

employee costs:

Wages and salaries•	 465 431

social security costs•	 40 34

Pension costs •	 94 100

599 565

Other administrative expenses 546 544

Depreciation and amortisation 126 124

1,271 1,233

Impairment losses on loans and advances Year to  
4 April 2009

£m

Year to 
4 April 2008

£m

secured lending 280 (16)

unsecured lending 114 122

394 106
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Impairment losses on investment 
securities and other provisions 

the extremely difficult market conditions 
led to the well publicised collapse of a 
number of global financial institutions  
in the year. As a result of these failures the 
treasury investments impairment charge 
is £51 million (4 April 2008: £102 million, 
relating exclusively to sIV investments) 
including £34 million in respect of 
Washington Mutual, £3 million in respect 
of lehman Brothers and £12 million  
in respect of our exposure to the  
Icelandic banks. 

Other provisions have been made in 
respect of various customer claims.  
It is expected that the liability will 
predominantly crystallise over the  
next 12-24 months.

Derivatives and hedge accounting 

All derivatives entered into by Nationwide 
are recorded on the balance sheet at fair 
value with any valuation movements 
being taken to the income statement. 
Derivatives are only used to limit the 
extent to which the Group will be affected 
by changes in interest rates, exchange 
rates or other market indices. Derivatives 
are therefore used exclusively to hedge 
risk exposures and are not used for 
speculative purposes.

the £10 million gain (4 April 2008:  
£31 million charge) relating to fair  

value adjustments on derivatives and 
hedge accounting represents the net fair 
value adjustment (after matching it with 
offsetting adjustments in the fair  
valuation of the related hedged items)  
on derivative instruments that are 
matching risk exposures on an economic 
basis. some income statement volatility 
arises on these items due to accounting 
ineffectiveness of designated hedges, or 
because hedge accounting has not been 
adopted or is not achievable on certain 
items. the gain, in so far as it relates to 
ineffectiveness, is primarily due to timing 
differences in cashflows and interest rate 
reset dates between the derivative 
instruments and the hedged assets and 
liabilities. the impact can be volatile, and 
has been markedly so at various points 
during the financial year before stabilising 
at the year end date. However, over time 
the impact will trend to zero and has been 
excluded in reporting the Group’s 
underlying performance.

Policyholder Tax

Prior to the disposal of Nationwide life 

and as a consequence of the requirement 
to consolidate the Group’s life business  
on a line by line basis, the comparative 
income statement includes amounts 
attributable to policyholders which  
affect profit before tax, the most 
significant of which is policyholder tax. 
tax on policyholder investment returns 
was included in the Group’s tax charge 
rather than being offset against the 
related income. In order to provide a 
clearer representation of the performance 
of the Group, the net impact of amounts 
attributable to policyholders have been 
removed from underlying results for the 
comparative period.

Taxation 

the statutory reported tax charge for the 
year is £50 million (2008: £191 million). 
this represents an effective tax rate of 
23.6% (2008: 27.8%), which is lower  
than the statutory rate in the uK of 28%. 
the lower rate is due principally to 
adjustments to amounts provided in 
respect of prior periods.

Business Review
continued

Impairment losses on investment securities  
and other provisions

Year to  
4 April 2009

£m

Year to 
4 April 2008

£m

treasury investments 51 102

Other provisions 8 (10)

59 92

Loans and advances to customers 4 April 2009
£bn

% 4 April 2008
£bn

%

Prime residential mortgages 111.9 72.1 105.5 73.7

specialist residential mortgages 18.2 11.8 14.1 9.9

Total residential mortgages 130.1 83.9 119.6 83.6

Commercial lending 22.4 14.4 20.6 14.4

Consumer finance 2.7 1.7 2.8 2.0

Gross balances 155.2 100.0 143.0 100.0

less: Impairment provisions (0.4) (0.2)

Add: Micro hedge adjustment 0.7 -

Total 155.5 142.8

Balance Sheet

Loans and advances to customers 

lending remains predominantly concentrated on high quality secured products with residential mortgages accounting for 83.9% of our 
total loans and advances to customers, commercial lending 14.4%, and consumer finance 1.7%. the mix of lending has remained broadly 
consistent with that reported at 4 April 2008, with the slightly increased proportion of specialist residential balances attributable largely 
to the acquisition of assets from the Derbyshire and Cheshire mergers.
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Business Review
continued

Residential 
retail residential mortgages are primarily 
Nationwide branded advances made 
through our branch network and 
intermediary channels. In addition, our 
balance sheet includes prime mortgages 
totalling £5.2 billion which were brought 
onto our balance sheet following our 
acquisitions of the Cheshire, Derbyshire 
and Dunfermline portfolios. 

specialist residential mortgages of  
£14.8 billion are advances made through 
our specialist lending brands, the 
Mortgage Works uK plc (tMW) and uCB 
Home loans limited (uCB), and £3.4 
billion arising from the acquisitions of the 
Cheshire, Derbyshire and Dunfermline 
brands. loans were advanced primarily  
in the Buy to let and self-certification 
markets. Buy to let mortgages make up 
62% of total specialist lending, 28% 
relates to self-certification mortgages,  
7% relates to near prime and just 3%, 
amounting to approximately £0.5 billion 
relates to sub prime, of which £0.4 billion 
was acquired as part of the mergers with 
Derbyshire and Cheshire and have been 
subject to rigorous fair value assessment.

As advised at the half year, we expected 
the economic environment to result in 
continued increases in residential arrears 
but we predicted that Nationwide’s 
arrears would be markedly better than 
industry averages. Actual experience  
has confirmed this expectation and  
we anticipate that our favourable  
trend relative to industry average  
will be maintained.

Mortgage assets acquired through 
mergers with Cheshire and Derbyshire 
and the purchase of Dunfermline’s prime 
residential assets have been fair valued  
on a basis which includes an allowance  
of £203 million for anticipated losses over 
the remaining life of the loans. these 
valuations fully reflect market conditions 
at the date of acquisition and it is 
therefore unlikely that these loans will 
contribute any significant further losses  
to the Group. Accordingly in evaluating 
the Group’s exposure to losses, as well  
as the quality of its underwriting process, 
it is relevant to focus on arrears levels 
excluding rather than including the effect 
of acquired assets.

Cases 3 months or more in arrears  
as % of total book 

4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Nationwide self originated mortgages: Year on Year 
movement

Prime 0.44 0.34

specialist 2.45 1.11

Nationwide self originated mortgages 50% 0.60 0.40

Including effect of acquired societies:

Prime 0.46 0.34

specialist 3.72 1.11

Group – including acquired loans 90% 0.76 0.40

Industry average 103% 2.39 1.18

Cases 3 months or more in arrears  
as % of total book (excluding LPA) 

4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Nationwide self originated mortgages:
Year on Year 

movement

Prime 0.44 0.34

specialist 2.15 1.11

Group 43% 0.57 0.40

Industry average 103% 2.39 1.18

the above measures show that the arrears on Nationwide’s overall portfolio are 
significantly lower than industry average and that the rate of increase in Nationwide’s 
arrears excluding the impact of fair valued regional brands assets is also much lower.

An alternative measurement of arrears, which is less sensitive to the effect of the 
significant fall in interest rates experienced in recent months, which reduce monthly 
payments due and hence increase the number of months in arrears for a constant £ value 
of arrears, is to show the number of accounts where arrears exceed more than 2.5% of 
the balance outstanding. Figures based on this measure are given in the following table:

the Nationwide arrears figures above include Buy to let cases where a “receiver of rent” 
has been appointed under the law of Property Act 1925 (as amended) whereas the CMl 
industry average excludes these cases. For comparison, Nationwide’s figures with lPA 
receiver cases excluded are as follows:

Cases with more than 2.5% of 
balance outstanding as % of total 

4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Nationwide self originated mortgages: Year on Year 
movement

Prime 0.42 0.40

specialist 1.28 0.64

Group 17% 0.49 0.42

Industry average 71% 1.85 1.08
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Business Review
continued

Commercial

excluding assets acquired via the  
mergers with Derbyshire and Cheshire, 
our commercial lending portfolio of  
£21.4 billion comprises £13.3 billion 
secured on commercial property 
(‘Property Finance’), £6.9 billion advanced 
to registered social landlords and  
£1.2 billion under the Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI). there are currently no 
arrears of three months or more on  
the registered social landlord or PFI 
portfolios. Our Property Finance  
portfolio is well diversified by industry 
type and by borrower and we have only 
modest exposure to development finance 
with total balances of £99.6 million to  
3 high quality office developments. 

Challenging market conditions have 
resulted in sharp declines in capital values 
on commercial property combined with 

increases in levels of arrears and defaults, 
particularly over the second half of the 
year. there are 179 accounts three months 
or more in arrears at 4 April 2009 (4 April 
2008: 66 accounts, 30 september 2008: 
75 accounts) all of which have been 
individually assessed for impairment. 
robust arrears management is carried  
out by dedicated teams who, supported 
by daily arrears reporting, maintain a 
focus on early intervention to maximise 
economic value and mitigate losses.  
Over the year, the level of provision has 
increased to £194 million (4 April  
2008: £30 million) bringing provision  
as a percentage of assets to 0.92%  
(4 April 2008: 0.15%). 

Commercial mortgage assets totalling  
£1.0 billion of balances acquired through 

mergers with Cheshire and Derbyshire 
have been fair valued in the same way  
as described for residential assets above, 
including an allowance of £179 million  
for anticipated losses over the remaining 
life of the loans. As with residential,  
these loans should not contribute any 
significant losses to the Group for the 
foreseeable future.

We expect difficult market conditions  
to continue into 2009/10 and this will 
inevitably lead to further provisions. 
However, we remain confident that our 
book, which is primarily focused on low 
risk areas, will perform better than most 
and this, combined with proactive 
management, will ensure Commercial 
continues to make a positive long  
term contribution to the Group.

We have continued to focus on affordability and loan to value (ltV) ratios in underwriting loans during the year. the average indexed ltV 
ratio of the Group’s residential loan portfolio is estimated at 52% (4 April 2008: 43%) whilst the average ltV of new residential mortgage 
lending was 58% (4 April 2008: 61%). 

Of the balances shown above with ltV in excess of 100%, only 2% of cases were in arrears at 4 April 2009, amounting to balances of 
approximately £49 million.

Loan to value analysis: 4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Prime
%

Specialist
%

Group
%

Prime
%

specialist
%

Group
%

Total book    

<70% 72 35 69 84 55 82

70% - 80% 8 16 9 7 22 8

80% - 90% 7 20 8 6 20 7

90% - 100% 7 20 8 3 2 3

> 100% 6 9 6 0 1 0

      

Average ltV of stock (indexed) 50 71 52 41 63 43

Average ltV of new business 57 67 58 59 74 61

Possessions as % of total book (cases) 4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Nationwide self originated mortgages:
Year on Year 

movement

Prime 0.021 0.011

specialist 0.500 0.092

Group 241% 0.058 0.017

Industry average 71% 0.226 0.132

Possessions taken in during the year  
as % of total book (cases)

4 April 2009 4 April 2008

Nationwide self originated mortgages:
Year on Year 

movement

Prime 0.04 0.02

specialist 0.50 0.15

Group 133% 0.07 0.03

Industry average 67% 0.40 0.24

Possessions of Nationwide originated 
properties during the year totalled 941 
cases (2008: 400 cases) and represented 
only 2.12% of cases taken in by the 
industry as a whole compared to our par 
share of all cases of 11.90%. the closing 
stock of Group possessions, including 
acquired societies, of 1,248 cases 
represents 0.087% of the total portfolio 
(31 March 2008: 0.017%) compared  
with the industry measure of 0.226%  
(31 March 2008: 0.132%). 

For specialist, the rate of increase in 
possessions taken in (excluding mergers) 
has been more than the average for the 
industry. However, on our specialist owner 
occupied lending, the rate of increase is 
broadly in line with our prime book.
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Business Review
continued

Consumer Finance

In consumer finance, the balance of accounts more than 30 days in arrears has 
remained broadly static and our performance compared to the industry remains 
favourable. For Personal loans and Credit Cards, the table below shows our arrears 
levels are significantly better than averages for the industry (FlA and APACs).

Percentage of accounts more  
than 30 days in arrears

31 March 2009    31 March 2008

NBS
%

Industry
%

NBs
%

Industry
%

Personal loans 7.15 17.00 5.88 11.20 

Credit Card 5.70 8.28 4.50 7.99

Wholesale Funding portfolio mix 4 April 2009
%

4 April 2008
%

repo & Other secured Agreements 25.8 17.8

Deposits 12.4 13.2

Certificates of Deposit 16.6 17.6

Commercial Paper 9.9 8.2

Covered Bonds 17.9 18.7

Medium term Notes 16.1 22.4

Other Non-retail 1.3 2.1

Total 100.0 100.0

the society has well diversified sources of 
funding. Over 70% of funding is provided 
by retail savings, and we attracted a total 
of £1.7 billion of net retail deposits in the 
year, including £0.7 billion from our 
offshore subsidiary, Nationwide 
International limited. these retail 
deposits provided the majority of the 
funding required for our total residential, 
commercial and consumer finance net 
lending in the year of £2.1 billion.

Our strong retail funding base is 
supported by a well diversified wholesale 
funding portfolio. Wholesale funding 

increased to £53.7 billion at 4 April 2009  
(4 April 2008: £50.1 billion) but overall  
the wholesale funding ratio has decreased 
from 31.0% at 4 April 2008 to 28.6%. 
similarly our loan to deposit ratio has 
improved to 112.4% (4 April 2008: 
117.2%). the additional funding has 
primarily been used to strengthen the 
liquidity portfolio. 

the following table analyses the change  
in the makeup of wholesale funding and 
reflects the changes in the marketplace, 
where secured funding (other than for very 
short terms) has become commonplace:

Funding

Our strong retail 
funding base is 
supported by a well 
diversified wholesale 
funding portfolio.

We attracted a total of

£1.7 billion of
net retail deposits
providing the majority  
of the funding required  
for net lending in the year

Nationwide continued its strategic aim of 
diversifying its funding sources with the 
completion of the silverstone Master trust 
securitisation structure. Notes have been 
issued by the silverstone Master Issuer plc 
(securities 2008-1 and 2008-2) to the 
society, either to create collateral for 
funding or for subsequent sale to 
investors outside the Group once fixed 
income markets create opportunities  
for appropriately priced transactions.  
this capability, combined with our 
Covered Bond Programme, which 
successfully achieved regulated Covered 
Bond status from the FsA during the  
year, enables the society to use its 
mortgage portfolios as security in  
support of funding opportunities. 

the society has been successful in 
expanding its secured funding with  
a variety of market counterparties for 
periods from 3 months to 5 years.  
In November we issued £1.5 billion under 
the uK Government’s Credit Guarantee 
scheme, assisting us to maintain the  
ratio of short to long term funding at  
a consistent level of approximately 
67%:33%. 

the society is a Bank of england (Boe) 
reserve account holder and benefits from 
the liquidity provided by the Boe’s market 
operations including through the special 
liquidity scheme (sls).
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Business Review
continued

Treasury Portfolios 

Group treasury assets at 4 April 2009 
were £34.5 billion (4 April 2008: £31.6 
billion). these assets are held in two 
separate portfolios; the liquidity portfolio 
and the investment portfolio. At 4 April 
2009 the liquidity portfolio totalled £31.1 
billion (4 April 2008: £27.3 billion) with 
the investment portfolio totalling £3.4 
billion (4 April 2008: £4.3 billion).

treasury assets, in the majority of cases, 
are valued using market prices or prices 
obtained from counterparties. In cases 
where market prices are not available, 
discounted cash flow valuation models  
are used. 100% of treasury assets are 
categorised as level 1 or 2 using the  
IFrs 7 fair value hierarchy.

Out of a total £34.5 billion of treasury 
assets held in the liquidity and investment 
portfolios, £21.2 billion are held as AFs  
and under IFrs they are marked-to-
market through reserves. the non-AFs 
balances are predominately short term 
loans to financial institutions or deposits 
with the Bank of england. the fair value 
movements of AFs assets, that are not 
impaired, have no effect on the Group’s 
profit for the year or its regulatory capital. 
As at 4 April 2009 the balance on the  
AFs reserve was £2,009 million negative, 
net of tax (4 April 2008: £418 million 
negative). the adjustment in the price  
of these assets is a reflection of the 
turbulence in worldwide markets and 
deteriorating economic conditions and the 
consequent repricing of the cost of credit. 

the assets have been carefully reviewed 
based upon latest performance data and 
no significant additional impairment has 
been booked in the second half of the 
year. We continue to believe that we will 
recover full value for substantially all of 
them on maturity.

In October 2008 the IAsB issued an 
amendment to IAs39 allowing assets  
to be reclassified from AFs to loans  
and receivables. At this time, we have 
elected not to make use of this 
reclassification option. 

the Group holds bonds, with a fair value 
of £63 million, wrapped with additional 
credit enhancement provided by monoline 
insurers and these are included within the 
appropriate portfolios in the following 
tables. As the bonds are traded explicitly 
with the benefit of this enhancement, any 
deterioration in the credit profile of the 
monoline insurer is reflected in the market 
prices and therefore in the carrying 
amount of these securities. £58 million  
of this exposure is to Ambac and the 
remainder to MBIA. Only one bond 
totalling £2 million would need to be 
considered for immediate impairment if 
either MBIA or Ambac were to default.

Cumulative
AFS Reserve
4 April 2009

£bn

Fair Value on 
balance sheet
4 April 2009

£bn

Cumulative
AFs reserve
4 April 2008

£bn

Fair Value on 
balance sheet
4 April 2008

£bn 

Gilts and supranational bonds (0.4) 6.6 - 3.8

residential mortgage backed securities (rMBs) 0.7 2.7 0.2 3.5

Covered bonds and floating rate notes 0.4 7.5 0.1 6.3

Certificates of deposit and commercial paper - 1.0 - 7.6

Liquidity portfolio 0.7 17.8 0.3 21.2

Collateralised debt obligations (CDO) 0.1 0.1 - 0.1

Collateralised loan obligations (ClO) 0.2 0.5 - 0.5

Commercial mortgage backed securities 0.3 0.6 0.1 0.9

Corporate bond portfolio - 0.2 - 0.2

Credit card backed securities 0.1 0.3 - 0.3

Financial institutions including sub debt 0.2 0.6 - 0.6

residential mortgage backed securities (rMBs) 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.3

us student loan 0.3 0.7 0.1 0.7

Other investments 0.1 0.2 - 0.7

Investment Portfolio 1.6 3.4 0.3 4.3

Negative AFS reserve before hedge accounting and taxation 2.3 0.6

AFS Assets 21.2 25.5

Hedge accounting adjustment for interest rate risk 0.5 -

taxation (0.8) (0.2)

Negative AFS reserve 2.0 0.4

Long Term Short Term Subordinated Outlook

standard and Poors A+ A-1 A Negative

Moody’s Aa3 P-1 Baa3 stable

Fitch AA- F1+ A+ stable

Our short and long term credit ratings from the major rating agencies at 
26 May 2009 are as follows:

More information on our management of funding and liquidity risk is included in the risk 
Management and Control section on page 27 of this Business review.
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An impairment loss of £51 million has 
been recognised in the income statement 
as a result of liquidity issues faced by a 
number of counterparties. A loss of  
£34 million has been recognised on a 
senior unsecured exposure to Washington 
Mutual Bank which went into FDIC 
receivership in september 2008 and a 
loss of £3 million was recognised in 
respect of our exposure to lehman 

Brothers which filed for bankruptcy 
protection in september 2008.

We also had exposure to two Icelandic 
banks which went into receivership  
during October 2008 and have raised a 
provision for £12 million. In addition we 
have also raised a full provision against  
the remaining £2 million of our original 
investment in sIVs. 

It is important to place these provisions  
in context. the Group has total assets  
of £202.4 billion and the total treasury 
portfolio is spread across over 500 
institutions and investments. the 
impairment charge of £51 million 
represents only 0.15% of the total  
treasury portfolio of £34.5 billion.

Impairment losses on investment securities

Treasury Liquidity Portfolio

Balance sheet assets held in the liquidity portfolio totalled £31.1 billion as at 4 April 2009 (4 April 2008: £27.3 billion). We have  
continued to increase the quality and liquidity of the assets held, with 48% of the portfolio held in sovereign exposure and over  
99% of our liquidity portfolio rated A or better with 78% rated AA or above. 

the following table shows an analysis of the on balance sheet liquidity portfolio at 4 April 2009:

ratings are obtained from standard and Poors in the majority of cases, from Moody’s if there is no standard and Poors rating available, 
and internal ratings are used if neither is available. 

the residual weighted average life of the loans to financial institutions, floating rate notes and certificates of deposit and commercial 
paper referred to above are 9 days, 30 months and 15 days respectively.

Liquidity Portfolio 4 April 
2009

£bn

AAA
%

AA
%

A
%

BBB
%

uK
%

us
%

europe
%

Other  
%

4 April 
2008

£bn

Bank of england 8.2 100 - - - 100 - - - 3.3

loans to financial institutions 4.7 - 48 52 - 89 - 1 10 2.3

Other (including items in 
transit and clearing accounts)

0.4 - - - - 100 - - - 0.5

Non AFS Assets 13.3 6.1

Gilts 4.7 100 - - - 100 - - - 3.3

supranational bonds 1.9 100 - - - - 5 95 - 0.5

residential mortgage backed 
securities (rMBs)

2.7 99 1 - - 40 - 53 7 3.5

Covered bonds 0.9 86 14 - - - 3 91 6 0.8

Floating rate notes 6.6 23 23 52 2 34 2 54 10 5.5

Certificates of deposit and 
commercial paper

1.0 - 25 75 - 100 - - - 7.6

AFS Assets 17.8 21.2

Total liquidity portfolio 31.1 64 14 22 - 70 1 25 4 27.3



Nationwide 2009 Annual Report and Accounts18

Business Review
continued

Treasury Investment Portfolio

the treasury investment portfolio was established to generate additional income for the Group. At 4 April 2009, the investment portfolio 
totalled £3.4 billion (4 April 2008: £4.3 billion). Over 97% of the investment portfolio is rated A or better with over 76% rated AA or 
better. In light of current market conditions we have not sought to expand the portfolio and we manage the existing portfolio to minimise 
potential risk. 

the following table shows an analysis of the investment portfolio at 4 April 2009:

the main reasons for the reduction in the 
investment portfolio during the period  
were the maturity in April 2008 of a deep 
discounted corporate bond with a notional 
value of £380 million, reduction in asset 
values and paydowns in Asset Backed 
securities. this was partially offset with  
the assets acquired from the mergers with 
Derbyshire and Cheshire building societies.

An independent monthly review is 
undertaken by risk Management Division  
on the current and expected future 
performance of all treasury assets.  
A governance structure exists to identify  
and review under performing assets and 
highlight the likelihood of future losses.  
In accordance with accounting standards, 
assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that current events and/or 
performance trends will result in a loss.

(i)  the CDO exposure of £61 million is  
made up of four investments. two are 
backed by us Prime rMBs (80%), one 
CDO of us ABs was purchased as part of 
a sIV restructure (4%) and we own one 
us trust Preferred CDO (16%). there is 
no direct exposure to commercial real 
estate CDOs or synthetic CDOs.

(ii)  ClOs comprise £472 million of AAA 
rated assets. Although corporate default 
rates continue to rise, our senior 
positions in these structures and our 
focus on selection of strong managers is 
anticipated to provide some protection 
from future downward rating migration.

(iii)  93% of the CMBs portfolio is AAA and  
is exposed to established commercial 
real estate markets with the bulk of our 
holdings in the uK and Germany. 
underlying collateral consists of office, 
retail, industrial and warehouse 
exposures with experienced sponsors 
supporting the underlying loans.  
the CMBs portfolio includes limited 
exposure to leisure markets. 

(iv)  the £188 million corporate bond 
portfolio includes £149 million of assets 
where the credit risk has been fully 
hedged by entering into credit default 
swaps (CDs) with a european financial 
institution (rated by s&P, Moody’s and 
Fitch as A+, Aa1 and AA-respectively). 

(v)  the credit card portfolio is 97%  
AAA rated and is performing in line  
with expectations. 

(vi)  Of the £553 million held from financial 
institutions, £352 million is classified  
as subordinated debt, of which 
approximately 84% is from uK or 
european issuers.

(vii)  the other corporate bonds of  
£19 million are whole business 
securitisations. Although these benefit 
from monoline insurance wraps from 
either Ambac or MBIA, we anticipate  
full repayment without any assistance 
from the wrap providers.

(viii) Our total investment holdings in rMBs 
are £229 million. Our total us exposure 
within this portfolio is £89 million of 
which £66 million is rated AAA. the us 
exposure is made up of £35 million 
Prime First lien and £54 million Alt A. 
the combined average FICO score at 
origination was 717 and the average  
ltV was 76%. there are two us Alt A 
holdings totalling £17 million which  
due to deteriorating economic 
conditions have migrated from AAA to 
BB (£6 million) and B (£11 million). the 
remaining exposure below AAA is to well 
established uK and european issuers. 

Investment Portfolio
(All AFS Assets)

4 April 
2009

£bn

AAA
%

AA
%

A
%

Other
%

uK
%

us
%

europe
%

Other  
%

4 April 
2008

£bn

(i) Collateralised debt 
obligations (CDO) 0.1 5 - - 95 - 100 - - 0.1

(ii) Collateralised loan 
obligations (ClO) 0.5 100 - - - 26 70 4 - 0.5

(iii) Commercial mortgage 
backed securities 0.6 93 6 1 - 50 11 39 - 0.9

(iv) Corporate bond portfolio 0.2 13 7 80 - 17 16 67 - 0.2

(v) Credit card backed 
securities 0.3 97 3 - - 47 53 - - 0.3

(vi) Financial institutions 
including subordinated debt 0.6 - 26 69 5 22 35 36 7 0.6

(vii) Other corporate bonds - - 46 54 - 100 - - - 0.4

(viii) residential mortgage 
backed securities (rMBs) 0.2 54 22 17 7 55 39 6 - 0.3

(ix) us student loan 0.7 98 1 1 - - 100 - - 0.7

(x) Other investments 0.2 30 30 37 3 17 45 35 3 0.3

Total 3.4 65 11 21 3 27 52 19 2 4.3

ratings are obtained from standard and Poors in the majority of cases, from Moody’s if there is no standard and Poors rating available, 
and internal ratings are used if neither is available.
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(ix)  the us student loan portfolio  
comprises 71% FFelP (Federal  
Family education loan Programme) 
originated loans which are 98% 
guaranteed by the us Government,  
and 29% Alternative student loans. 
98% of the student loan exposure  
is AAA rated and there has been  
only one holding downgraded since 
initial purchase. 

(x) Included within other investments 
category are £66 million of unrated 
coupon strips, underpinned by A  
or above rated financial institutions,  
£51 million of lease receivables of 
which 92% are AAA rated, £28 million 
of AAA rated other european 
consumer finance loans, £25 million  
of auto finance ABs of which 92% is 
AAA rated, and £32 million structured 
notes issued by funding vehicles, of 
which 79% are AA rated insurance 
companies and 21% A.

Notes
(1)  Permanent interest bearing shares and subordinated debt include any fair value adjustments arising from 

micro hedging and adjustments for unamortised premiums and discounts that are included in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

(2)  the regulatory capital rules allow the pension fund deficit to be added back to regulatory capital  
and a deduction taken instead for an estimate of the additional contributions to be made in the next  
5 years, less associated deferred tax.

(3)  Intangible assets do not qualify as capital for regulatory purposes.
(4)  Certain deductions from capital are required to be allocated, 50% to tier 1 and 50% to tier 2 capital. 

Deductions are subject to different treatment under IrB in respect of net expected loss over accounting 
provisions and certain securitisation positions. these are calculated in accordance with FsA guidance.

(5)  the measurement of risk Weighted Assets differs significantly under IrB and so the stated figures  
for 4 April 2008 are not directly comparable with those for 4 April 2009. the Basel II Pillar 1 capital 
requirements are calculated using the retail IrB approach for prime mortgages and unsecured lending; 
Foundation IrB for treasury portfolios (excluding corporates); and the standardised approach for all other 
credit risk exposures.

(6)  Calculated as relevant capital divided by risk Weighted Assets. Core tier 1 relates to tier 1 capital 
excluding permanent interest bearing shares.

4 April 2009
Basel II

IRB
£m

4 April 2008
Basel II

standardised
£m

Tier 1

General reserve 6,234 6,303

Permanent interest bearing shares (Note 1) 1,526 1,245

Pension fund net deficit add back (Note 2) 167 19

Intangible assets (Note 3) (211) (137)

Deductions from tier 1 capital (Note 4) (186) (6)

7,530 7,424

Tier 2

revaluation reserve 69 121

subordinated debt (Note 1) 2,233 1,743

Collective impairment allowance 60 192

Deductions from tier 2 capital (Note 4) (186) (6)

2,176 2,050

Total capital 9,706 9,474

Risk weighted assets – Pillar 1 (Note 5)

retail mortgages 13,559 43,836

Commercial loans 18,751 17,306

treasury 9,065 7,891

Other 4,702 3,604

Market risk 37 39

Operational risk 3,704 3,962

49,818 76,638

Key capital ratios:

total capital 9,706 9,474

Core tier 1 (%) (Note 6) 12.1 8.1

tier 1 ratio (%) (Note 6) 15.1 9.7

total capital (%) (Note 6) 19.5 12.4

tier 2 to tier 1 ratio (%) 28.9 27.6

Capital is held by the Group to protect  
its depositors, to cover its inherent risks, 
to provide a cushion for unexpected 
losses, and to support the development  
of the business. In assessing the adequacy  
of its capital resources, the Group 
considers its risk appetite, the material 
risks to which the Group is exposed and 
the appropriate management strategies 
required to manage those risks. Additional 
information on our capital management 
processes is included in the risk 
Management and Control section  
of this Business review. 

the Group is required to manage its 
capital in accordance with prudential  
rules issued by its regulator, the Financial 
services Authority (FsA). since 1 January 
2008, and throughout the financial year, 
the Group has complied with these rules 
which implement the eu Capital 
requirements Directive (Basel II). 

As at 4 April 2008 the Group calculated 
its capital requirement on a standardised 
basis. the Group’s Internal ratings Based 
(IrB) Waiver Application was approved  
by the FsA in May 2008, with subsequent 
confirmation from the FsA that 
Nationwide has cleared the conditions 
required to use its IrB models to calculate 
capital requirements. As at 4 April 2009 
capital requirements are calculated on this 
IrB basis. the Group has also received 
Individual Capital Guidance (ICG) based  
on IrB approaches.

Capital Structure

the following table shows the Group 
capital position as at 4 April 2009 on the 
IrB basis. Figures for 2009 are for the 
enlarged Group which includes the 
acquisitions of Derbyshire and Cheshire 
building societies and core parts of the 
Dunfermline building society. the 
acquisitions and transition to IrB have 
resulted in some changes to the capital 
composition for the enlarged Group. 

Figures for 2008 show the Nationwide 
Group prior to the mergers and acquisition 
and are on a standardised basis only. 

As at 4 April 2009, regulatory capital  
stood at £9.7 billion (2008: £9.5 billion) 
with the Group’s total solvency ratio 
remaining strong at 19.5% (2008: 12.4%). 
the Core tier 1 solvency ratio stood at  
12.1% (2008: 8.1%). 
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the Group operates Final salary, Career 
Average revalued earnings (CAre)  
defined benefit and defined contribution 
pension arrangements.

the total net retirement benefit liability 
measured under IAs 19, including the 
Nationwide Pension Fund, the former 
Portman Building society arrangements  
and the Derbyshire and Cheshire schemes  
is £331 million (4 April 2008: £40 million). 
the increase reflects falls in the values  
of the funds’ assets, partly offset by 
reductions in the IAs 19 liabilities.  
the Group has not taken over the  
defined benefit arrangements of the 
Dunfermline Building society.

We have been actively managing the 
retirement benefit liability and have taken  
a number of steps to contain and reduce 
the deficit over the last few years:

Final salary arrangements closed to  •	
new members in 2001 and CAre 
arrangements closed in 2007;

employee contributions (for Nationwide •	
final salary arrangements) increased  
from 5% to 7%;

special contributions of £200 million •	
paid in the period 2005/06 - 2007/08; 
and

All the trustee boards continue to  •	
work closely with their advisors to 
optimise the investment strategy for  
the schemes’ assets.

We will continue to review our options  
to manage the pension schemes in a 
responsible way. Following the full 
triennial valuation of the Nationwide 
Pension Fund as at 31 March 2007  
a plan has been developed to clear the 
deficit by 2013. 

Pension Fund (Retirement 
Benefit Obligations)

Performance by Business Stream

Year to 4 April 2009
Underlying

£m

Year to 4 April 2008
underlying

£m

retail 189 264

Commercial and specialist lending 18 269

Group 186 248

Total contribution before tax 393 781

Retail 

Prime residential mortgage lending;•	
Consumer Finance;•	
retail funding;•	
Insurance and Investments;•	
Distribution channels supporting these •	
product divisions.

Commercial and Specialist Lending

Commercial lending;•	
specialist residential mortgage lending.•	

Group 

treasury group operations and income •	
generation activities;
Capital;•	
Items classified as being non-•	
attributable to our core business areas.

the contribution to underlying profit 
before tax against underlying 
comparatives by each of these business 
streams is set out in the table below:

Nationwide classifies its business streams as follows: 

Retail Business Stream

Year to 4 April 2009
Underlying

£m

Year to 4 April 2008
underlying

£m

total income 1,453 1,462

expenses 1,138 1,098

Impairment and other provisions 126 100

Contribution from Retail 189 264

the overall contribution from the retail 
business stream decreased by 28% to £189 
million in the year (2008: £264 million).

total income was broadly flat with growth 
in the business following the mergers with 
Portman, Derbyshire and Cheshire, being 
offset by a reduction in the net interest 
margin arising from the low interest rate 

environment and increased retail funding 
costs. Over the same period expenses  
have grown by 4% reflecting the growth  
in the business.

Impairment and other provisions increased 
by 26% to £126 million as a result of an 
increase in the secured provision charge.

During the year  
we launched our
Nationwide
Homeowner
Mortgage Charter

We opened

486,000 new  
current accounts
in the year and the  
total number of accounts 
is now just under
4.8 million
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Prime residential mortgage lending

the difficult economic conditions  
combined with falling house prices and  
lack of consumer confidence have led  
to a significant reduction in the size of the 
uK housing and mortgage market in the 
year. total uK net mortgage lending fell  
by almost 80% to £19.4 billion compared 
to £94.1 billion a year ago. In spite of the 
significant contraction, we have 
continued to trade in a manner that 
demonstrates our commitment to the 
market and the strength of our mortgage 
franchise, whilst at the same time giving 
added support to our members. 

During the year we launched our 
Nationwide Homeowner Mortgage 
Charter, which sets out our promise to 
work with our customers experiencing 
temporary financial difficulties to ensure 
all options are explored to keep them in 
their homes. Our gross mortgage lending 
was £16.7 billion (2008: £23.1 billion), 
whilst net lending was £0.9 billion  
(2008: £4.9 billion).

During the year we widened our product 
range to allow more customers the 
flexibility to build up overpayment 
reserves and those on tracker products to 
switch to a fixed rate product at any time. 
We introduced a new on-line facility 
enabling customers at the end of their 
deal to switch to a new product and are 
on schedule to deliver the first phase of 
our new flexible mortgage platform which  
will improve product functionality and 
operational efficiency.

Consumer Finance

Whilst Consumer Finance products are an 
important source of income, our market 
shares have historically been low. this 
provides us with an opportunity going 
forward to increase our sales and market 
share and generate further income for  
the Group.

the society’s current account, 
FlexAccount, is the key product in 
developing and retaining lasting customer 
relationships and we have been 
promoting our Account transfer service 
to customers in order for them to realise 
the full benefits of the account. the low 
base rate environment has provided  
a challenge and measures have been 
taken during the year to ensure the 
sustainability of the product. Credit and 
debit interest rates have been amended 

to maintain the margin and some costs 
charged by VIsA for foreign transactions 
have been passed on to customers as 
appropriate. We opened 486,000 new 
current accounts in the year and the total 
number of accounts is now just under  
4.8 million.

total uK credit card gross lending was 
down 1% in the year. Against this 
background, we have seen a growth in 
lending, with gross lending up 10% to  
£3.3 billion, representing a market share  
of just over 2.5%. Card activation rates 
have remained strong and in February 
2009 the society retained the award for 
‘Most responsible Credit Card lending 
Practices’ at the Card Awards 2009. the 
society has reaffirmed its commitment to, 
and encourages the adoption of a positive 
order of payments by the credit card 
industry, especially in the current  
financial climate.

We continue to adopt a prudent approach 
to unsecured lending with credit scoring, 
affordability and indebtedness rules used 
as part of our assessment of whether to 
lend or not. lending criteria has been 
further tightened during the year and in 
December 2008 we adopted risk based 
pricing along with a highly competitive 
rate. this has resulted in us attracting 
incremental high credit quality business.

Retail funding

Whilst the current economic conditions 
have created uncertainty for savers 
seeking a safe haven for their capital,  
the low interest rate environment has 
prompted consumers to become more 
active in seeking the best return for their 
money. Overall the savings market has 
experienced a marked slowdown in the 
year. the total change in uK Household 
savings balances, including interest 
capitalised and accrued, was an increase 
of £45 billion, compared to £78 billion  
in the previous year.

retail savings continue to represent our 
primary source of funding and new 
products to enhance our savings range 
have been launched throughout the year. 
All ex-Portman savings accounts have now 
been successfully migrated to Nationwide 
systems which will improve efficiency and 
functionality for those members. 

Insurance & Investments 

Our General Insurance performance has 
been driven by continued strong sales  

of buildings and contents cover to our 
new and existing mortgage customers  
as well as growth of our standalone  
home insurance sales through our  
direct channels. 

the primary general insurance products 
offered by the Group are buildings and 
contents, payment protection, motor and 
travel insurances. this year we linked  
with liverpool Victoria to provide our 
customers with access to leading car, 
travel, commercial and Buy to let 
insurance products. We use leading 
insurers as third-party underwriters  
to carry the risks involved in insurance.  
the commissions and profit shares  
we receive from these insurers are an 
important source of non-margin income 
for the Group.

Our life and Investment products are 
predominately produced by legal and 
General and we are now into our second 
year of working with them. this is proving 
very productive and reinforces the 
decision we took to sell our life and unit 
trust Companies to them in early 2008. 
total Protection and Investment sales  
in the year were on a par with 2008 
volumes and the second half of the year 
saw 10% growth.

the Investment market has proved 
challenging with significant falls and 
volatility in the Ftse. However, sales of 
Guaranteed equity Bonds (GeBs) have 
performed strongly, with sales increasing 
by 74% on 2008. since september 2008, 
monies invested in GeBs have been held 
by our treasury team and this has 
become a valuable source of medium-
term funding for the society. 

Pricing benefit

Pricing benefit is the value that 
Nationwide estimates that it distributes  
to its members in the form of favourable 
product pricing (including interest rates, 
fees and charges) compared with our 
competitors. During the year ended  
4 April 2009 we estimate that we 
generated pricing benefit of 
approximately £680 million by offering 
better rates and by charging lower fees  
and charges than our competitors. 

Distribution channels 

Performance across all distribution 
channels has held up well during the year, 
with sales activity up 12% in comparison 
with last year and against a more 
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challenging economic back drop. 
Customer satisfaction across all channels 
remains broadly stable.

significant investment continues in all 
channels, underpinning Nationwide’s 
commitment to its retail customers.  
New premises have been acquired in 
leeds, Bristol, Portsmouth and 
Cheltenham along with work on 115 
branches to enhance capacity or maintain 
the quality of our brand on the high street 
since April 2008. the society continually 
assesses its network to ensure its shape 
reflects the needs of its members. As a 

result eight branches were closed this  
year where local member usage failed to 
justify and warrant the ongoing cost of 
maintaining a branch presence.

During the year we moved our swindon  
call centre to a purpose built office in west 
swindon to expand our telephone service 
capacity. We have also invested heavily in 
upgrading our telephone system to deliver 
improved service levels for our members.

the Internet Bank has performed 
particularly strongly with sales up 29% 
over the previous year, whilst internet 
banking activity is up 36%. Nationwide 

continues to develop its internet offering 
launching a new on-line Mortgage 
switcher process in August. this allowed 
3,861 customers to transfer into a new 
mortgage deal quickly and simply. security 
of customers’ on-line transactions has also 
been increased through the deployment  
of industry leading remote card 
authentication to prevent internet fraud, 
resulting in a reduction of 84%. 
Nationwide was also awarded ‘Best  
Overall Online Provider’ from the Your 
Money Direct Awards for 2008. 

Commercial and  
Specialist Lending 
Contribution from the Commercial and 
specialist business stream reduced by 
93% to £18 million as a result of a 
significant rise in impairment charges,  
and represents 5% of the Group’s total 
underlying profit.

Income rose by 8% in the year reflecting 
the growth in the specialist lending 
business following the mergers with 
Portman, Derbyshire and Cheshire.

Despite the growth in the business, 
expenses fell 5% in the year as a result  
of cost focused restructure programmes.
Impairment and other provisions 
increased significantly in the year to  
£276 million reflecting the difficult  
market conditions.

Commercial lending

uK commercial property values have  
been falling since June 2007 and are now  
approximately 40% below their peak.  
this market has traditionally relied on 
debt-financing but the banking crisis has 
led to reduced flows to the sector, limiting 
activity and depressing capital values.  
the collapse of lehman Brothers in 
september 2008 was a further blow to 
confidence and the onset of the global 
economic downturn has increased the 
likelihood of tenant failure, depressing 
rental growth and borrower income.

Having begun the year with tightened 
lending criteria and reduced volume 
targets, further lending restrictions  
were introduced as the downturn in 
commercial property gathered pace. In 
addition to a cautious approach to lending 
the Division undertook a cost focused 
restructure programme and strengthened 

arrears management teams. All new 
lending has been in lower risk sectors on  
a very selective basis to take advantage  
of widening margins.

the commercial loan book grew to  
£22.4 billion (4 April 2008: £20.6 billion) 
mainly due to the inclusion of balances  
of £0.6 billion from the Cheshire Building 
society and £0.4 billion from the 
Derbyshire Building society. loans to  
social housing providers increased to  
£7.2 billion (4 April 2008: £6.3 billion), 
government sponsored Private Finance 
Initiatives to £1.2 billion (4 April 2008:  
£1.1 billion) and exposure to investment 
property increased to £13.7 billion (4 April 
2008: £12.9 billion). the remaining  
£0.3 billion (4 April 2008: £0.3 billion) 
relates to a portfolio of european 
leveraged loans managed by a leading 
european ClO manager. 

Specialist residential  
mortgage lending

the specialist lending market has 
contracted significantly in the year with  
the CMl highlighting both a reluctance  
in landlords to expand their existing 
portfolios and a reduction in new 
landlords entering the market. For our 
specialist lending division, the decline of 
the specialist lending market has been 
more than offset by the reduction in 

competitor activity, caused by the 
substantial withdrawals and closures  
of major lenders within the sector. 

During the year we have concentrated  
on delivering value to our members  
rather than seeking to expand market 
share. Changes to our lending policy  
and underwriting criteria have ensured  
a selective presence in our chosen  
markets and new business margins  
have significantly increased. 

At 4 April 2009, the total specialist 
mortgage book was £18.2 billion  
(2008: £14.1 billion). Of the £4.1 billion 
increase in balance, £3.4 billion is due to 
the mergers with Cheshire and Derbyshire 
and the acquisition of Dunfermline. the 
Mortgage Works (tMW) is the only active 
specialist lending brand for Nationwide, 
following the closure to new lending of 
uCB in October 2008, and the closure of 
Cheshire, Derbyshire and Dunfermline  
at the date of acquisition. there are no 
proposals to reopen these portfolios.

As anticipated, specialist lending  
arrears have increased, as explained  
on page 13. Our focus continues to  
be on the management of arrears and 
respective losses and product level 
comparison to industry arrears 
benchmarks shows that all portfolios 
exhibit favourable performance.

Year to 4 April 2009
Underlying

£m

Year to 4 April 2008
underlying

£m

total income 364 338

expenses 70 74

Impairment and other provisions 276 (5)

Contribution from Commercial  
and Specialist Lending

18 269
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Contribution from the Group business 
stream fell 25% to £186 million.  
the majority of this fall was due to the 
increased cost of holding higher grade 
liquidity combined with a reduction in  
the benefit accruing from the base: libor 
differential. this has been partly offset  
by a reduction in treasury provisions. 

the current year impairment charge  
of £51 million relates to impairment  
losses on investment securities. More 
information is provided on page 12.  
the £103 million charge in the  
prior year primarily relates to an  
impairment provision on structured 
Investment Vehicles.

Nationwide was awarded  
‘Best Overall 
Online Provider’ 
from the Your Money Direct 
Awards for 2008. 

The Internet Bank  
has performed  
particularly strongly with 
sales up 29%  
over the  
previous year

Year to 4 April 2009
Underlying

£m

Year to 4 April 2008
underlying

£m

total income 300 412

expenses 63 61

Impairment and other provisions 51 103

Contribution from Group 186 248

Group Business Stream

Overview

Nationwide seeks to manage 
appropriately all the risks that arise from 
its activities. the principal risks inherent 
within our business are credit risk, 
liquidity and funding risk, market risk,  
and operational risk.

there is a formal structure for monitoring 
and managing risks across the Group 
comprising a risk appetite agreed by  
the Board, detailed risk management 
policies, and independent governance  
and oversight of risk.

the Board has agreed statements of  
risk appetite within which it requires  
the business activities of the Group  
to be conducted. these overarching  
parameters are reflected in the key 
processes of corporate management  
which the Board oversees:

corporate planning, strategy and •	
performance review;

capital planning; and•	

risk management for the Group.•	

Detailed risk management policies 
document our approach to the 
management and appetite of specific  
risks. these policies, including associated 
limits, are owned by a hierarchy of risk 
management committees which report  
to the executive Directors’ Committee  
and the Board. Policies are reviewed 
annually and are also subject to  
continuous monitoring.

risk governance is provided by a structure 
comprising seven key risk management 

committees. each committee includes 
appropriate representation from  
amongst our executive and divisional 
directors as well as from our risk 
Management Division:

Group risk Committee (GrC), which  •	
has responsibility for ensuring a 
co-ordinated approach across all risks 
and oversight of the risk committees 
listed below. A non executive director 
attends GrC meetings;

retail Credit Committee, which has •	
responsibility for retail credit risks;

Commercial & treasury Credit •	
Committee, which has responsibility  
for non-retail credit risks;

Assets and liabilities Committee (AlCO), •	
which has responsibility for market and 
liquidity risks. A non executive director 
attends AlCO meetings;

Operational risk Committee, which has •	
responsibility for operational risk; 

treating Customers Fairly Committee, •	
which has responsibility for policies  
and procedures to ensure the fair 
treatment of customers; and 

Compliance Committee, which has •	
responsibility for compliance, standards, 
policies and issues for the Group.

the Group operates with clear 
independence of responsibilities for risk 
governance and oversight in accordance 
with best practice within the industry. 
Primary responsibility for managing risk 
and ensuring controls are put in place lies 
with the business units themselves. 

Risk Management and Control

Significant investment 
continues including  
new premises acquired  
in Leeds, Bristol, Portsmouth  
and Cheltenham
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Board

Executive Directors’
Committee (EDC)

Group Risk  
Committee (GRC)

Commercial & Treasury 
Credit Committee (CTCC) ALCO

Operational Risk
Committee (ORC)

Retail Credit 
Committee (RCC)

Audit Committee

Treating Customers  
Fairly Committee

Compliance  
Committee

Chair: Geoffrey Howe (Chairman)
Approves overall risk Appetite, Group risk Management •	
Policy and monitors Key Policy limits
Approves liquidity risk Management Policy•	
Approved Individual Capital Assessment (ICA)  •	
and Corporate Plan.

Chair: Graham Beale (Chief executive)
Monitors the Group’s overall risk profile and •	
business stream capital allocations.

Chair: Graham Beale (Chief executive)
Monitors risk profile against policy limits and •	
assesses effectiveness of policies and processes
Assesses the impact of stress testing•	
reviews impact of business proposals on  •	
risk Appetite and capital.

Chair: Derek ross (Non executive Director)
reviews the internal control  •	
and risk management systems.

Chair: Director, risk Management
Agrees and monitors credit  •	
risk policies
Monitors product and portfolio •	
performance against policy limits 
and risk Appetite.

Chair: Director, risk Management
Agrees and monitors credit  •	
risk policies
Monitors product and portfolio •	
performance against policy limits 
and risk Appetite.

Chair: Group Finance Director
Agrees and monitors liquidity, •	
funding and market risk policies
Monitors liquidity, funding and •	
market risk performance against 
limits and risk Appetite
Agrees ICA and management •	
and structure of capital.

Chair: Group Operations Director
Agrees and monitors operational •	
risk policies
Monitors operational risk •	
performance against limits and 
risk Appetite tolerances.

Chair: Group Finance Director
Monitors “Conduct of business” •	
compliance standards, policies 
and issues within the Group for 
product areas, distribution 
channels, anti-money laundering 
and counter-terrorist financing.

Chair: Group Development Director
Maintains a framework of policies •	
and procedures designed to ensure 
fair treatment of customers in 
respect of all Group retail financial 
products and services.

Governance Structure at Group Level
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the principal risks to which the Group is 
exposed are credit risks, market risks, 
funding and liquidity risks and operational 
risks. Oversight for these risks is provided 
by specialist functions within our risk 
Management Division which are 
independent of the business units for  
the following risks:

retail Credit risk;•	

Commercial & treasury Credit risk;•	

Market, liquidity & Funding risk; and•	

Operational risk.•	

the role of these functions is to maintain 
and review risk management policies, 
establish limits that are consistent with 
the Board’s risk appetite, monitor and 
report on compliance with those limits, 
and to provide an oversight role in relation  
to the management of risk including 
concentrations where appropriate. 

A further specialist risk function focuses  
on capital planning and stress testing, 
policy, risk appetite, and associated 
analysis and reporting for the Group.

Other risks may also affect the Group, 
including business risk, people risk, 
financial crime risk, regulatory compliance 
risk, legal risk and tax risk. Certain of 
these are managed within the operational 
risk framework and are detailed in that 
section, with business risk and tax risk 
covered separately. Our insurance 
products are provided by a third party; 
the Group is not therefore exposed to 
insurance underwriting risks.

Group Internal Audit provides 
independent assurance regarding the 
activities of business units and the 
specialist risk functions within risk 
Management Division. Information  
about the role of the Audit Committee  
can be found in the Corporate  
Governance section of this report. 

Further detail of risk exposures will be 
available in our Pillar 3 Disclosures in  
July 2009 on our website:
www.nationwide.co.uk/about_
nationwide/results_and_accounts/

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a 
borrower or counterparty fails to pay  
the interest or to repay the capital on a 
loan. Credit risk arises from residential 
mortgages, unsecured lending, 
commercial lending, liquid and other 
investments, and derivatives held by  
our treasury Division.

Market background

the key drivers of credit risk for residential 
mortgages and unsecured lending include 
the recession in the uK economy leading 
to higher unemployment, deterioration  
in household finances and further 
contraction in the uK housing market  
with house price deflation. the extent  
of further economic slowdown, its  
impact upon arrears performance and 
falls in house prices affect the level of 
impairment losses.

For commercial lending, the most 
significant area of exposure is in respect  
of our property finance portfolio. We 
principally assess counterparties on the 
strength of tenant cash flows rather than 
the value of collateral. A failure of these 
borrowers to operate successfully through 
the economic cycle due to tenant failures, 
increased void periods, declines in rental 
income or for any other reason, combined 
with reduced collateral values, would  
lead to increased impairment losses.

Wholesale credit markets remain  
volatile and dislocated. Any worsening  
in conditions could lead to further mark  
to market adjustments in the Group’s 
portfolio of Available for sale assets and, 
potentially, impairment in respect of both 
our liquidity and investment portfolios.

Risk management response

Comprehensive credit risk management 
methods and processes are established  
as part of the Group’s overall governance 
framework to measure, mitigate and 
manage credit risk within its risk appetite. 
As a mutual, the Group maintains a low 
risk appetite evidenced by the quality of 
our balance sheet which is documented  
in the Balance sheet section of the 
Business review. However, as we are 
exposed to the mortgage sector we have 
suffered some deterioration and would 
expect this to continue until the economic 
environment improves. Credit risk 
portfolios are managed within 
concentration limits and are subjected  
to stress testing and scenario analysis  

to simulate outcomes and calculate  
their associated impact. 

a) Retail credit risks

retail credit risk is managed using 
automated decision systems that are 
provided centrally by the retail Credit  
risk function in risk Management 
Division. the decision systems 
differentiate between credit risks for 
residential mortgage loans and other 
consumer products and services. An 
underwriting unit also considers those 
applications for society mortgages and 
unsecured loans which require individual 
underwriting. underwriting for specialist 
mortgages is carried out within the 
relevant subsidiaries with oversight 
provided by risk Management Division. 
All risk management policy and limits in 
respect of retail credit risk are maintained 
by the retail Credit risk function and 
owned by the retail Credit Committee. 
this committee receives regular reports 
from retail Credit risk about the 
performance of all retail credit portfolios. 

In respect of our residential mortgage 
businesses, the focus remains on the 
quality of the business we write. We will 
continue to monitor applicant quality 
closely, defined in terms of credit, loan  
to value and affordability profile. In the 
light of current market conditions, we 
have significantly tightened lending 
criteria (particularly with respect to high 
loan to value lending) and we will continue 
to keep this under review. similarly, we 
have also significantly tightened lending 
criteria for specialist mortgage lending. 
We remain cautious on unsecured retail 
lending, given the current stage of the 
economic cycle, and will continue to 
prioritise quality of lending ahead of 
volume targets in these portfolios.

the Group’s collections and recoveries 
functions aim to provide a responsive  
and effective operation for the end to  
end arrears management process.  
this encompasses an early two-way 
communication with borrowers,  
obtaining their commitment to maintain 
payment obligations and re-establishing  
a regular payment habit. Activity 
encompasses a multitude of functions, 
including, but not limited to: establishing 
repayment plans, including appropriate 
forbearance, managing Individual 
Voluntary Arrangements (IVAs), deploying 
debt sale programmes, through to  
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exiting of customers’ relationships by 
taking possession and selling mortgaged 
properties, and ultimately the closure of 
customers’ accounts. experience in these 
areas allows for continual feedback into  
the underwriting process across the  
overall credit lifecycle covering origination, 
account management and recovery.

Nationwide participates in the 
Government’s Mortgage rescue scheme, 
but has chosen not to take part in the 
government Homeowner Mortgage 
support scheme. Instead, it has 
developed its own Homeowner Mortgage 
Charter which applies to all borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulties who  
are willing to work with us in good faith.

b) Commercial credit risks

Commercial credit risk is managed by our 
Commercial Division, which is responsible 
for all commercial lending activities, and 
the Commercial Credit risk function  
within risk Management Division.  
the Commercial Credit risk team 
underwrites all new loans and monitors 
existing loans. loans above certain sizes 
also require approval from the appropriate 
management committee with the largest 
exposures referred to the Group risk 
Committee. the Commercial Credit risk 
team maintains the policy and limits in 
respect of commercial credit risk, and 
monitors compliance with the limits 
providing reports to the Commercial & 
treasury Credit Committee about the 
performance of the commercial portfolios. 

We continue to remain cautious about 
commercial lending, given the current 
stage of the economic cycle, and will 
continue to prioritise quality of lending 
ahead of volume targets in these  
portfolios. All commercial loans are 
reviewed at least annually.

Appropriate arrears management 
procedures are in place and result in  
early identification of customer  
difficulties which are managed by 
appropriate mandate officers to enable 
requisite remedial action to be  
authorised and taken. Nationwide also 
has a specialist Commercial recoveries 
unit (Cru), where accounts are 
transferred when certain events occur. 
Where accounts are in default careful 
consideration is given to the most 
appropriate realisation strategy likely  
to result in the best outcome for 
Nationwide and the customer.

c) Treasury credit risks

treasury credit risk arises from the 
investments held by treasury Division in 
order to meet our liquidity requirements 
and for general business purposes. 
treasury Division is responsible for 
managing this aspect of credit risk  
within operational limits as set out in the 
Group’s risk management policy, with 
oversight provided by the treasury Credit 
risk function within risk Management 
Division. treasury Credit risk also 
underwrites all new facilities, monitors 
existing facilities, maintains the policy  
and limits in respect of treasury credit 
risk, monitors compliance with the policy  
and limits, and provides reports to the 
Commercial & treasury Credit  
Committee about the performance  
of the treasury portfolios.

the Group has increased the quality of  
its liquidity portfolio by increasing the 
weighting to sovereign exposures and  
this is expected to continue. Given  
current market conditions, we have not 
sought to expand the Group’s treasury  
investment portfolio. 

All credit lines and exposures are 
reviewed at least on an annual basis 
which entails a comprehensive analysis  
of the counterparty’s financial 
performance, their ratings status (both 
external and internal ratings) and recent 
developments, to ensure that the agreed 
credit limits and internal ratings remain  
at appropriate levels. review frequencies 
will usually be more intense for those 
counterparties perceived to be  
higher risk.

All assets in the treasury portfolio are 
subject to constant monitoring. Where 
adverse trends are detected, assets are 
placed on a watch list resulting in 
dedicated attention from treasury and  
risk Management Divisions. the credit 
watch list highlights the potential 
direction of an Internal risk rating or 
external credit agency rating, focusing on 
identifiable events and short-term trends 
that cause ratings to be placed under 
special surveillance. the continued 
acceptability of the counterparty will  
be assessed and a decision made as  
to whether the line should be allowed  
to continue or whether suspension of  
the line is appropriate, pending the 
outcome of the credit watch.

Business Review
continued

We will continue to 
prioritise quality  
of lending ahead of  
volume targets

The Group has 
increased the  
quality of its  
liquidity portfolio

More than 70%  
of the Group’s  
funding comes from 
retail sources
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liquidity and funding risk is the risk  
that the Group is not able to meet its 
obligations as they fall due, or can do  
so only at excessive cost. In order to 
ensure that the Group continues to meet 
its funding obligations and maintain or 
grow its business generally, the Group  
has developed comprehensive liquidity 
policies with the Group’s operations 
funded primarily from retail sources 
supported by a diversified wholesale 
funding capability.

Market background

Increased arrears and losses in mortgage 
debt, combined with reduced confidence 
in the rating agency process, have 
reduced prices and liquidity in asset 
backed markets. Many banks have 
suffered considerable losses through 
direct or indirect exposures to asset-
backed securities. Furthermore, banks 
have suffered substantial difficulties in 
refinancing maturing funding both  
secured and unsecured. As a result, 
confidence in the sustainability of other 
financial institutions has weakened. 

Nationwide, as a leading uK mortgage 
lender, has been impacted by these 
developments through its wholesale 
funding activities. Opportunities to  
raise long term funding in public debt 
markets have remained more limited  
and more expensive. Wholesale lenders 
continue to prefer secured over unsecured 
funding arrangements and their 
preference for term to maturity has 
progressively shortened. 

Government-sponsored liquidity schemes 
have provided a replacement source of 
funding, but the eventual maturity of such  
schemes has to be accommodated  
within business plans.

Risk management response

liquidity and funding risks arise from both 
retail and non-retail activities and these 
are inextricably linked. Accordingly, whilst 
separate limits are set around liquidity 
balances and funding profiles respectively, 
further limits are set around the combined 
and cumulative requirements for liquidity 
and funding over a forward period. 

In addition to the setting of limits, 
additional liquidity and funding scenarios 
are prepared each month to illustrate 
alternative firm-specific and market-
systemic developments. these results  
are reported to risk committees to assist 

in the management of liquidity and 
funding risks.

the day-to-day management of liquidity  
is the responsibility of treasury Division, 
which manages our portfolio of liquid 
assets and our funding activities in 
wholesale markets. the Assets and 
liabilities Committee (AlCO) manages 
Group cash flows on a consolidated and 
strategic basis, receiving regular reports 
on current and projected liquidity 
positions including the impact of  
stress scenarios. 

Group liquidity Management Policy 
defines different categories of liquidity  
and associated limits, and is revised 
annually or more frequently as 
appropriate. liquidity risk policy and 
limits are maintained by the Market risk 
team within the risk Management 
Division, and approved by the Board. the 
Market risk team also provides oversight 
of treasury management of liquidity. We 
also comply with regulatory guidelines 
which govern the scope and nature of the 
Group’s holdings of liquid assets.

the Group liquidity Management Policy 
also incorporates a Contingency Funding 
Plan (CFP). the CFP describes additional 
procedures for management of Group 
cash flows, including triggers for 
invocation, additional reporting and 
management processes, and the range of 
actions available to manage Group cash 
flow on a more tactical basis. the CFP 
was implemented in financial year 
2007/08, early within the period of 
market liquidity contraction, and has 
proved effective in its application, when 
deemed appropriate, during the period 
since that time. executive management 
has met on a frequent basis to review the 
business plans and liquidity position of the 
Group and this will continue until 
wholesale markets stabilise.

We have continued to monitor a number  
of internal classifications of liquidity and 
review the position using a number of 
stress scenarios. Attention has been 
focused towards the more severe of the 
liquidity definitions and stress scenarios; 
as a consequence, we have increased  
both the size and quality of our liquidity 
which has served us well given the 
unprecedented turmoil in financial  
markets during the year. 

secured transactions have been 
undertaken to increase Group liquidity 

through the receipt of both cash and 
other highly liquid assets. Collateral 
delivered to counterparties has included 
self-issued covered bonds and retail 
mortgage asset backed securities (issued 
out of our silverstone programme), other 
liquid investments issued by third parties, 
and segregated pools of mortgage assets.  
Cash proceeds have been obtained from 
secured transactions in the money 
markets through repurchase transactions 
(‘repos’) and Bank of england Open  
Market Operations, and in the capital 
markets through structured borrowings. 
the Group has also made use of the Bank 
of england special liquidity scheme and 
the Credit Guarantee scheme.

For longer-dated liquid instruments, the 
primary method of realising cash has  
been through sale and repurchase 
agreements rather than from outright 
sale. liquidity risk calculations have been 
revised to incorporate these transactions 
in an appropriate manner. the Group will 
continue to make use of secured funding 
and the uK government guarantee for 
debt issuance. As opportunities arise we 
will look to maintain our ratio of long term  
(in excess of one year residual maturity)  
to short term wholesale funding. 
Nationwide’s credit ratings remain strong, 
and continue to support its activities 
within wholesale financial markets. 

More than 70% of the Group’s funding 
comes from retail sources; we have been 
particularly successful in these markets 
during the last 18 months or so as  
savers have sought a safe harbour for  
their savings. We face increasing levels  
of competition for retail savings and  
we will continue to enhance our  
savings range to maintain our  
competitive position.  

While it is still too early to assess the full 
impact of the uK Government’s financial 
support package we have already seen 
some modest improvement in funding 
availability and duration. It is likely to take 
some time for a return to more normal 
market conditions but, providing 
conditions continue to improve, we will 
consider a prudent decrease in our 
liquidity as the average duration of our 
funding increases. However, given the 
experience of the credit crunch, we  
expect to continue to hold an amount  
and quality of liquidity materially in  
excess of that held before the onset  
of credit crunch conditions.

Liquidity and funding risk
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Market risk

Market risk incorporates a range of risks, 
but the principal elements are interest 
rate risk, foreign currency risk and basis 
risk. Market risk is the risk of changes in 
value of, or income arising from, the 
Group’s assets and liabilities as a result  
of changes in interest rates or  
exchange rates. 

Market background

Interest rate risk arises from the 
mortgage, savings and other financial 
services products that we offer. the 
varying interest rate features and 
maturities on these products, and the  
use of wholesale funds to support these 
products, create interest rate and foreign 
exchange risk exposures due to the 
imperfect matching of interest rates  
and exchange rates between different 
financial instruments and the timing 
differences on the re-pricing of assets  
and liabilities. this risk is managed 
through the use of appropriate financial 
instruments, including derivatives.

Basis risk arises from the mis-match 
between the Bank of england base rate  
and libor-linked balances. the Group’s 

exposure to basis risk has reduced during 
the period reflecting increased customer 
preference for tracker and Base Mortgage 
rate (BMr) mortgages and fixed rate 
savings bonds.

the contractual terms of products and 
transactions determine the flexibility to 
manage net interest margin. Following 
sudden and substantial falls in sterling 
interest rates, this flexibility has been 
constrained by a natural floor (at zero 
percent) for savings rates, and a 
contractual ceiling for certain mortgage 
rates (relative to the base rate). 

the sudden lowering of interest rates  
has also exposed the Group to changes  
in customer behaviour driven by  
associated changes in financial incentive, 
with respect to drawdown of mortgage 
applications and early repayment of  
fixed rate mortgages. 

Risk management response

risks relating to products are mitigated 
through appropriate restrictions in  
product terms and conditions and close 
analysis of the product pipeline.  
In addition, treasury Division uses 

derivative instruments in managing 
various aspects of market risk. In doing so 
it complies with the Building societies Act 
1986 which limits our use of derivatives  
to the reduction in exposure to changes  
in interest rates, exchange rates or other 
factors defined by the Act.

the majority of currency balances arise 
from transactions instigated by treasury 
Division to manage wholesale funding 
costs, returns on liquid assets, and to 
provide diversity in funding and asset 
markets. Currency risk is managed 
primarily through the use of currency 
swaps and forward foreign exchange 
contracts. the risk is also managed,  
where appropriate, by foreign  
currency liabilities being matched  
with assets denominated in the same 
foreign currency.

the Group runs minimal market risk 
positions. A Group Asset & liabilities 
Management Department has been 
established during the year to enhance 
the risk management of Group earnings 
and the consistency of risk-based 
practices through the Group.

Operational risk

Nationwide has adopted the standardised 
approach to operational risk and has 
applied the industry standard definition, 
namely: “the risk of loss arising from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or from external 
events”. this has been aligned to the 
Group’s integrated corporate risk map  
and ensures that there is effective 
oversight, monitoring and reporting  
of the key operational risk exposures  
facing Nationwide classified under 11 
categories as detailed below:

Financial Management & Control•	

third Party •	

Fraud •	

Business Continuity •	

Information security •	

Change•	

Information technology•	

Premises & Physical Assets•	

People•	

Customer experience•	

legal & regulatory•	

Operational Risk Framework

Oversight and governance arrangements 
for the setting and management of a 
robust operational risk management  
policy and culture are the responsibility  
of the Board, Group risk Committee  
and the Operational risk Committee.  
each committee has defined terms of 
reference allocating their accountability 
and responsibilities.

Nationwide operates a ‘three lines of 
defence’ model for management of 
operational risk. each division, as the  
first line of defence, has a dedicated 
operational risk officer. In the second line 
of defence the Group-wide network of 
operational risk officers is supported by  
a centralised Operational risk unit,  
whose role is to define and implement 
operational risk policies and processes 
consistent with corporate objectives, 
values and appetite.

In order to manage the Group’s key 
operational risks, data is captured at a 
divisional and risk category level from a 
variety of sources. these include regular 

control risk self-assessments, internal and 
external incident analysis, material losses 
and control failures. the information is 
analysed and monitored against defined 
risk appetite tolerances for each of the  
key risk categories using a central 
operational risk management database. 

the status of the Group risk appetite 
metrics, significant operational risk 
exposures, incidents, losses and emerging 
trends are regularly reported to the 
Operational risk Committee, Group risk 
Committee and the Board to ensure 
transparency, and robust and effective 
challenge of the business. 

Key operational risk categories

responsibility for each of the key 
operational risk categories is allocated  
to a risk owner, all of whom are Divisional 
Directors or senior Managers reporting to 
an executive Director. 

Third Party
the Group conducts its business in a  
fair and open manner and is committed  
to maximising customer value when 
undertaking expenditure on goods and 
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services. risks are monitored to ensure 
appropriate selection and management  
of third party suppliers and outsourced 
services, including compliance with 
contract law. 

Business Continuity
the purpose of Business Continuity is to 
ensure normal business operations are 
maintained in the event of disruption 
caused by an unexpected event  
ensuring Nationwide:

maintains a safe and secure business  •	
for the benefit of our customers;

minimises the losses which arise from •	
unexpected events; and

protects the reputation of the •	
Nationwide brand and the integrity  
of the uK financial services industry. 

Change
It is recognised that effective change 
management is essential to meeting our 
corporate objectives. Management of this 
risk ensures that the Group’s project and 
programme portfolio is aligned to 
Nationwide’s objectives, delivered 
efficiently, fit for purpose and sustainable.

Customer Experience 
It is essential that Nationwide delivers its 
customer promise by providing open, 
honest, good value, fair, safe and secure 
products and services that perform as 
customers have been led to expect. the 
purpose of this risk category is to ensure 
that customers can be confident that they 
are dealing with a firm where the fair 
treatment of customers is paramount, 
that an appropriate customer experience 
is consistently delivered and service levels  
are maintained for our customers.

Financial Management & Control 
this category covers management of the 
risk associated with the efficient, effective 
and appropriate use of the society’s 
financial resources and their accurate 
recording and reporting. this includes  
the risk of not complying with relevant 
statutory and regulatory accounting  
and reporting requirements.

Fraud 
this is the risk of direct or indirect loss 
resulting from intentional actions or illegal 
activities by people within or outside the 
Group. Continuing success for Nationwide 
depends on maintaining the trust of our 
customers and controlling fraud losses to 
minimise the impact on costs and profit.

the Group’s Fraud strategy is designed to:

minimise the impact of fraud losses on •	
overall costs;

provide cost effective management  •	
of fraud prevention, detection and 
investigation;

create a Group-wide anti-fraud culture •	
that deters internal and external fraud; 
and

meet regulatory requirements in  •	
respect of fraud management.

Nationwide combats fraud across all 
existing and emerging products,  
processes and channels, through the 
exploitation of technology and promoting 
awareness of fraud to customers and 
employees. this is supported by a  
portfolio of projects managed under  
the banner of the strategic Fraud  
Initiative which was established in  
2005 to enhance the Group’s fraud  
prevention approach. 

Information Security 
Nationwide regards information as a  
highly valuable asset and strives to ensure 
that the confidentiality, integrity and 
availability of its information and business 
systems are maintained and controlled, 
limiting exposure to the risks arising due  
to loss, corruption, misuse or theft of its 
information assets. 

Information Technology 
the risk associated with the failure (or 
inadequate management) of technology 
and the data captured, stored, processed 
and output via that technology. this risk  
is managed through the Information 
technology Division. their objective is to 
ensure that a stable, secure and reliable  
It environment is provided to support  
the business, and that both systems  
and data are secure from unauthorised  
access and usage. 

Legal & Regulatory 
As a regulated firm, Nationwide places 
significant importance on managing the 
business in a way that effectively manages 
the risk of fines or censure through 
non-compliance with laws and 
regulations. Oversight of legal & 
regulatory risks comprises:

breach of regulation;•	

breach of law; and•	

breach of anti-money laundering •	
regulations.

Nationwide identifies all material legal  
and regulatory requirements and relevant 
voluntary codes and standards affecting 
the Group and work with business  
areas to determine how it applies.  
this is supported by review mechanisms 
to ensure compliance with material 
regulatory and legal obligations, and  
a suite of Key risk Indicators and 
appropriate commentary. this enables the 
business to monitor progress against the 
key legal and regulatory risk exposures 
and take action where we are operating  
outside of risk appetite.

this framework of support, challenge  
and monitoring: 

enables the Board and senior •	
management to discharge their 
responsibilities and satisfy legal and 
regulatory requirements;

supports the business to achieve the •	
Corporate Plan in a compliant manner;

ensures relevant legislation,  •	
regulations, codes and standards  
are fully complied with;

ensures regulatory compliance  •	
is consistent and effective across  
the Group;

prevents and minimises penalties  •	
and litigation arising from non-
compliance; and

ensures reliable professional advice is •	
sought on legal matters in order to  
select the optimum solutions.

People 
One of Nationwide’s key assets is our 
people. As such Nationwide is committed 
to ensuring that we effectively manage  
the risks associated with recruiting, 
developing, motivating, rewarding and 
retaining the required number of people 
who are competent within their role.  
this also includes the risk of not 
complying with people related legal  
and regulatory requirements. 

Premises & Physical Assets 
Nationwide ensures appropriate premises 
and physical assets are available to fulfil 
business operational needs. this means 
ensuring adequate, safe and secure 
premises are in place that conform to  
all relevant regulatory bodies’ rules  
and regulations and provide a safe  
and healthy environment.



Nationwide 2009 Annual Report and Accounts30

Business Review
continued

Business risk

Business risk is the potential loss due to 
changes in the competitive environment  
or events which damage the franchise  
or operating economics of the Group.  
the Group devotes substantial 
management and planning resources to 
the development of strategic plans for 
organic growth and identification of 
possible mergers and acquisitions which 
balance the generation of values for our 
Members and the delivery of enhanced 
products and services for our customers.  
If these strategic plans are not delivered  
as anticipated, the Group’s earnings  
could grow more slowly or decline.

In addition, potential sources of business 
risk include revenue volatility due to 
factors such as macroeconomic 
conditions, inflexible cost structures, 
uncompetitive products or pricing and 
structural inefficiencies.

Tax risk

the Group is subject to the tax laws in  
all countries in which it operates, but 
principally this risk is uK based. tax risk  
is the risk associated with changes in tax 
law or in the interpretation of tax law  
when applied to business activities. It also 
includes the risk of changes in tax rates 
and the risk of failure to comply with 
procedures required by tax authorities. 
Failure to manage tax risks could lead  
to additional tax charges and a 
corresponding reduction to profit after 
tax. It could also lead to financial penalties 
for failure to comply with required tax 
procedures or other aspects of tax law.  
If, as a result of a tax risk materialising, 
the tax costs associated with particular 
transactions are greater than anticipated 
it could affect the value generated from 
those transactions.

the Group takes a responsible approach  
to the management and control of its tax 
affairs and is cooperative in its dealings 
with the tax authorities.

Capital management

the Group conducts an annual Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP) covering all risks. this is used to 
assess the Group’s capital adequacy and 
determine the levels of capital required 
going forward to support the current and 
future risks in the business. this analysis  
is collated into an Internal Capital 
Assessment (ICA) that is approved by the 
Board. the ICA incorporates expected 
future capital requirements from changes 
in business volumes, mix of assets and 
activities within the context of current  
and anticipated future risks, and multiple, 
stressed scenarios. the ICA is used by the 
FsA to set our capital requirements as 
Individual Capital Guidance (ICG). 

the Group’s Internal ratings Based (IrB) 
Waiver Application was approved by the 
FsA in May 2008 with subsequent 
confirmation from the FsA that 
Nationwide has cleared the conditions 
required to use its IrB models to calculate 
capital requirements. As a result, the 
Group currently adopts the following 
approaches to calculate the Basel II Pillar 1 
minimum capital requirements: retail IrB 
approach for prime mortgages and 
unsecured lending; Foundation IrB for 
treasury portfolios (excluding corporates); 
and the standardised approach for all 
other credit risk exposures. the 
standardised Approach is adopted for 
operational risk. the Group will continue 
to develop its IrB ratings models in 
accordance with the roll-out plan included 
within its Waiver approval. 

the amount and composition of the 
Group’s capital requirement is determined 
by assessing the Basel II Pillar 1 minimum 
capital requirement, the Group’s 
economic capital requirement, the impact 
of stress and scenario tests under Pillar 2, 
the Group’s ICG, and the capital 
requirement that is consistent with the 
Group’s target external rating. Capital 
levels for the Group are reported to, and 
monitored by, the Group risk Committee 
on a monthly basis. the Group manages 
its capital above the ICG at all times. 

Following the year end we gave notice  
to redeem £15 million of subordinated 
lower tier 2 notes on 7 May 2009. this 
supported our strategy of efficiently 
managing our capital base under Basel II. 
As a result of our transition to IrB our 
capital position for Pillar 1 credit risks has 
significantly improved, in particular, from 
the high quality of our prime mortgage 
portfolio. the Group has a capital surplus 
which exceeds the Basel II transitional 
Floor in force for 2009 (a minimum of 
80% of adjusted Basel I capital 
requirements) and maintains a strong 
capital position overall. 

Mark Rennison 
Group Finance Director  
26 May 2009
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This year has seen the introduction of a new Corporate 
Responsibility strategy which reinforces our commitment 
to the community, our employees and the environment.  
The link between our business strategy and our Corporate 
Responsibility activities is now even clearer with the 
addition of two new Corporate Responsibility themes – 
Housing and Finance.

As an organisation, we embrace our responsibilities, to our members, our 
employees and the communities we serve. We show respect and we stand  
up for what matters. Everything we do is underpinned by our core values  
of transparency, fairness and security. 

Our Corporate Responsibility mission statement

Nationwide continues to be an active member of Business in the Community 
(BITC) and holds the BITC Gold status as part of the Top 100 ‘Companies that 
Count’. Our commitment to Corporate Responsibility reflects the views of our 
members who voted overwhelmingly in support of Nationwide investing at least 
1% of pre-tax profits in community and environmental activities. 

In order to ensure our new Corporate 
Responsibility strategy becomes integral  
to our business we are re-defining our 
corporate Corporate Responsibility Key 
Performance Indicators. These will be 
published in our Corporate Responsibility 
report later this year. However, the  
following guiding principles will form  
the basis of our decisions going forward  
and provide a tangible way of measuring 
our success:

1.  Sustainable Business. We operate a 
sustainable business model to provide 
safety and security for our members; 

2.  Member value. We continue to invest 
in products and services for the long 
term benefit of our members. We 
seek to develop best value products 
that recognise the diverse needs of  
our customers;

3.  Treating Customers Fairly. We treat 
customers fairly and are passionate 
about our customer experience.  
We offer ethical investment options 
for our customers;

4.  Responsible lending. Our lending 
policy is based on affordability and 
seeks to manage and minimise  
the risk for both our customers  
and members; 

5.  People Focus. We take our 
responsibilities as an employer 
seriously. We work together to ensure 
Nationwide is a safe place to work  
and that employee policies and 
procedures are fair and transparent;  

6.  Diversity. We embrace diversity.  
We promote equality of opportunity 
and diversity for all Nationwide 
employees and customers;

7.  Engagement. We actively encourage 
employee and member involvement  
in community activities; 

8.  Financial Support. We strive to  
help people in financial difficulty 
through our robust and fair policies 
and processes as well as our 
educational initiatives; 

9.  Environmental Responsibility.  
We continue to focus our efforts on 
reducing our energy consumption  
and limiting avoidable waste; 

10.  Social Change. We work effectively  
with charitable, community and 
industry partners as well as political 
stakeholders to address issues of 
mutual concern and strategic 
importance.

Corporate Responsibility  
10 Guiding Principles 

Corporate Responsibility
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MoneyActive – In October 2008 we 
announced our partnership with the 
national charity Citizens Advice; 
MoneyActive. The three year project,  
worth £3 million will fund the recruitment 
and training of 1300 volunteers, 
delivering financial education within 
communities across the UK. Citizens 
Advice Chief Executive David Harker 
explains “Debt problems continue to be 
the number one issue seen in bureaux. 
This is a unique and extremely ambitious 
project which delivers on our 
commitment to do more to help people 
avoid getting into financial crisis. 
Nationwide’s support means that bureaux 
will be able to reach hundreds of 
thousands of clients in their local 
communities with financial education 
sessions and advice on money matters.” 
In addition, the Citizens Advice website 
AdviceGuide will be updated with 
additional financial information.  
The site currently attracts 7 million 
visitors every year. 

Nationwide Education – Our online 
educational resource for teachers, 
parents and pupils has been expanded to 
include a Financial Capability programme 
and is now unique in providing free, 
online financial education linked to the UK 
National Curricula for 4-16 year olds. In 
September 2008, The Counting on 
Money and The Cost of Money modules 
were launched by the Secretary of State 
for Children, Schools and Families, Ed 
Balls MP and Chief Secretary to the 
Treasury, Yvette Cooper MP. These were 
followed up by the Savings & LifeSkills 
module in March 2009. Our financial 
capability programme has been 
accredited by the Personal Finance 
Education Group and endorsed by 
Chairman of the Children, Schools and 
Families Select Committee, Barry 
Sheerman MP, who commented: “The 
launch of the new Savings & Lifeskills 
programme will play a pivotal role in 
helping young people become more 
aware of their finances and learn the 
value of savings. Given the current 
economic situation, the launch of the  
new programme on Nationwide 
Education is particularly relevant and will 
enable children to learn life skills that will  
benefit them through to adulthood.”

Nationwide Education is full of  
interactive games, worksheets and 
factsheets and seeks to teach children  

and young people about serious subjects  
in a fun and engaging way. We have 
received over one million hits on  
www.nationwideeducation.co.uk so far.

Responsible Lending – At Nationwide  
we have a strong track record of working 
with customers in arrears, adopting a 
flexible and mutually beneficial approach. 
This is reflected in our arrears and 
possessions figures which continue  
to be significantly lower than those  
of the industry. 

Our commitment to homeowners in 
particular is embodied in the new 
Nationwide Homeowner Mortgage 
Charter, which sets out Nationwide’s 
promise to work with and support 
customers experiencing a period of 
temporary financial difficulties to  
ensure all options are explored to  
keep customers in their homes.

Nationwide were successful at this  
year’s ‘Your Mortgage’ awards, picking  
up Best Remortgage Lender 2008-2009, 
Best First-Time Buyer Mortgage Lender 
2008-2009 and Best Building Society 
2008-2009.

We were also winners of the responsible 
credit card lending award for the second 
year running at The Card Awards in 
February 2009.

corporate 
responsibility 

 Housing 
Affordable Housing – Nationwide  
continues to be a leading funder of the 
affordable housing sector. Total funding 
commitments to housing associations in  
the UK now exceeds £9 billion. Whilst less  
active in the market in 2008/09, 
Nationwide is continuing to fund housing 
association developments in the current 
economic and financial environment  
and has increased its funding activity  
in 2009. Nationwide contributes to the 
development of affordable housing policy  
in the UK through direct contact with 
Government agencies and departments 
as well as through The Council of 
Mortgage Lenders (CML).

Nationwide employees have contributed  
to the affordable housing sector in other 
ways during the year, such as through 
voluntary membership of housing 
association boards and on rural  
housing forums. 

Sustainability Awards – In partnership  
with the Royal Institute of British  
Architects (RIBA) Nationwide launched  
the Nationwide Sustainable Housing 

Awards in October 2008. The competition 
is designed to promote economic and 
environmental sustainability and 
encourage architects and design students 
to incorporate issues of sustainability into 
their future designs. The first awards 
ceremony took place at the RIBA 
headquarters in London with special 
guest and designer, Wayne Hemingway, 
director of Hemingway Designs and 
Chairman of Building for Life. Prizes were 
awarded to students from Manchester, 
Cardiff and Strathclyde universities before 
the opening of the exhibition of winning 
and shortlisted entries. For more 
information on the 2009 competition  
visit www.nationwideriba.co.uk.  

Shelter – We have recently embarked on  
a new and forward-thinking partnership 
with Shelter, the housing and 
homelessness charity. Linking up with 
their senior policy team, we have started 
to explore policy issues of mutual interest, 
concern and strategic importance. Using 
our shared expertise we believe the 
partnership has the potential to deliver 
real long term benefit to existing and 
potential homeowners, including the 
most disadvantaged groups in society.  
In parallel we have invested in Shelter  
support services, which has directly 
benefitted 60 families and 56 children  
in the Bristol area. 

Our education website for 
4-16 year olds attracted over

1 million hits www.
nationwideeducation.co.uk

disadvantaged people

Winners of the  
responsible credit card 
lending award   

2nd year running
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 Community 
The Nationwide Foundation is an 
independent charity, set up and funded  
by Nationwide Building Society to help 
disadvantaged people through grant  
giving. More information on the 
Foundation’s activities can be found on 
page 37. The Society also funds and 
invests time in a number of local and 
national charities across the UK. Our 
Macmillan Cancer Support and Disability 
Sports Events (DSE) partnerships provide 
examples of how our investment helps  
to sustain vital services and to promote 
social inclusion.   

Macmillan – Nationwide and Macmillan 
Cancer Support celebrated 15 years of 
partnership in October 2008. £5 million  
has been raised over the years with a 
record £534,000 being given through 
employee, member and corporate 
donations in 2008 alone. Nationwide 
continues to fund the Macmillan Cancer 
Guide,  a valuable resource for people 
affected by cancer, either directly or 
indirectly. As a result of members voting 
at the last AGM Nationwide donated 
£250,000 specifically to fund the 
Plymouth and Durham Information 
Centres. Throughout 2008 
representatives of Nationwide were 
involved in the innovative Working 
Through Cancer project, designed to 
produce information and guidance for 
employees and managers affected by 
cancer, Nationwide is proud to offer 
continued support for this project.  

Disability Sports Events – We continue to 
sponsor Disability Sports Events and were 
especially proud to witness the excellent 
performance of the British team at the 
2008 Paralympics in Beijing, many of 
whom had competed at Nationwide 
sponsored DSE events over the years.  
The DSE Sports Awards in December 
2008, supported by Nationwide was  
an excellent occasion to acknowledge  
the talent and hard work of some of the 
UK’s top athletes and volunteers. 
Representatives from Nationwide were 
proud to announce and meet the winner 
of Nationwide’s Rising Star 2008 award, 
Daniel Lucker. BBC Young Sports 
Personality of the Year 2008 and previous 

Nationwide junior award winner, Ellie 
Simmonds MBE was also at the event  
to offer her support. 

Local Causes Matter – As a mutual we 
are passionate about representing our 
members. Therefore, our commitment  
to community does not just stop with 
national charities or campaigns. Our 
corporate responsibility representatives 
around the country use their local 
knowledge to identify key issues and 
establish relationships with local 
partners: for example the Swindon 
Cultural Partnership, Prospect Hospice, 
Swindon Tigersharks, SMASH and 
Swindon Cares, which are all based near 
our Swindon headquarters. In 2008, the 
Cheshire Building Society once again 
gave its support to ITV Granada’s 
Careline, a freephone support service 
manned by volunteers over the Christmas 
period, as well as the “Carols by 
Candlelight Concert” held at Manchester 
Cathedral for Henshaw’s Society For Blind 
People. Derbyshire Building Society has 
continued to support Rainbows, the 
Children’s Hospice for the East Midlands, 
as well as the Sporting Futures 10k Race 
and Family Fun Run, East Midlands in 
Bloom and Shopmobility, which holds a 
‘surgery’ at local Derbyshire branches to 
advertise their services. The Dunfermline 
Building Society recently announced their 
ongoing support of the charitable sector 
through partnerships with Macmillan 
Cancer Support (Scotland) and 
Leukaemia Research (Scotland). 

Engagement – We recognise the 
important role of volunteers, some of 
whom are our members, who donate 
their time and give something back to  
the community. In 2008, we decided  
to celebrate 10 years of our Voluntary 
Endeavour Awards by hosting the 
Nationwide and Heritage Community 
Awards in partnership with the Heritage 
Lottery Fund and Business in the 
Community.  Our worthy winners were 
presented with their awards at the  
Tower of London in November 2008.

Together our members and employees 
continue to raise significant sums of 
money for charity. An impressive 
£254,000 was raised for Comic Relief  
by Nationwide employees and members 
‘doing something funny for money’ in 
March this year. Another £152,000 was 

raised for Children in Need between 
August 2008 and February 2009. A key 
focus for us in 2009/10 will be to engage 
our employees and members even more 
in our corporate responsibility activities 
including volunteering, fundraising and 
community events and with eighty-five 
percent of employees who responded to  
a recent survey feeling more positive or 
much more positive about Nationwide  
as a result of our corporate responsibility 
activities, this can only be a good  
thing for the Nationwide Society and 
society at large. 

Our partnership with 
Shelter has helped  

60 families

since November 2008
and 56 children

Funding 1300  
Citizens Advice volunteers 
delivering financial 
education to communities 
across the UK.
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Education – At Nationwide we believe 
education is the key to preventing or 
curbing our current social and 
environmental problems. We have 
launched a new Sustainable Living 
programme designed to engage  
children from 4-11 years old on how  
to live more sustainably.

Energy Supply – Until very recently 
Nationwide procured electricity from 
renewable sources. In October 2008 we 
made the decision to opt-out of buying 
‘green’ electricity. Significant increases in 
renewable electricity prices and changes  
to the government’s framework on 
carbon legislation have weakened the 
commercial case for buying ‘green’ 
electricity. As a member led organisation 
we have a responsibility to approach our 
energy procurement options in a way 
which reduces our impact on the 
environment while systematically 
delivering value to our customers. 

To ensure our commitment to 
sustainability is not compromised by the 
decision to buy ‘brown’ electricity we are 
investing the price difference between 
renewable electricity and conventional 
‘brown’ sources in energy efficiencies 
within our buildings and technologies.  
By reducing our consumption and 
investing in initiatives compatible with 
new environmental drivers from 
government we will demonstrate best 
value to our customers, reduce our 
emissions and install a culture within our 
business which understands both the 
environmental and financial burdens of 
carbon. We will continue to review our 
energy supply and carbon reduction 
initiatives with an open mind, making 
changes in line with both environmental 
and business pressures. As part of our 
commitment to continually improve our 
energy efficiency we launched an 
employee Environment Awareness 
campaign in March 2009, initially 
focusing on energy. 

Transport – The mobility of our people 
and materials is key to the success of our 
business.  We continue to review the way 
we manage our transport related policies 
and how we can reduce our carbon 
emissions and operating costs. We have  
a number of policies and awareness  
tools in place on travel including a 
comprehensive policy for travel bookings 
which allows us to take advantage of very 

competitive rates for rail; a network of 
video and telephone conferencing  
facilities (i.e. technological alternatives  
to travel) connecting all main sites;  
lower CO2 emitting hire and company 
vehicles; as well as information on local 
public transport services for our larger 
buildings and reminders that colleagues 
should consider alternatives to driving 
when hiring vehicles. We’re still 
encouraging alternatives to daily 
commute; our administrative buildings 
and head offices have car share facilities; 
large, purpose built bike shelters and 
changing/shower areas. 

Waste – Nationwide endeavours to 
reduce the waste it produces, and to 
prevent waste from our buildings and 
operations going direct to landfill. For 
Nationwide, paper continues to be a 
significant category of waste. We treat  
all paper as confidential waste and can 
therefore be confident that we recycle 
100% of paper from all of our UK sites, 
including unused or out-of-date 
marketing and direct email literature.  
We remain committed to ensuring the 
tightest possible controls are applied to 
our waste paper handling, with lockable 
bins on all sites. We work with a number 
of partner organisations to make sure 
surplus furniture is re-distributed to 
charities and organisations like the NHS, 
rather than being sent to landfill. Obsolete 
stock of corporate clothing is donated  
to a charity which helps disadvantaged 
women into mainstream employment 
and a recycling company that distributes 
garments to developing countries.  
We also turn our worn garments  
into automotive sound proofing and 
cleaning cloths.

Paper Supply – From 1 April 2009, paper 
used for point of sale literature (e.g. 
product leaflets) and statement inserts 
migrated from recycled to Forest 
Stewardship Council (FSC). FSC is an 
international, non-governmental 
organisation dedicated to promoting 
responsible management of the world’s 
forests. FSC certified forests are managed 
to ensure long term timber supplies while 
protecting the environment and the lives 
of forest-dependent people. All items 
printed on FSC paper have a unique 
tracking number which enables us to  
trace the finished document back 
through to the certified forest, meaning 
there is a complete audit trail of where 
the item originates from. In addition, by 

switching to FSC paper we estimate that 
we will be able to avoid a cost increase  
of over £600,000 this year. One of the 
reasons for moving to FSC is that recycled 
paper is becoming increasingly difficult  
to source in the volumes we need. Once 
recycled paper becomes more widely 
available and cost viable, we will revert  
to FSC accredited recycled paper.

We continue to provide our on-line 
customers the option of paperless 
statements for FlexAccounts, card  
based saving accounts and credit card 
statements. Despite an increase in the 
number of accounts, the number of 
statements printed per account has 
reduced from last year.

TT-COC-002808 
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The corporate responsibility team takes 
ownership for defining the corporate 
responsibility strategy, identifying and 
liaising with charity partners, developing 
employee engagement opportunities and 
reporting against corporate responsibility 
objectives. However, our employees  
have the greatest impact on ensuring 
Nationwide remains a responsible  
financial services provider and a  
responsible employer. 

PRIDE is Nationwide’s unique set of 
behaviours which defines the way we  
do business with members, customers, 
our suppliers, our partners and 
colleagues. All Nationwide employees  
are introduced to PRIDE as part of their 
induction and are measured against  
the behaviours as part of their 
performance appraisal. 

Our PRIDE behaviours were refreshed  
and re-launched by Chief Executive, 
Graham Beale, in April 2008 and have 
since been further integrated into our  
new performance management system, 
which was rolled out across the UK with  

an extensive training programme for  
all people managers.

Thanks to our mutual status and brand 
values Nationwide has always put 
customers at the heart of its product and 
service delivery. We call this our customer 
experience, and deliver this through our 
PRIDE behaviours seeking to ensure we 
treat our customers fairly. 

Put Customers First –•	  As a mutual  
with no shareholders, we really can  
put our customers first 

Rising to the challenge –•	  We will 
constantly prove to our customers  
that we are better and fairer than our 
competitors   

Inspiring confidence –•	  Our reputation  
is precious - we must protect and 
nurture it

Deliver best value –•	  We exist to give  
our customers more

Exceeding expectations –•	  We are 
unique in financial services – and we 
want our customers to know it

We believe our employees working 
through PRIDE give us a real competitive 
advantage and protect our reputation as 
solid, stable and dependable. 

Nationwide Group also takes its 
responsibility as a customer seriously,  
and the Group’s sustainability policy 
reflects the manner in which we work 
with our supply partners.  We always 
ensure that our partners provide best 
value, that we deal with our partners 
ethically, responsibly and fairly, ensuring 
that we assess and encourage suppliers 
to use and promote the supply of goods 
and services which are environmentally 
and socially responsible.

Corporate Responsibility in action 

At Nationwide, we embrace diversity.  
As a responsible corporate citizen we 
continue to be committed to promoting 
equality of opportunity and creating  
a supportive and inclusive culture for  
all our employees, members and  
business partners. This is supported  
by our Diversity and Equality of 
Opportunity Committee (DEOC),  
chaired by the Divisional Director for 
Insurance and Investments. The DEOC  
is comprised of senior managers from 
across the business. 

The DEOC is authorised by the 
Nationwide Executive Directors’ 
Committee to:

Promote equality of opportunity and •	
diversity for all Nationwide employees 
and customers;

Ensure that barriers to equality are •	
identified and removed to maximise  
the potential of all employees;

Ensure that barriers to equality are •	
identified and removed to maximise 
accessibility for customers and  
potential customers;

Create an inclusive approach that values •	
the contribution of every individual. 

We work closely with a number of 
external organisations to promote 
diversity, including:

Employers’ Forum on Age: Nationwide •	
was a founding member of the EFA and 
has been a member for 12 years;

Business in the Community’s Race for •	
Opportunity programme: in 2008 we 
were placed as one of the Top 10 
performers in the private sector and 
achieved an overall status of Gold in 
their national benchmarking survey; 

Employers’ Forum on Disability: as a •	
member we have the opportunity to 
work closely with Government and other 
stakeholders, sharing best practice to 
make it easier to employ disabled 
people and to serve disabled customers;

Business in the Community’s •	
Opportunity Now Programme: through 
this programme we have been 
recognised externally for our work on 
gender equality and best practices in  
the workplace; and in 2009, achieved  
a status of Silver for our annual 
benchmarking submission; 

Stonewall, the UK’s leading gay,  •	
lesbian and bisexual equality 
organisation, of which Nationwide  
is a Diversity Champion.  

In 2009 we will continue to focus on 
implementing the recommendations  
from our recent strategic review to  
ensure diversity is fully embedded into  
our business plans and working 
environment now and for the future.

Diversity  
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Governance

Overall responsibility for Corporate Responsibility across the Group lies with our Board of Directors. Individual accountabilities have 
been listed below:

Issue Board Member Position

Workplace – occupational health & safety Graham Beale Chief Executive

Workplace – employee issues Tony Prestedge Group Development Director

Marketplace – customers/consumers* Chris Rhodes Group Product & Marketing Director

Marketplace – supply chain David Rigney Group Operations Director

Environment David Rigney Group Operations Director

Corporate Responsibility Tony Prestedge Group Development Director

*For the period 2008/09 Stuart Bernau was accountable for Marketplace – customers/consumers 

In line with our renewed commitment to 
Corporate Responsibility we have reviewed 
and refreshed our governance structure 
and introduced the Nationwide Corporate 
Responsibility Committee (CRC). The CRC, 
chaired by the Group Development 
Director, meets quarterly and comprises 
senior managers and directors from  
across the business including HR,  
Business Services, Customer Experience, 
Procurement, Retail, Commercial Lending, 
Brand Development, the Nationwide 
Foundation and Corporate Affairs.  

 

  

Corporate Strategy•	  – To drive  
forward the Nationwide Corporate 
Responsibility strategy;

Integration –•	  To provide governance  
and collective ownership of the 
Corporate Responsibility agenda,  
on behalf of the Executive Directors 
Committee. To promote an integrated 
approach to Corporate Responsibility 
across the Group;

Management –•	  To provide clear 
individual accountability for Corporate 
Responsibility across the Group;

Performance & Impact –•	  To measure 
the impact of Corporate Responsibility, 
to celebrate successes and commit to 
continuous improvement.

Purpose of the Corporate Responsibility Committee 

Corporate Responsibility
continued
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The Nationwide Foundation, a registered charity, has now 
entered its second decade of grant-making. Our grants have 
touched the lives of many thousands of people across the 
UK, both directly and indirectly and we are grateful to 
Nationwide Building Society for supporting us in our work. 
To date, the Foundation has received over £27 million which  
has been distributed to charities across the UK.

We have developed a  
3 year grant programme 
to improve financial 
inclusion and support 
housing needs.

£27 million
from the Society which has  
been distributed to good causes

To date the Foundation  
has received over

Last year we were delighted to appoint 
John Kingston as our new Chair. John is a 
director and founder of Venturesome at 
Charities Aid Foundation (CAF). He has 
been a trustee of the Foundation for two 
years and succeeds Margaret Mayne, 
former director of finance at the British 
Council. The Board of Trustees has also 
been strengthened by the addition of  
five new trustees:

Richard Davies, management board •	
director and head of the Department  
for Public Services & Performance  
Welsh Assembly Government;

Ben Stimson, former director of •	
responsibility and reputation at  
British Sky Broadcasting; 

Lucy Gampell, former director of  •	
Action for Prisoners’ Families and  
vice chair of CLINKS;

Karen McArthur, a magistrate and  •	
board member of Quality Housing 
Services and previously the senior 
manager of corporate responsibility  
at Vodafone Ltd; 

Dr Michael McCarthy, director of the •	
strategic marketing consultancy 
Workhouse and author of books on 
Unemployment; on Child Poverty; and  
on the Future of the Welfare State. 

During the year, we undertook a strategic 
review of our grant-making and made  
a commitment to align ourselves more 
closely to the work of Nationwide  
Building Society, by focusing future  
grant support on financial inclusion  
and housing related issues. The Trustees 
commissioned independent research to 
identify areas within these fields where 
we could make a significant difference 
with our funds. This included a review  
of the agendas of government and other 
funders plus additional research into  
how the economic downturn was 
affecting charities and disadvantaged 
groups, to ensure that the Foundation 
could respond most effectively.

As a result we have developed a three 
year grant programme which focuses 

support on specific areas of the 
community to improve financial  
inclusion and to support housing needs.  
Beneficiaries will include those suffering 
from dementia, survivors of domestic 
abuse, older people from Black and 
Minority Ethnic (BME) communities and 
older carers. One of the reasons these 
groups were identified is because they 
are more likely to suffer financial abuse. 
This can include domestic abuse victims 
having to account for every penny spent, 
or being denied access to funds; for older 
people it can mean family members and 
carers taking advantage e.g. abuse of 
Power of Attorney. In addition, BME 
groups are underrepresented in  
sheltered and extra care housing; 
dementia sufferers are more likely to 
struggle with managing their finances  
as their condition deteriorates, so are 
more vulnerable to financial abuse.

Also, during the financial year 2008-09, 
we continued to roll out our current 
grant-making strategy, ‘Supporting 
Families’, which commenced in 2005. 

This work seeks to strengthen families, 
reduce crime and violence, and make  
our communities safer, better places to 
be. Through this strategy we made large 
grants (£150,000 over three years) via 
the Investor Programme and grants of  
up to £5,000 through the Small  
Grants Programme.

The Foundation is unique in that it 
encourages and funds the charities  
which it supports to work in partnership 
with one another to share experience  
and learning. It also identifies ways of 
reducing duplication, which saves 
valuable charitable resources and  
helps to achieve greater outcomes  
for beneficiaries.

A partnership element will be maintained 
within the new strategy as well as many 
new features for strengthening the 
infrastructure, capacity and robustness  
of charities. This will include funding 
financial planning, strategy reviews, risk 
assessments and training for trustees 

and staff. This will help charities to 
improve and sustain the effectiveness  
of their work in the present economic 
climate and beyond the period of  
our grant.

The recent major shifts in the world 
economy have inevitably had an  
impact on the charitable sector in  
the UK. These developments have  
already significantly affected charities’ 
resources and will lead to greater 
demands on funds provided by  
grant-makers such as the Foundation.  
Our new focus will enable us to help 
people who are increasingly in  
need where they are being most  
affected both financially and in  
relation to their housing.

Email:
enquiries@nationwidefoundation.org.uk

Website:
www.nationwidefoundation.org.uk

The Nationwide Foundation
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1. Geoffrey Howe (59) 
Chairman
Geoffrey Howe joined the Board in 2005 
and became Chairman of the Society in July 
2007. He brings considerable regulatory, 
management and legal experience to the 
Board. He is currently Chairman of Jardine 
Lloyd Thompson Group plc and a Director  
of Investec plc. Geoffrey was formerly 
Chairman of Railtrack Group plc, a Director  
and General Counsel of Robert Fleming 
Holdings Limited and Managing Partner  
of international law firm Clifford Chance.

2. Graham Beale (50) 
Chief Executive
Graham Beale joined the Society in 1985. He 
is a chartered accountant by training and 
was appointed to the Board as Group Finance 
Director in April 2003. He took up his current 
role as Chief Executive in April 2007. He is 
also a non executive director of Visa Europe 
Limited and Visa Europe Services. Prior to 
his appointment to the Board, he worked 
extensively in the Finance function and held 
a number of senior, general management 
positions within the Society.

3. Suzanna Taverne (49)  
Non executive Director
Suzanna Taverne joined the Board in 2005. 
She brings considerable expertise in strategy, 
finance and management. She is currently 
a Director of FCE Bank plc, a Trustee of the 
Consumer Credit Counselling Service and the 
Design Museum and Chair of Gingerbread. 
Suzanna was formerly a Director of Imperial 
College London, Managing Director of 
the British Museum, Director of Strategy 
at Pearson plc, Finance Director of The 
Independent and also worked for Saatchi and 
Saatchi plc and S.G. Warburg & Co Limited.

For the year ended 4 April 2009

7. Bill Tudor John (64) 
Joint Deputy Chairman

Bill Tudor John joined the Board in August 
2007 as Joint Deputy Chairman and was 
previously Chairman of Portman Building 
Society. Between 1972 and 2000 he was a 
Partner in the international law firm Allen 
& Overy, the last six years as the Senior 
Partner. He has considerable experience 
in the law and investment banking. He is 
currently a Managing Director of Nomura 
International plc, Director of Lehman 
Brothers European Mezzanine 2004 SICAV, 
Wales In London Limited and Grainger plc 
and he is Deputy Chairman of the Financial 
Markets Law Committee. He is a fellow of 
Downing College, Cambridge.

8. Derek Ross (58) 
Non executive Director 

Derek Ross joined the Board in 2004.  
He is also Chairman of the Society’s Audit 
Committee. He has extensive experience 
in audit and financial advisory services, 
particularly in areas of treasury and risk 
management. Prior to his appointment he 
was a Senior Partner of Deloitte & Touche  
LLP for 18 years and previously for 
seven years a corporate treasurer and 
tax manager with Black & Decker. He is 
currently a Director and Chairman of the 
Audit Committee of European Central 
Counterparty Limited and of Access Bank. 

4. Mark Rennison (48)  
Group Finance Director
Mark Rennison is a chartered accountant 
who joined the Society and was appointed 
to the Board in February 2007. He is 
responsible for Finance, Treasury, Risk 
Management, Business Protection 
and Internal Audit. He is a Director of 
various Society subsidiaries. Prior to his 
appointment, Mark was a Partner at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP where he 
worked in the financial services practice  
with a specific focus on retail and  
corporate banking. He has also worked 
extensively with group treasury operations, 
leasing and asset finance businesses. 

5. Stella David (46) 
Non executive Director
Stella David joined the Board in 2003 and 
became Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee in 2006. She brings 
considerable expertise in marketing, 
general management, branding and the 
management of consumer goods. She is 
the Global Chief Marketing Officer for the 
international drinks group Bacardi Limited 
and prior to this she was Vice President  
of its Global Operations.

6. Robert Walther (65) 
Joint Deputy Chairman
Robert Walther joined the Board in 2002 
and became Deputy Chairman in 2006 and 
Joint Deputy Chairman in August 2007. His 
background is in investment and insurance. 
Robert is currently Chairman of Nationwide, 
Portman, Derbyshire and Cheshire Pension 
Funds and Fidelity European Values plc and 
a non executive director of BUPA. He was 
formerly Chief Executive of Clerical Medical 
from 1995 to 2001 which he joined in 1965.
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9. David Rigney (45) 
Group Operations Director
David Rigney joined the Society in 1999 and 
was appointed to the Board in 2006. He is 
currently responsible for Member Account 
Administration, Information Technology, 
Business Services and Procurement. He is 
also leading a transformation programme to 
complete the modernisation of the Society’s 
systems. He is a non executive director of 
HM Land Registry and a Director of various 
Society subsidiaries. Prior to joining the 
Society, David held a number of senior 
management positions in both the public 
and private sector.

10. Stuart Bernau (57)
Group Product  
& Marketing Director
Stuart Bernau joined the Society in 1990 
and was appointed to the Board in 1996. 
He is responsible for Group Product and 
Marketing and accountable for Customer 
and Brand Strategy, Advertising and 
Sponsorship, Group Customer Experience, 
Customer Segmentation and Insight 
together with product performance for 
Mortgages (retail and specialist lending), 
Savings, Banking, Personal Lending, 
Credit Card, Insurance, Investment and 
Commercial. He is also a Director of  
various Society subsidiaries. Stuart 
has previously worked across many 
divisions, including Treasury, Commercial, 
Communications and Retail.

11. Michael Jary (45) 
Non executive Director 
Michael Jary joined the Board in January 
2009. He is the Managing Partner of OC&C 
Strategy Consultants, a global strategy 
consulting firm with 15 offices worldwide, 
having been one of the founders of the firm 
in 1987. He is an advisor to the boards of 
leading retail and consumer companies in 
Europe, the USA and Asia. He is a regular 
commentator in the retail industry, the 
co-author of a number of books including 
“Retail Power Plays” and a guest lecturer 
at INSEAD Business School. He is also the 
Chairman of Duchy Originals.

12. Kevin Loosemore (50) 
Non executive Director
Kevin Loosemore joined the Board  
in January 2009. He has a strong 
information technology background having 
held senior executive positions at IBM,  
De La Rue, Motorola and Cable & Wireless. 
He is currently Chairman of both Micro 
Focus International plc and Morse plc  
and a Director of Farnham Castle.  
During his career Kevin has run businesses 
in software, services, communications  
and manufacturing and has overseen  
the delivery of major IT and  
transformation programmes.

13. Mark Nicholls (59) 
Non executive Director
Mark Nicholls joined the Board in August 
2007 and was previously a non executive 
director of Portman Building Society. He has 
broad experience in financial markets and 
was a main Board Director of S.G. Warburg 
Group plc and Managing Director of the 
private equity group of the Royal Bank of 
Scotland. He is Chairman of EcoSecurities 
Group plc, Deputy Chairman of Venture 
Production plc and a non executive director 
of Northern Investors Company plc and  
The Evolution Group plc.

14. Sue Ellen (60) 
Non executive Director
Sue Ellen joined the Board in August 2007 
and was previously a non executive director 
of Portman Building Society. She brings 
broad experience in healthcare, leisure and 
financial services. She is currently Chairman 
of West Middlesex University Hospital NHS 
Trust and is a Director of Prudential Health 
Holdings Limited and St. John Ambulance. 

15. Tony Prestedge (39) 
Group Development Director
Tony Prestedge was appointed to the 
Board in August 2007 and was previously 
Group Operations Director of Portman 
Building Society. He has held a number 
of senior management and executive 
roles at Barclays plc, including Managing 
Director Home Finance and a Member of 
the Retail Banking Executive Committee. 
He is currently responsible for Change 
Management, Human Resources, Corporate 
Affairs, Strategy and Planning, Legal, 
Secretariat and Member Services and 
Regional Brands inclusive of Derbyshire, 
Cheshire and Dunfermline Building 
Societies. He is currently a Trustee of  
The Nationwide Foundation.

16. Matthew Wyles (50) 
Group Distribution Director
Matthew Wyles was appointed to the Board 
in August 2007 and was previously Group 
Development Director of Portman Building 
Society. Prior to joining Portman in 1997, 
Matthew was an executive director within 
the Global Reinsurance Division at the Willis 
Corroon Group specialising in mortgage 
risk. Matthew is responsible for the branch 
network, direct channels and group 
intermediary sales across both Nationwide 
and The Mortgage Works brands. He is also 
a Director of various Society subsidiaries.
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in 
presenting their Annual Report and 
Accounts for the year ended  
4 April 2009.

As set out more fully in the Statement of 
Accounting Policies, this Annual Report 
and Accounts has been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). All financial 
information given in this Directors’ 
Report is taken solely from the statutory 
results prepared on this basis. Unaudited, 
like-for-like results which allow comparison 
between 2009 and 2008 are given in  
the Business Review on pages 9 to 30. 

Business objectives
The principal purpose of the Society and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) is to provide  
a diverse range of personal financial 
services, offering competitive pricing  
and excellent service. Underpinning this 
objective are our core values, which are  
to be open, honest and fair in our dealings 
with customers, to deliver long term good 
value, and to provide a safe and secure 
home for our members’ savings.

Business Review and  
future developments
The Group’s business and future plans  
are reviewed by the Chairman and Chief 
Executive on pages 4 to 8 and in the 
Business Review on pages 9 to 30. 

Key Performance Indicators
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have 
evolved from the approach taken last 
year. There has been an even stronger 
focus on preserving our financial strength 
and profitability and transforming the 

business to meet future challenges. Hence 
the KPIs have been refocused and 10 
measures (2008: 12 measures) have been 
used by management for determining 
Group performance compared to the 
Corporate Plan. Details of all 10 KPIs  
are shown in the table below.

KPIs include financial indicators and  
non financial indicators. Performance 
against financial KPIs is covered in the 
Chief Executive’s Review from page 6  
and Business Review from page 9.

In addition to these 10 KPIs there are 
further indicators to measure our 
corporate responsibilities including  
the commitment of our employees and 
our commitment to the environment.

These include:

Employee Voluntary Turnover. We •	
closely monitor voluntary turnover 
across various job categories against  
a planned target. Overall, turnover was 
below the target set for 2008/09;

Employee absence. Actual absence  •	
is slightly greater than plan; 

Environmental performance. As a •	
business we are committed to 
managing down our carbon dioxide 
emissions. We are doing this through  
a series of step changes. We are setting 
a new KPI for 2009/10 against a 
baseline of 2008/09, being a 0% 
relative increase in energy use against 
our operational estate. In addition, as 
well as taking action to stabilise our 
emissions in 2009/10 we will improve 
our carbon measuring and reporting, 
and develop a new carbon action plan 
to provide for the next five years;

Investing in the Community. Our aim  •	
is to retain our gold status with 

Business in the Community (BITC) –  
see our Corporate Responsibility Report 
on page 31.

Profits and capital
Profit before tax was £212 million  
(2008: £686 million). The profit after tax 
transferred to the general reserve was 
£162 million (2008: £495 million).

Total Group reserves at 4 April 2009 
were £4,294 million (2008: £6,008 
million) after taking into account the 
revaluation reserve of £69 million  
(2008: £121 million), and the available for  
sale reserve of negative £2,009 million 
(2008: £418 million).

Gross capital at 4 April 2009 was  
£8,053 million (2008: £9,311 million) 
including £2,233 million (2008:  
£2,058 million) of subordinated debt  
and £1,526 million (2008: £1,245 million) 
of subscribed capital. The ratio of gross 
capital as a percentage of shares and 
borrowings at 4 April 2009 was 4.3% 
(2008: 5.6%) and the free capital ratio 
was 3.9% (2008: 5.1%). (See the Annual 
Business Statement on page 124 for an 
explanation of these ratios). 

Mortgage arrears
The Group mortgage portfolios at  
4 April 2009 included 2,273 mortgage 
accounts (2008: 686), including those  
in possession, where payments were 
more than 12 months in arrears. The total 
amount of principal loans outstanding  
in these cases was £424 million (2008: 
£78 million). The total amount of arrears 
in these cases was £28 million (2008:  
£8 million) or 0.02% (2008: 0.01%)  
of total mortgage balances.

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Measure KPIs Why is it used?

Customers and Employee 
engagement

1 Pricing benefit
2 Customer satisfaction

We exist to serve the needs of our Members. It is important that we 
independently measure how successful we are in doing just that.  
We know that having a committed workforce means we can deliver 
better customer service and therefore retaining our best employees  
is important to us.

Managing Risk and Reputation 3 Controls, risk and compliance We monitor the levels of risk we take on and the quality of the  
control environment within the business to manage our exposure to 
unforeseen losses.

Transformation 4 Voyager delivery
5 Cost reduction programme

We need to be prepared for future challenging conditions. The business 
needs to deliver a modern systems platform (Voyager project) to meet the 
Society’s and its members’ future needs. We also need to ensure our cost 
base is efficient by delivering our cost reduction programme.

Financial 6 Underlying pre tax profit
7 Return on capital
8 Non interest income
9 Retail net receipts
10 Underlying cost and income ratio

As a mutual we manage our costs and the amount of income we generate 
very carefully in order to make enough money to ensure the continuing 
financial strength of the Society. Return on capital informs us about 
whether we are growing profitably and maintaining the financial security 
we offer our members and investors.
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Charitable and  
political donations
Results for the year include charitable 
donations of £4,473,993 (2008: 
£2,448,191) including £2,055,000  
(2008: £2,000,000) to the Nationwide 
Foundation, a report on which is given  
on page 37. No contributions were made 
for political purposes. However, as a result 
of the Political Parties, Elections and 
Referendums Act 2000 time allowed to 
employees to carry out civic duties can 
amount to a donation. The Group 
supports a very small number of 
employees in this way.

Creditor payment policy
The Group’s policy is to agree the terms  
of payment with suppliers at the start of 
trading, ensure that suppliers are aware  
of the terms of payment and pay in 
accordance with its contractual and other 
legal obligations. The Group’s policy is  
to settle the supplier’s invoice for the 
complete provision of goods and services 
(unless there is an express provision  
for stage payments), when in full 
conformity with the terms and  
conditions of the purchase, within the 
agreed payment terms. 

The Society’s creditor days were 21 days 
at 4 April 2009 (2008: 18 days).

Risk management
The Group seeks to manage all the risks 
that arise from its activities. There is a 
formal structure for monitoring and 
managing risk across the Group 
comprising a risk appetite agreed by  
the Board, detailed risk management 
policies, and independent governance 
and oversight risk. 

The financial management objectives  
and policies of the Group are shown in  
the Business Review on pages 9 to 30  
and in note 46 on pages 99 to 113.

As a result of its normal business  
activities, the Group is exposed to  
a variety of risks, the most significant  
of which are:

Credit risk;•	

Liquidity and funding risk;•	

Market risk;•	

Operational risk;•	

Business risk;•	

Tax risk.•	

The Group has established a number  
of committees and policies to manage 
these risks. These are set out in the Risk 
Management and Control Section of the 
Business Review on pages 23 to 30.

In addition to these financial risks the 
Group is exposed to the effects of the 
economic cycle, particularly relating  
to the UK residential housing market, and 
the competitive nature of the UK personal 
financial services markets in which we 
operate. These are discussed in the  
Chief Executive’s Review on pages 6 to 8.

Employees
During the financial year the Society  
has maintained and developed systems 
for the provision of information to 
employees. The Employee Involvement 
Committee, chaired by the Group 
Development Director, and its sub-
committees act as forums where 
representatives from the business and 
the Union consult and share information 
on a range of business and employment 
issues. The Society has continued to 
consult actively with the Nationwide 
Group Staff Union. In addition, meetings, 
team briefings, circulars, newsletters and 
the Society’s intranet ensure employees 
are aware of the Society’s performance 
and objectives and the business 
environment in which it operates.

It is the Society’s policy to afford access  
to training, career development and 
promotion opportunities equally to all 
employees regardless of their race, creed, 
sex, marital status, age, physical or 
mental disability. Should employees 
become disabled, it is the Society’s policy 
to continue their employment where 
possible with appropriate training and 
redeployment where necessary.

Directors’ responsibilities  
in respect of the preparation 
of the Annual Accounts
This statement, which should be read  
in conjunction with the Independent 
Auditors’ Report on page 51, is made  
by the directors to explain their 
responsibilities in relation to the 
preparation of the Annual Accounts,  
the directors’ emoluments disclosures 
within the Report of the Directors on 
Remuneration, the Annual Business 
Statement and the Directors’ Report.

The directors are required by the Building 
Societies Act 1986 (the Act) to prepare, 
for each financial year, Annual Accounts 
which give a true and fair view of the 
income and expenditure of the Society 
and the Group for the financial year and 
of the state of the affairs of the Society 
and the Group as at the end of the 
financial year, and which provide details 
of directors’ emoluments in accordance 
with Part VIII of the Act and regulations 
made under it. The Act states that 
references to IAS accounts giving a true 
and fair view are references to their 
achieving a fair presentation.  
In preparing those Annual Accounts,  
the directors are required to: 

select appropriate accounting policies •	
and apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that •	
are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable accounting •	
standards have been followed,  
subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the  
Annual Accounts; and 

prepare the Annual Accounts on  •	
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the  
Group will continue in business.

The directors are also required by the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority to include a 
management report containing a fair 
review of the business and a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group.

In addition to the Annual Accounts, the 
Act requires the directors to prepare, for 
each financial year, an Annual Business 
Statement and a Directors’ Report, each 
containing prescribed information 
relating to the business of the Society  
and its connected undertakings.

A copy of the Annual Accounts is placed 
on Nationwide Building Society’s website. 
The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of statutory 
and audited information on the website. 
Information published on the internet  
is accessible in many countries with 
different legal requirements. Legislation  
in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of  
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Directors’ statement 
pursuant to the Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules
The directors confirm that, to the best  
of each person’s knowledge and belief:

the financial statements, prepared in •	
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit of the Group and Society; and

the management report contained in •	
the Business Review includes a fair 
review of the development and 
performance of the business and the 
position of the Group and Society, 
together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face.

Directors’ responsibilities  
in respect of Accounting 
Records and Internal Control
The directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the Society and its connected 
undertakings:

keep accounting records which disclose •	
with reasonable accuracy the financial 
position of the Society and the Group  
and which enable them to ensure that 
the Annual Accounts comply with the 
Act; and

establish and maintain systems of •	
control of its business and records,  
and of inspection and report.

The directors have general responsibility 
for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors who held office at the  
date of approval of this directors’ report 
confirm that, so far as they are each 
aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Group’s  
auditors are unaware; and each director 
has taken all the steps that they ought  
to have taken as directors to make 
themselves aware of any relevant  
audit information and to establish  
that the Group’s auditors are aware  
of that information.

Directors’ responsibilities  
in respect of going concern
In preparing the financial statements  
the directors must satisfy themselves  

that it is reasonable for them to conclude 
it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis.

The Group meets its day to day liquidity 
requirements through managing both its 
retail and wholesale funding sources and 
is required to maintain a sufficient buffer 
over regulatory capital requirements in 
order to continue to be authorised to  
carry on its business.

The Group’s business activities,  
together with the factors likely to affect 
its future development, performance  
and position are set out in the Chief 
Executive’s Review on page 6 to 8.  
The financial position of the Group, its  
capital structure and risk management 
and control processes for managing 
exposure to credit, market, liquidity and  
operational risk are described in the 
Business Review on pages 9 to 30.  
In addition, note 46 to the financial 
statements includes further information 
on the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for managing its exposure to 
liquidity, credit and interest rate risk, 
details of its financial instruments  
and hedging activities.

The Group’s forecasts and projections, 
taking account of possible changes in 
trading performance and funding 
retention, and including stress testing 
and scenario analysis, show that the 
Group will be able to operate at adequate 
levels of both liquidity and capital for the 
foreseeable future. Furthermore the 
Group’s capital ratio is comfortably in 
excess of the FSA requirement.

After making enquiries the directors are 
satisfied that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future and that, therefore,  
it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the  
Annual Accounts.

Directors
The following served as directors  
of the Society during the year:

G M T Howe MA (Cantab)  
(Chairman)

W Tudor John MA (Cantab), D.L.  
(Joint Deputy Chairman) 

R P Walther MA, FIA  
(Joint Deputy Chairman)

G J Beale BSc, ACA  
(Chief Executive Officer)

S D M Bernau BSc (Econ), FCIB, MCT  
(Group Product and Marketing Director)

T P Prestedge  
(Group Development Director) 

M M Rennison BA, FCA  
(Group Finance Director) 

D J Rigney ACMA, MBA  
(Group Operations Director)

J A Sutherland MA, MBA, FCIB, Dip FS  
(Sales & Marketing Director)  
(Resigned from the Board 3 September 2008)

M P V Wyles ACII  
(Group Distribution Director) 

Mrs S J David MA (Cantab) 

Mrs S C Ellen BSc

M K Jary MA (Oxon), MBA 
(Appointed to the Board 1 January 2009)

K Loosemore  
(Appointed to the Board 1 January 2009)

M P Nicholls MA (Cantab), MBA

D A Ross BSc, LLB, FCA, ACMA,  
CTA (Fellow), FCT 

Ms S Taverne 

S D M Bernau, Mrs S C Ellen, T P 
Prestedge, Ms S Taverne, W Tudor John,  
R P Walther, M K Jary and K Loosemore 
will retire from the Board at the Annual 
General Meeting on 16 July 2009. T P 
Prestedge, Ms S Taverne, W Tudor John 
and R P Walther will stand for re-election 
and M K Jary and K Loosemore will  
stand for election. 

Subsequent to the year end C Rhodes 
was appointed to the Board on 20 April 
2009 as Group Product and Marketing 
Director. Chris Rhodes brings a wealth  
of experience with him, having spent 20 
years working in the banking sector, most 
recently as Group Finance Director with 
the Alliance and Leicester (A&L) Group 
and prior to that Managing Director Retail 
Banking of A&L (Santander) Group.

None of the directors has any beneficial 
interest in shares in, or debentures  
of, any connected undertaking  
of the Society.

The auditors
A resolution to re-appoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as  
auditors will be proposed at the  
Annual General Meeting.

G M T Howe  
Chairman  
26 May 2009
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The Board and its committees
The Board focuses on formulation of 
strategy, control and review of business 
performance, with day to day 
responsibility for management of the 
business delegated to the Chief Executive, 
supported by the Executive Directors’ 
Committee and a series of management 
and risk committees. The non executive 
directors are responsible for bringing 
independent judgement to discussions 
held by the Board, using their breadth  
of experience and understanding of the 
business to provide an effective challenge. 
Nationwide’s High Level Business Control 
Manual sets out Board members’ 
individual responsibilities, the governance 
and management structure and 
delegated authorities. The Board’s  
Terms of Reference are available at  
www.nationwide.co.uk and include a 
number of specific matters reserved to 
the Board. The principal matters reserved 
to the Board are summarised below.

The Board has three principal 
Committees, all of whose members  
are non executive directors:

The Audit Committee is responsible for 
reviewing the effectiveness of risk 
management and control. Its activities  
in the year are set out on page 45.

The Remuneration Committee determines 
and agrees with the Board the framework 
for the remuneration of Nationwide’s 
Chief Executive, Chairman, the Executive 
Directors, the Secretary and the Divisional 
Directors. Its activities in the year are set 
out in the Report of the Directors on 
Remuneration on pages 46 to 50.

The Nomination Committee is responsible 
for reviewing the structure, size and 
composition required of the Board and 
making recommendations to the Board 
with regard to any changes.

The terms of reference of these 
committees are available at  
www.nationwide.co.uk.

Board appointments  
and re-election
Following recommendation by the 
Nomination Committee, Michael Jary  
and Kevin Loosemore joined the Board as 
non executive directors in January 2009 
and Chris Rhodes joined the Board as  
an executive director in April 2009.

Members of the Society have the right 
under the Society’s Rules to nominate 
candidates for election to the Board.  
All directors must meet the tests of 
fitness and propriety laid down by the 
FSA and are required to be registered 

with the FSA as an ‘approved person’  
in order to fulfil their ‘controlled  
function’ as a director.

The Society’s Rules require that all 
directors are submitted for election at  
the AGM following their first appointment 
to the Board, except where their 
appointment occurs during the period 
starting with the beginning of the 
Society’s financial year and ending with 
the AGM itself, in which case they must 
seek election at the AGM in the following 
year. All directors are required to seek 
re-election every three years. 

Information and 
professional development
On appointment, a tailored induction 
programme is arranged for each new 
director which includes a series of 
meetings with other directors and senior 
management as well as provision of key 
information about Nationwide. Any 
training or development needs are 
identified during this process and in the 
course of subsequent annual evaluations 
of the Board’s and individual director’s 
performance and effectiveness. 

Board membership  
and independence
At the financial year end, the Board 
comprised six executive directors  
and ten non executive directors.  
In recommending appointments to the 
Board, the Nomination Committee has 
considered the mix of relevant skills  
and experience of both the executive  
and non executive directors. 

The following table sets out Board 
changes during the year and expected 
changes up to the date of the Society’s 
Annual General Meeting in July 2009.

Following these changes, the Board  
will have a balance of six executive and 
nine non executive directors (including  
the Chairman).

All Board members have access to 
independent, professional advice and the 
benefit of appropriate liability insurance, 
both at the Society’s expense. 

Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Good corporate governance is essential to the Board’s commitment to running Nationwide’s 
business in the best interests of its members. This report provides members with information 
on Nationwide’s corporate governance framework, based on the principles and provisions of 
the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’). The Board considers that the 
Society complies with the BSA Guidance for Building Societies on the Code. 

Strategy and management, including •	
long term objectives, oversight of 
operations and review of performance;

Structure, capital and funding;•	

Approval of financial statements  •	
and any significant changes in 
accounting policy;

Ensuring maintenance of a sound •	
system of internal control and  
risk management, and approval  
of the Group’s risk appetite and  
policy statement;

Approval of major projects  •	
and contracts;

Approval of major lending proposals;•	

Approval of resolutions to be put •	
forward to members at a general 
meeting, and of circulars and  
listing particulars;

Changes to the structure, size and •	
composition of the Board, succession 
planning for the Board, appointment  
of Board members and remuneration 
policy for directors;

Appointment of the external auditor;•	

Approval of terms of reference for  •	
Board Committees, review of corporate 
governance arrangements and reviewing 
the performance of the Board, its 
committees, and individual directors.

Principal matters reserved to the Board
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Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance
continued

The Board considers that all its non 
executive directors are independent  
in accordance with the criteria set out  
in the Code.

Board activities in the year
During the year the Board held ten 
regular meetings, and in addition five 
special Board meetings were called to 
consider and finalise the terms of the 
proposed mergers with the Derbyshire 
Building Society and the Cheshire 
Building Society, and the acquisition of 
certain assets, liabilities and operations  
of the Dunfermline Building Society.

At its scheduled meetings the matters 
considered by the Board included:

Regular reports from the Chief Executive •	
and Group Finance Director including 
financial overviews and updates  
on funding and liquidity;

Strategy papers from a variety of •	
business areas, reporting on key  
business priorities and progress;

The economic and market conditions  •	
and outlook;

Regular reports on Group Risk,  •	
including policy limits and statements;

Regulatory and capital updates;•	

Minutes and reports from the Audit •	
Committee, Remuneration Committee 
and Nomination Committee.

Performance evaluation
During the year the Board conducted a 
formally documented annual evaluation  
of its performance and effectiveness, led 
by the Chairman, following completion  
of a questionnaire by all Board members. 
Details of the Audit Committee’s 

performance evaluation are set out under 
‘Audit Committee and auditors’ following. 

Evaluation of the performance of the 
Chairman was led by one of the Joint 
Deputy Chairmen, based on the views of 
the executive and non executive directors. 
Individual non executive directors were 
evaluated on a one-to-one basis by the 
Chairman. Executive directors were 
evaluated against predetermined 
performance targets for their business 
areas and their own personal 
performance by the Chief Executive, 
whose performance was in turn  
evaluated by the Chairman. 

Risk management  
and internal control
Nationwide’s system of internal control is 
designed to enable the Society to achieve  
its corporate objectives within a managed 
risk profile, not to eliminate risk. The 
principal categories of financial risk 

inherent in the Group’s business are 
described in greater detail in the Business 
Review under the heading Risk 
Management and Control on pages 23 to 
30, together with an explanation of the 
structure adopted within the Group for 
managing financial risk (including the 
roles of the Group Risk Committee, Credit 
Committees and the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee). The management of 
operational risk is overseen by the 
Operational Risk Committee, and 
management of compliance and 
regulatory risk is overseen by the 
Compliance Committee, both of which 
report into the Group Risk Committee.

The Group’s risk appetite and risk 
management policy framework are 
formally approved by the Board on an 
annual basis and reviewed periodically 
during the year as circumstances dictate. 
Performance against risk appetite is 
monitored monthly at the Group Risk 
Committee and reported quarterly to the 

Director Date

Stuart 
Bernau*

Retiring at AGM  
16 July 2009

Sue Ellen Retiring at AGM  
16 July 2009

Michael Jary Appointed  
1 January 2009

Kevin 
Loosemore

Appointed  
1 January 2009

Chris 
Rhodes*

Appointed  
20 April 2009

John 
Sutherland*

Resigned  
3 September 2008

*Executive directors

Director Board Audit 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration
 Committee

G J Beale* 14 (15) - - -

S D M Bernau* 14 (15) - - -

Mrs S J David, Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee

15 (15) - 2 (3) 8 (8)

Mrs S C Ellen 12 (15) 5 (5) - -

G M T Howe, Chairman of the Board 
and the Nomination Committee

15 (15) - 3 (3) -

M K Jary (appointed to the Board  
1 January 2009)

3 (4) - - 2 (2)

K Loosemore (appointed to the 
Board 1 January 2009)

4 (4) 2 (2) - -

M P Nicholls 14 (15) 5 (5) - 8 (8)

T P Prestedge* 15 (15) - - -

M M Rennison* 15 (15) - - -

D J Rigney* 14 (15) - - -

D A Ross, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee

15 (15) 5 (5) - -

J A Sutherland* (Resigned from 
Board 3 September 2008)

5 (5) - - -

Ms S Taverne 15 (15) 5 (5) - 8 (8)

W Tudor John, Joint Deputy 
Chairman 13 (15) - 3 (3) 8 (8)

R P Walther, Joint Deputy Chairman 
and Senior Independent Director

14 (15) - 3 (3) 8 (8)

M P V Wyles* 14 (15) - - -

*Executive directors

Board members, including the Secretary, meet informally prior to each Board meeting thereby 
providing an opportunity for discussion and exchange of information.

Attendance

The attendance of individual Board members, with the number of meetings eligible to 
attend in shown brackets, is set out below:

Board membership  
and independence (cont) 
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Risk management  
and internal control (cont) 
Board, including review of the Group’s 
position by reference to a number of key 
limits in relation to capital position  
and asset quality, mix and concentration.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the 
Board, is responsible for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management and 
internal control processes. Following 
review by the Audit Committee, the  
Board is satisfied that the Society’s 
systems are appropriate and have met the 
requirements of the Combined Code and 
the revised supplementary Turnbull 
guidance throughout the year.

Audit Committee  
and auditors
The Audit Committee comprises five non 
executive directors, and in addition to the 
Committee members its meetings are 
regularly attended by the Chairman of  
the Board, the Chief Executive, the Group 
Finance Director, the Divisional Directors 
responsible for Risk Management and 
Compliance, the Chief Internal Auditor and 
the external auditors. The Audit 
Committee’s Terms of Reference include 
responsibility for review of the financial 
statements, including accounting policies, 
methods and judgements; review of 
internal controls and risk management 
systems including regulatory compliance; 
and maintenance of an appropriate 
relationship with the Society’s external 
auditors. The Terms of Reference can be 
found at www.nationwide.co.uk. 

The Committee held five meetings  
during the year. In order to satisfy itself 
that the risk and control framework is 
operating effectively, the Committee 
members received a range of reports  
and other information. Meetings covered 
matters including: 

Discussion of papers detailing any •	
significant accounting judgements and 
estimates, with particular focus on asset 
valuations and impairment provisions 
including significant assumptions made; 

Detailed review of the interim and year  •	
end financial statements and 
recommending approval by the Board;

Discussion of reports and presentations •	
from business areas on control and 
governance arrangements, and on 
Nationwide’s whistleblowing 
arrangements; 

Approval of the annual plans for  •	
Group Internal Audit and for the 
Compliance function;

Review of regular reports from the  •	
Chief Internal Auditor and Divisional 
Director with responsibility for 
Compliance, setting out the results of 
work carried out, conclusions on the 
effectiveness of the control environment 
and progress made by management in 
addressing any issues raised;

Review and discussion of reports from •	
the external auditors following the 
interim and year end audit process, and 
of Internal Control Reports from the 
external auditors; 

Approval of the audit fee for the  •	
external audit, approval of proposals for 
appointment of the external auditors for 
non-audit work and regular review of 
non-audit fees paid to the external 
auditors. The Committee also formally 
approved the policy for the use of the 
external auditors for non-audit work;

Formal assessments of the  •	
effectiveness of the external audit  
and internal audit functions;

A formal review of the effectiveness of  •	
the Committee, by a detailed review  
of its activities and Terms of Reference 
against published guidance and best 
practice, and analysis of assessment 
questionnaires completed by members 
of the Committee, the Chairman of the 
Board, the Chief Executive, Group 
Finance Director, the external  
auditors and a number of Divisional 
Directors who have attended  
Committee meetings.

The Committee also held private 
discussions with the external auditors, 
Divisional Director Risk Management, 
Divisional Director responsible for 
Compliance, Head of IT Governance, and 
Risk and the Chief Internal Auditor. 

In order to safeguard auditor objectivity 
and independence, the Audit Committee 
has a formal policy for the engagement  
of external auditors for non-audit services. 
This defines permitted services and work 
requiring Audit Committee pre-approval. 
A schedule of fees for non-audit work  
was reviewed by the Committee at  
each meeting.

Relations with members
As a mutual, the Society has a 
membership comprised almost exclusively 
of nearly 15 million individuals, all of whom 
are the Society’s customers. The Society 
actively seeks the views of members in 
various ways. Member TalkBack events 
(both face-to-face and via the internet) 
give members an opportunity to put 
questions or points to a director or senior 
executive. The Member Suggestion 
Scheme enables members to express their 
views on an ongoing basis. A feedback log 
allows employees to record any ad hoc 
comments from members on  
any aspect of the Society’s business.

The Society’s Customer Experience Tracker, 
involving an external accredited research 
company telephoning around 2,750 
members on its behalf every month, 
provides feedback on the Society’s 
customer experience performance. 

In addition, members’ participation in its 
Usability Centre enables the Society to 
obtain developmental input and feedback 
on a range of proposed improvements  
and efficiencies. 

Constructive use of the AGM
Following the mergers, this year the 
Society will send out details of the AGM to 
approximately 8.4 million members who 
are eligible to vote. Members are sent 
voting forms and are encouraged to vote 
or appoint a proxy to vote if they cannot,  
or choose not to, attend the AGM. Voting 
may be by post, in any of the Society’s 
branches, online at www.nationwide.co.uk 
or at the AGM. All votes and all proxy votes 
are counted under independent scrutiny.  
A poll is called in relation to each resolution 
at the AGM and all proxy votes cast are 
included in the published voting results.

At the AGM the Chief Executive will give a 
presentation on the main developments in 
the business and members present will 
have the opportunity to raise questions 
and put forward their views. All members 
of the Board are present at the AGM each 
year (unless exceptional circumstances 
prevent their attendance) and the chairs  
of the Audit and the Remuneration 
Committees are therefore available to 
answer questions.

Geoffrey Howe 
Chairman  
26 May 2009

Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance
continued
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For the year ended 4 April 2009

Report of the Directors on Remuneration

The Remuneration 
Committee 
The remuneration of our most  
senior executives (our Chief Executive, 
executive directors and divisional 
directors) is determined by the Society’s 
Remuneration Committee, whose terms 
of reference are available on the  
Society’s internet site. The Remuneration 
Committee is made-up of non executive 
directors of the Society and the current 
members are Stella David (Chairman  
of the Committee), Suzanna Taverne,  
Robert Walther, William Tudor John,  
Mark Nicholls and Michael Jary. The 
Committee met on eight occasions  
during the year to set and review 
performance targets and decide on  
how we pay our directors. In particular 
the Committee reviewed the following:

Directors’ base pay and performance •	
payments;

Design of performance pay plans  •	
and performance against targets;

The Chairman’s fee;•	

Changing trends in directors’ •	
remuneration in the market place, 
including consideration of the FSA  
Code on Remuneration Practice;

Terms of reference;•	

Employment and contractual terms;  •	
and

Contractual terms for directors who •	
leave the Society.

The Remuneration Committee draws  
on the advice of independent external 
consultants in performing its duties.  
This year the Hay Group and Towers 
Perrin provided independent advice for 
the Committee ensuring that they had  
up to date information on market rates  
of pay and performance pay, best  
practice and remuneration trends in  
the market in general. The Committee  
is also supported by Geoffrey Howe 
(Chairman of the Board), the Divisional 
Director, Human Resources and on 
occasions the Chief Executive, who  
may also be invited to attend Committee 
meetings to provide further background 
information and/or context to assist  
the Committee in their duties. No 
individual is present at a meeting  
when their own pay is decided.

Introduction
Dear Member

I am pleased to present our  
Remuneration Report for 2008/09.
As a mutual, Nationwide is run for the benefit  
of Members. Our principal objective is to create 
more value for Members through competitively 
priced products and excellent service. We wish  
to reward employees fairly, taking into account 
the demands we place upon them. We also want 
to retain and reward those who successfully  
run the Society on our behalf.

2008 witnessed a dramatic change within the 
financial services industry. I believe that now, 
more than ever, we need to ensure that our 
remuneration structures continue to drive the 
achievement of the Society’s objectives. We  
have a strong leadership team and, as our  
results clearly demonstrate, the Society has 
performed well compared with many of its 
historic competitors. 

The key points to be aware of for this financial 
year are as follows:

No payment has been made under the Annual •	
Performance Pay Plan for this year;

A payment has been made under the Medium •	
Term Performance Pay Plan reflecting the 
Society’s consistently strong performance over 
the last 3 financial years. Against the measures 
of the Plan which include pre tax profit plus 
pricing benefit, cost income ratio and customer 
experience measure, we have performed well 
compared with our historic competitors. 
Further information is contained in this report;

You may be aware that the Financial Services •	
Authority (FSA) published a Code on 
Remuneration Practices. Although this does  
not come into force until November 2009,  
we have taken account of its provisions and  
are committed to complying with it. We  
believe that our remuneration structure falls 
within the guidelines on best practice;

The Remuneration Committee is reviewing  •	
the remuneration structures for executive  
pay for 2009/10 and for future years.

Nationwide adopts high standards of corporate 
governance so, although as a mutual we are  
not required to, we provide full details of our 
directors’ remuneration and ask our Members  
to approve the Remuneration Report at the AGM. 
This report includes the key disclosure 
requirements of the Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance and follows market best 
practice in so far as it applies to Nationwide as  
a mutual building society. 

The Remuneration Committee has concluded  
that the executive team has continued to deliver  
a strong performance compared with its 
competitors. The Society continues to deliver 
consistent value to its Members and this report 
reflects fairly the contribution made by the 
leadership team.    

The total emoluments included in the tables  
at the end of this report are audited numbers.  

Mrs S J David
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Our Pay Principles
The Committee is guided by the  
following principles: 

1. Pay will enable the attraction and  
 retention of high quality people;

2. There will be a clear link between    
  performance and reward;

3. Our approach to pay will be  
 simple and uncomplicated; 

4. Levels of remuneration will be  
 determined by reference to the 
 market for similar jobs within the  
 UK financial services sector;

5. Pay will reflect the market but  
 not  drive it.

There are four elements of pay which 
are as follows:

Base Pay;•	

Annual Performance Pay;•	

Medium Term Performance Pay;•	

Benefits.•	
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Performance payments are made if 
targets are met under pre-defined 
group, local and individual performance 
measures. The Committee meets on a 
regular basis to review performance 
against those targets. The maximum 
incentive that could be paid under the 
Annual Performance Pay Plan to the 
Chief Executive is 125% of base pay and 
for other executive directors it is 85%.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
which are used for determining the 
Group performance under the Annual 
Performance Pay Plan are summarised 
in the table in the Directors’ Report  
on page 40. These are the Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) from 
Nationwide’s Corporate Plan. Meeting 
the targets set for these measures 
means that we are performing strongly 
and delivering value to our Members.

In addition, to ensure affordability  
and protect the interests of Members, 
there is an overall performance 
condition in the Plan relating to profit.  
If the profit level falls below a specified 
level, determined in advance by the 
Remuneration Committee, then no 
performance pay will be awarded. For 
2008/09 the profit target has not been 
met, and no payment will be made.

Pay and employment conditions in  
the wider organisation are also taken  
into account in determining executive 
directors’ remuneration.

Base pay is designed to ensure we  
pay around the median market rate  
for the job and our aim is to be neither 
the highest nor the lowest payer.  
The Remuneration Committee  
reviews directors’ pay every year. 
Increases for 2008/09 are shown  
in the tables in this report. 

Base salary

Annual Performance Pay

Report of the Directors on Remuneration
continued

Target pay
Medium Term  
Performance Pay Plan

The Performance Pay awards made to 
directors in 2009 are in respect of 
achievement against the targets over  
the three years from 2006 – 2009.  
The measures are shown below. Each  
of these measures is compared with a 
number of the Society’s competitors.  

There is a balance scorecard of measures 
as follows:

Pre Tax Profit plus Pricing Benefit;•	

Cost Income Ratio;•	

Customer Experience Measure.•	

The maximum incentive that could  
be paid under the Medium Term 
Performance Pay Plan to the Chief 
Executive is 130% of base pay and for 
other executive directors it is 100%.  
The maximum can only be earned if  
the Society outperforms its competitors.  
If performance falls below the minimum 
acceptable levels, then no performance 
pay will be made.

As a strong performance has been 
delivered, compared with the Society’s 
historic competitors, a payment has  
been made. 

Nationwide strongly believes in pay 
for performance. The charts below 
show the split of 2008/09 target 
remuneration between fixed base 
pay and performance pay for the 
Chief Executive and a typical 
executive director.

CEO

Variable: 
Short and 
Medium Term 
Performance  
Pay 61%

Fixed: Base
Pay 39%

EDs

Variable: 
Short and 
Medium Term 
Performance  
Pay 52%

Fixed: Base
Pay 48%

Base pay reflects the size  
of the role and what other 
similar companies would  
pay, as well as reflecting  
the individual’s skills,  
experience and performance.

The Annual Performance  
Pay Plan provides an 
opportunity to reward 
Executive Directors and 
approve challenging 
performance targets for  
the financial year.

The Medium Term Performance  
Pay Plan recognises sustained 
performance and achieving 
challenging financial  
targets over a three year 
performance cycle. A new  
three year performance cycle 
starts each year.
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Report of the Directors on Remuneration
continued

Non executive directors 2009 2008
Society Fees 

(Note 1) 
(Note 2)

£000

Subsidiary Fees

 
£000

Total

£000

Society Fees 
(Note 4)

£000

Subsidiary Fees 
(Note 5)

£000

Total

£000

G M T Howe (Chairman) 250 - 250 187 - 187

Mrs S J David 70 -  70 62 - 62

Ms S C Ellen 57 - 57 26 - 26

M K Jary 13 - 13 - - -

K Loosemore 14 - 14 - - -

M P Nicholls 61 - 61 26 - 26

D A Ross 91 - 91 89 - 89

Ms S Taverne 61 - 61 57 - 57

W Tudor John (Joint Deputy Chairman) 93 - 93 47 - 47

R P Walther (Joint Deputy Chairman) 119 - 119 80 18 98

J G W Agnew - - - 96 - 96

R G Handover - - - 20 - 20

Total 829 - 829 690 18 708

Pension payments to past directors  
in respect of services as directors (Note 3) 381 378

Notes:
1. M K Jary and K Loosemore joined the Board on 1 January 2009. 
2. In addition to his non executive director fees, R P Walther also receives additional fees as Chairman of the Portman and Nationwide Pension Schemes 

(£35,000).
3. These are pension payments in respect of past non executive directors. The Society stopped granting pension rights to non executive directors who joined  

the Board after January 1990.
4. G M T Howe was appointed Chairman 19 July 2007. Ms S C Ellen, W Tudor John and M P Nicholls were appointed to the Board following the merger with the 

Portman Building Society on 28 August 2007 having previously been non executive directors of Portman Building Society. J G W Agnew and R G Handover 
retired from the Board on 19 July 2007. 

5. Subsidiary fees relate to fees payable as a director of Nationwide Life Limited and Nationwide Unit Trust Managers Limited before the sale of the companies  
on 31 January 2008.

Pensions and benefits 
Three executive directors (G J Beale,  
S D M Bernau, D J Rigney) are members  
of the executive section of the Nationwide 
Pension Fund and they have been able to 
accrue a pension of 1/30th of pensionable 
salary for each year of service, up to a 
maximum of two-thirds of pensionable 
salary. Pension entitlements are reduced 
to take account of any entitlement a 
director may have under the Group’s 
funded unregistered pension scheme  
and any elections to restrict pension 
accrual. Two executive directors have 
elected to receive pension allowances  
in compensation for restricting pension 
accrual and details can be found in  
notes to the directors’ remuneration  
tables below.

T P Prestedge is a member of the  
Portman Executive Stakeholder Scheme.

M M Rennison receives payments to 
compensate him for pension benefits  
that he gave up when he left his  

Fees for Non Executive 
Directors
The fees payable to non executive 
directors are set after reviewing the 
responsibilities of the non executive 
directors’ roles compared with roles in 
similar organisations. The Chairman’s  
fee is reviewed and approved by the 
Remuneration Committee. The fees  
of other non executive directors are 
reviewed and approved by the executive 
directors and by the Chairman. 

Non executive directors do not take part 
in any performance pay plans or in any 
pension arrangement.

Fees for non executive directors were 
increased at the beginning of the 
financial year 2008/09 to bring them  
in line with market rates. 

previous employer to join the Society.  
He also receives pension accrual under 
our 1/54th Career Average Revalued 
Earnings Pension Scheme and a monthly 
pension allowance.

M P V Wyles is a member of the executive 
section of the Portman Final Salary 
Scheme and is able to accrue a pension 
of 3% of pensionable salary for each year 
of service, up to a maximum of two-thirds 
of the Scheme earnings cap (currently 
£131,250). He also receives a monthly 
pension allowance.

In addition, executive directors receive 
other benefits including a car allowance, 
healthcare and mortgage allowance.  
All current executive directors have a 
contractual notice period of 12 months.

Audited information
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have 
audited the information contained in  
the three tables immediately below  
on pages 48 to 50.
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Report of the Directors on Remuneration 
continued

Notes:
1. £252,000 of the salary of G J Beale and £30,500 of the salary of D J Rigney has been paid in non pensionable form. G J Beale and D J Rigney receive a pension 

allowance on this non pensionable salary in lieu of an alternative pension benefit.
2. J A Sutherland resigned from the Board on 3 September 2008 and retired from the Society on 31 October 2008. S D M Bernau will retire from the Board on  

16 July 2009 and his remuneration details above reflect his earnings in the year in the normal course of business and not his retirement package, details of 
which will be disclosed in the 2010 report.

3. T P Prestedge and M P V Wyles were appointed to the Board on 28 August 2007.
4. Other pension allowances are the contributions made by the Society in respect of directors’ defined contribution arrangements. T P Prestedge is a member  

of the Portman Executive Stakeholder Scheme to which the Society makes contributions. The director and Society contributions in the tables above and below 
include contributions due but not paid by 4 April 2009.

5. The contractual settlement is made up of salary and performance pay for the balance of the notice period for the departing director, earned Medium Term 
Performance Pay Plan payments (based on the Society’s performance and reduced to take into account that the director left the Society before the end of the 
normal plan cycles) and other payments that the director is entitled to. 

Executive  
Directors Salary

 (Note 1)
(Note 3)

Pension 
allowance

Other 
Pension 

allowances
(Note 4)

Annual 
Performance 

Pay

Benefits Medium  
Term 

Performance 
Pay

Increase 
in accrued 

pension

Total before 
contractual/

other 
settlements

Contractual/
other 

settlements

Total

2008 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

G J Beale 575 78 - 644 25 357 23 1,702 - 1,702

S D M Bernau 400 - - 215  23 206 33 877 - 877

T P Prestedge 179 - 54 114 86 92 - 525 - 525

M M Rennison 400 103 - 315 21 206 23 1,068 - 1,068

D J Rigney 318 12 - 234 24 164 21 773 - 773

J A Sutherland 280 112 - 136 25 144 55 752 - 752

M P V Wyles 185 34 - 118 7 95 2 441 - 441

2,337 339 54 1,776 211 1,264 157 6,138 - 6,138

Executive Directors

Executive  
Directors Salary

 (Note 1)
(Note 2)

Pension 
allowance

Other 
Pension 

allowances
(Note 4)

Annual 
Performance 

Pay

Benefits Medium  
Term 

Performance 
Pay

Increase 
in accrued 

pension

Total before 
contractual/

other 
settlements

Contractual/
other 

settlements
(Note 5)

Total

2009 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

G J Beale 650 101 - - 24 752 23 1,550 - 1,550

S D M Bernau 416 - - -  25 371 24 836 - 836

T P Prestedge 331 - 99 - 26 296 - 752 - 752

M M Rennison 440 108 - - 23 393 8 972 - 972

D J Rigney 350 12 - - 23 312 18 715 - 715

J A Sutherland 170 68 - - 18 - - 256 749 1,005

M P V Wyles 348 67 - - 13 310 5 743 - 743

2,705 356 99 - 152 2,434 78 5,824 749 6,573

The table below shows the remuneration received for the year ended 4 April 2009. 
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Report of the Directors on Remuneration
continued

Executive  
Directors Accrued 

pension at 
4.4.09

Accrued 
pension at 

4.4.08

Transfer value 
at 4.4.09  

(Note 1) 

Transfer  
value at 4.4.08

Change in 
transfer value 

(Note 1)  
(Note 2)

Additional 
pensions 

earned in  
year

Transfer 
value of the 

increase

Directors’ 
contributions 

in year

£000 
(a)

£000 
(b)

£000 
(c)

£000 
(d)

£000 
(c)-(d)

£000 
(e)

£000 
(f)

£000 
(g)

G J Beale 229 206 4,053 2,879 1,174 13 230 28

S D M Bernau 288 264 6,190 5,031 1,159 11 239 29

T P Prestedge - - - - - - - 17

M M Rennison 32 24 550 316 234 7 118 22

D J Rigney 81 63 1,298 746 552 14 232 22

J A Sutherland 103 165 2,850 2,575 275 - - 12

M P V Wyles 44 39 1,108 795 313 5 116 6

Notes:

1. New legislation was introduced from 1 October 2008 which impacted on the way assumptions should be set for transfer value calculations. Under this 
legislation, the Trustees of the Nationwide Pension Fund have the responsibility for setting the assumptions, and on 1 October 2008 the Trustees decided to 
adopt assumptions which increased the value of members’ transfer values. This change in transfer value basis is reflected in the value of the director’s benefits 
as at 4 April 2009. As a result the quoted change in transfer value over the year for each director is a combination of additional benefits having been granted 
to the directors and a modification of the assumptions used from 1 October 2008. For clarity, the directors’ pension entitlements have been valued assuming 
the whole of their benefits are taken in pension form. 

2. J A Sutherland resigned from the Board on 3 September 2008 and retired from the Society on 31 October 2008, and took part of his pension benefits as a 
lump sum of £412,500. His pension at 4 April 2009 in the table above is the reduced pension being paid to him at that date. During the part year up to his 
retirement, he received a pension allowance in exchange for further pension accrual.

Explanations:

(a) and (b) show deferred pension entitlements at 4 April 2009 and 2008 respectively.

(c) is the transfer value of the deferred pension in (a) calculated at 4 April 2009.

(d) is the equivalent transfer value at 4 April 2008 of the deferred pension in (b) on the assumption that the director left service on that date.

(e) is the increase in pension built up during the year recognising the additional service completed and the effect of pay changes in ‘real’ (inflation adjusted) 
terms on the pension already earned at the start of the year.

(f) is the capital value of the pension in (e).

(g) contributions are inclusive of salary sacrifice contributions.

Other Directorships
The Group supports executive directors who wish to take non executive directorships to contribute to industry-wide developments or 
broaden their experience. Directors are entitled to retain any fees they may receive. G J Beale is a director of Visa Europe Limited and 
Visa Europe Services Incorporated for which he has received fees. These fees have been voluntarily assigned to the Group for the year 
end 4 April 2009. D J Rigney is a director of HM Land Registry and has received fees of £18,000.

Mrs S J David
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
26 May 2009

The table below shows the pension benefits accrued for the year ended 4 April 2009.

Executive Directors (continued)
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Independent Auditors’ Report

We have audited the Group and Society 
Annual Accounts of Nationwide Building 
Society for the year ended 4 April 2009 
which comprise the Group and Society 
Income Statements, the Group and 
Society Balance Sheets, the Group and 
Society Statements of Recognised Income 
and Expense, the Group and Society 
Statements of Movements in Reserves, 
the Group and Society Cash Flow 
Statements and the related notes. These 
Annual Accounts have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out 
therein. We have also audited the 
information in the Report of the Directors 
on Remuneration that is described as 
having been audited. 

We have examined the Annual Business 
Statement (other than the details of 
Directors and Officers upon which we  
are not required to report) and the 
Directors’ Report.

Respective responsibilities 
of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for the 
preparation of the Annual Report, 
including the Annual Accounts, the 
Report of the Directors on Remuneration, 
the Annual Business Statement and the 
Directors’ Report in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted 
by the European Union, are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Annual 
Accounts and the part of the Report of 
the Directors on Remuneration to be 
audited in accordance with relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). This report, including the 
opinion, has been prepared for, and only 
for, the Society’s members as a body in 
accordance with Section 78 of the 
Building Societies Act 1986 and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving this 
opinion, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to 
whether the Annual Accounts give a true 
and fair view and whether the Annual 
Accounts and the part of the Report of 
the Directors on Remuneration to be 
audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the Building Societies 
Act 1986, regulations made under it and 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also 
report to you our opinion as to whether 
certain information included within the 
Annual Business Statement gives a true 
representation of the matters in respect 
of which it is given, whether the 
information given in the Directors’ Report 
is consistent with the accounting records 
and the Annual Accounts, and whether 
the Annual Business Statement and the 
Directors’ Report have been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable 
requirements of the Building Societies 
Act 1986 and regulations made under it.

We also report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Annual Accounts are not in agreement 
with the accounting records, or if we have 
not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

We read other information contained in 
the Annual Report and consider whether 
it is consistent with the audited Annual 
Accounts. This other information 
comprises only the Financial Highlights, 
the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief 
Executive’s Review, the Business Review, 
Corporate Responsibility, Nationwide 
Foundation, Board Biographies, the 
remainder of the Report of the Directors 
on Remuneration and the Report of the 
Directors on Corporate Governance.  
We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the Annual Accounts, 
the Annual Business Statement or the 
Directors’ Report. Our responsibilities  
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence 
relevant to the amounts and disclosures 
in the Annual Accounts, the Annual 
Business Statement and the part of the 
Report of the Directors on Remuneration 
to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates 
and judgements made by the Directors in 
the preparation of the Annual Accounts, 
and of whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Group’s and 
Society’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit  
so as to obtain all the information and 
explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with 
sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Annual Accounts and 
the part of the Report of the Directors on 
Remuneration to be audited are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error.  
In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the Annual Accounts 
and the part of the report of the Directors 
on Remuneration to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

the Annual Accounts give a true and •	
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union, of the 
state of the Group’s and the Society’s 
affairs at 4 April 2009 and of the 
Group’s and the Society’s income and 
expenditure and cash flows for the year 
then ended;

the information given in the Annual •	
Business Statement (other than the 
information upon which we are not 
required to report) gives a true 
representation of the matters in respect 
of which it is given;

the information given in the Directors’ •	
Report is consistent with the 
accounting records and the Annual 
Accounts; and

the Annual Accounts, the part of  •	
the Report of the Directors on 
Remuneration to be audited, the Annual 
Business Statement and the Directors’ 
Report have each been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable 
requirements of the Building Societies 
Act 1986 and regulations made under  
it and, as regards the Annual Accounts, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and  
Registered Auditors, 
London. 
26 May 2009

To the members of Nationwide Building Society
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Income Statements

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Group Society

Notes
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Interest receivable and similar income  3  9,250  9,701  9,365 9,342

Interest expense and similar charges  4  7,492  7,905  7,941 7,827

Net interest income   1,758  1,796  1,424 1,515

Fee and commission income  5  359  334  336 296

Fee and commission expense  6  (4)  (2)  (3) (2)

Premiums on insurance contracts and fair value gains/losses on 
insurance assets  7  -  142  - -

Income from investments  8  16  25  37 153

Other operating income  9  145  3  149 5

Gains/(losses) from derivatives and hedge accounting 10  10  (31)  11 (32)

Profit on sale of subsidiary undertakings  -  10  - 133

Total income   2,284 2,277  1,954 2,068

Insurance claims and change in insurance liabilities  7  - 101  - -

Total income net of claims on insurance contracts  2,284 2,176  1,954 2,068

Administrative expenses 11  1,252 1,168  1,202 1,085

Depreciation and amortisation  126 124  125 123

Impairment loss on loans and advances to customers 13  394 106  256 57

Provisions for liabilities and charges 34  249 (10)  249 (12)

Impairment losses on investment securities 17  51 102  51 102

Profit before tax  212 686  71 713

Analysed as:    

Profit before tax, FSCS levies, transformation costs  •	
and gains on business combinations   403 745  262 772

FSCS levies•	   (241) -  (241) -

Transformation costs and gains on business combinations•	   50 (59)  50 (59)

Profit before tax   212 686  71 713

Taxation  14  50 191  14 158

Profit after tax  162 495  57 555

Results relating to the acquisition of The Derbyshire, The Cheshire and the Dunfermline building societies are included with effect from the date of 
completion of the acquisitions, 1 December 2008, 15 December 2008 and 30 March 2009 respectively. Results relating to the merger with Portman 
Building Society were included with effect from the date of completion on 28 August 2007.

Transformation costs totalling £107 million relate to the acquisition of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies, core parts of the 
Dunfermline Building Society and other costs relating to the restructuring of parts of our business. Further details of transformation costs are  
given in note 11.

Gains on business combinations totalling £157 million relate to the acquisition of The Cheshire Building Society and core parts of the Dunfermline 
Building Society. Further details are provided in notes 49 and 50.

The accounting policies and notes on pages 57 to 122 form part of these Accounts.
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 Balance Sheets 

At 4 April 2009

Group Society

Notes

2009

£m

2008 
Reclassified 

(Note 1)
£m

2009

£m

2008 
Reclassified 

(Note 1)
£m

Assets

Cash and balances with the Bank of England  8,201  3,353  8,193  3,345

Loans and advances to banks  16  5,040  2,837  4,994  2,777

Investment securities – available for sale  17  21,223  25,486  21,214  25,509

Derivative financial instruments  18  5,861  2,408  2,822  1,230

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk  19  3,408  247  3,408  247

Loans and advances to customers  20  155,482  142,804  135,445  126,046

Investments in equity shares  21  81  61  20  19

Investments in group undertakings  22  -  -  20,981  16,283

Intangible assets  23  211  137  199  125

Property, plant and equipment  24  886  811  876  798

Investment properties  25  9  15  9  12

Accrued income and expenses prepaid  26  743  555  1,805  1,828

Deferred tax assets  27  859  116  779  109

Other assets  357  197  356  154

Total assets  202,361  179,027  201,101  178,482

Liabilities   

Shares  28  128,284  113,816  128,284  113,816

Deposits from banks  29  13,283  11,777  12,450  11,227

Other deposits  30  5,673  4,567  10,888  7,871

Due to customers  31  4,371  3,433  810  732

Debt securities in issue  32  34,794  33,772  32,452  34,026

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk  19  239  -  239  -

Derivative financial instruments  18  5,986  1,201  7,080  1,292

Other liabilities  33  671  751  743  660

Provisions for liabilities and charges  34  271  16  271  16

Accruals and deferred income  35  354  355  363  314

Subordinated liabilities  36  2,233  2,058  2,233  2,058

Subscribed capital  37  1,526  1,245  1,526  1,245

Current tax liabilities   51  (12)  60  (7)

Retirement benefit obligations  38  331  40  331  40

Total liabilities  198,067 173,019  197,730 173,290

General reserve  39  6,234 6,303  5,278 5,452

Revaluation reserve  40  69 121  69 121

Available for sale reserve 41  (2,009) (418)  (1,976) (383)

Cash flow hedge reserve  42  - 2  - 2

Total reserves & liabilities  202,361 179,027  201,101 178,482

The accounting policies and notes on pages 57 to 122 form part of these Accounts.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2009.

G M T Howe Chairman
D A Ross Chairman of Audit Committee
G J Beale Director and Chief Executive
M M Rennison Group Finance Director
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expense

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Group Society

Notes
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Available for sale investments:

Net fair value movements taken to equity  41  (2,216)  (726)  (2,218)  (663)

Amount transferred to income statement  41  4  93  4  93

Revaluation of property plant and equipment  40  (72)  (19)  (72)  (18)

Cash flow hedge amortisation  42  (2)  -  (2)  -

Actuarial (loss)/gain on retirement benefit obligations  38  (321)  61  (321)  61

Taxation on items through reserves  14  731  166  731  163

Net expense recognised directly in reserves  (1,876)  (425)  (1,878)  (364)

Net profit for the year  162  495  57  555

Total recognised income and expense for the year  (1,714)  70  (1,821)  191
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Statements of Movements in Reserves

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Notes

General 
reserve

£m

AFS 
reserve

£m

Revaluation 
reserve

£m

Cashflow 
hedge 

reserve
£m

 Total
£m

At 5 April 2008  6,303  (418)  121  2  6,008

Total recognised income and expense  (69)  (1,591)  (52)  (2)  (1,714)

At 4 April 2009  6,234  (2,009)  69  - 4,294

At 5 April 2007  5,296 41 128 -  5,465

Total recognised income and expense 534  (456) (8) - 70

Acquired on transfer of Portman Building Society 51  697 (3) 8 2 704

Merger related bonus to Portman Building Society members – 
net of tax 39  (231) - - - (231)

Transfers between reserves 7 - (7) - -

At 4 April 2008  6,303 (418) 121 2 6,008

Group Statement of Movements in Reserves 

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Notes

General 
reserve

£m

AFS 
reserve

£m

 Revaluation 
reserve

£m

Cashflow 
hedge 

reserve
£m

 Total
£m

At 5 April 2008  5,452  (383)  121  2  5,192

Total recognised income and expense  (174)  (1,593)  (52)  (2)  (1,821)

At 4 April 2009  5,278  (1,976)  69  -  3,371

At 5 April 2007  4,413  14 128 -  4,555

Total recognised income and expense 593  (394) (8) -  191

Acquired on transfer of Portman Building Society 670 (3) 8 2  677

Merger related bonus to Portman Building Society members – 
net of tax 39  (231) - - - (231)

Transfers between reserves 7 - (7) - -

At 4 April 2008  5,452  (383) 121 2  5,192

The accounting policies and notes on pages 57 to 122 form part of these Accounts.

Society Statement of Movements in Reserves
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Cash Flow Statements

For the year ended 4 April 2009

Group Society

Notes
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 212 686 71 713

Adjustments for:

Non-cash items included in profit before tax•	 48 471 400 377 285

Changes in operating assets•	 48 (11,416) (31,432) (9,565) (32,992)

Changes in operating liabilities•	 48 9,425 40,990 7,974 44,963

Interest paid on subordinated liabilities•	 (102) (87) (102) (87)

Interest paid on subscribed capital•	 (127) (75) (127) (74)

Taxation•	 69 (67) 69 (9)

Net cash flows from operating activities (1,468) 10,415 (1,303) 12,799

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities (14,681) (23,571) (14,681) (23,457)

Sale and maturity of investment securities 18,159 16,260 18,014 14,311

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (205) (179) (203) (178)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 4 21 4 20

Sale of investment properties 2 1 - -

Purchase of intangible assets (61) (39) (61) (39)

Sale of subsidiary undertakings - 289 - 289

Cash and cash equivalents acquired on transfer of engagements and acquisition 2,757 392 2,757 389

Net cash flows from investing activities 5,975 (6,826) 5,830 (8,665)

Cash flows from financing activities

Maturity of subordinated liabilities (325) - (325) -

Net cash flows from financing activities (325) - (325) -

Net increase in cash 4,182 3,589 4,202 4,134

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 9,212 5,623 9,143 5,009

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 48 13,394 9,212 13,345 9,143

Cash balances transferred into the Group and Society include £1,202 million of cash and cash equivalents acquired on the transfer of business from The 
Derbyshire, The Cheshire and the Dunfermline building societies during the year.
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Notes to the Accounts 

1. Statement of Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the European Union and with those parts of the Building Societies 
(Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1998 (as amended) applicable to organisations reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of investment properties, land and buildings, available for sale assets 
and derivatives. A summary of the Group’s accounting policies is set out below. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately 
may differ from those estimates. Further details on critical accounting estimates are given in note 2.

Business combinations 
On 1 December 2008 and 15 December 2008, the Society merged with The Derbyshire Building Society and The Cheshire Building Society respectively, 
with The Derbyshire and The Cheshire transferring their engagements to the Society. Furthermore on 30 March 2009 the Society acquired core parts 
of the Dunfermline Building Society. 

These business combinations have been accounted for following the requirements of IFRS 3 (2008 Revised): Business Combinations. The revised 
standard, while approved by the IASB and available for early adoption globally, is yet to be endorsed by the EU. In the absence of any other directly 
applicable GAAP IFRS 3 (2008 Revised) has been applied in accordance with the principles applicable to selection of accounting policies laid out in IAS 
8. The revised standard extends its scope to mutual organisations and applies the acquisition method to business combinations which has resulted in 
some significant prospective changes to the Group’s accounting policies. For example, all assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets 
which may not have been recognised by the acquiree, have been measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 

The consideration transferred is valued by reference to the members’ interests acquired, and additionally for Dunfermline, the consideration receivable 
from HM Treasury. Financial assets and liabilities which, following the Group’s accounting policies, would be carried at amortised cost, are brought on 
to the balance sheet at their fair value at acquisition and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
income statement includes the results of the engagements transferred from The Derbyshire, The Cheshire and the Dunfermline since the respective 
dates of acquisition, 1 December 2008, 15 December 2008 and 30 March 2009. Details of the combinations are given in notes 49 and 50.

On 28 August 2007, the Society merged with Portman Building Society, with Portman transferring its engagements to the Society. The transfer of 
engagements was not accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ as the standard at that time specifically excluded business 
combinations involving two mutual entities. IFRS 3 (2008 Revised) was not available at the time of the Portman merger. The assets and liabilities 
acquired on transfer of engagements from Portman Building Society were incorporated at their carrying values in the Portman cessation accounts, 
adjusted to reflect the Group’s accounting policies. Details of the transfer are given in note 51. 

Basis of consolidation 
The Group accounts consolidate the assets, liabilities and results of the Society and all its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are all entities, including special purpose entities, over which the Society has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
generally. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are de-consolidated from the date that 
control ceases. Upon consolidation, inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated. 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the Society Accounts at cost less provisions for any impairment in value. The Directors consider it 
appropriate for administrative and commercial reasons that subsidiary undertakings have financial years ending on 31 March. Certain special purpose 
entities have year ends other than 31 March and are consolidated using internal management accounts prepared to that date. Adjustment is made for 
individually significant transactions arising between 31 March and the Society’s year end. 

As the consolidated accounts include partnerships where a Group member is a partner, advantage is taken of the exemption given by Regulation 7 of 
the Partnerships and Unlimited Companies (Accounts) Regulations 1993 with regard to the preparation and filing of individual partnership accounts.

The following IFRS and IFRIC pronouncements relevant to the Group have been adopted:

IFRS 3 (Revised 2008) ‘Business Combinations’. The revised standard while approved by the IASB and available for early adoption globally is yet •	
to be endorsed by the EU, but, in accordance with the principles of IAS 8, in the absence of any other directly applicable GAAP has been applied 
for the acquisitions of The Derbyshire, The Cheshire and Dunfermline. 

IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19: The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirement and their interaction’. This interpretation provides guidance •	
on the availability of refunds or reductions in future contributions in the recognition of a defined benefit asset. It also specifies how a minimum 
funding requirement could give rise to a further liability. IFRIC 14 had no impact on the results to 4 April 2009.

Amendment to IAS 39 & IFRS 7 ‘Reclassification of Financial Instruments (updated)’. The amendment permits reclassification of certain •	
non-derivative financial assets out of the fair value through profit and loss category in particular circumstances. The amendment also permits an 
entity to transfer from the available for sale category to the loans and receivables category a financial asset that would have met the definition of 
loans and receivables (if the financial asset had not been designated as available for sale), if the entity has the intention and ability to hold that 
financial asset for the foreseeable future. The Group has not applied any of the reclassification options available in this amendment.
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Notes to the Accounts 
continued 

Pronouncement  Nature of change Effective date

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (Revised) 

This will revise the presentation of financial statements including a single 
statement of comprehensive income or a separate income statement and a 
statement of comprehensive income with a statement of movements in reserves. 
Adopting this change would only result in a presentational change to the 
financial statements. There will be no change in the recognition, measurement 
or disclosure of transactions and events.

Annual Periods (AP) 
beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

IFRS 8 Operating Segments Replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting and requires the reporting of information 
on operating segments based on how financial information is reported and 
evaluated internally. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Revised) Relates to interest costs on assets that take a substantial time to get ready for 
intended use or sale. The option to recognise all borrowing costs immediately 
as an expense is eliminated, such costs must be capitalised. All other borrowing 
costs should be expensed as incurred. The Group is currently assessing the 
impact of this amendment with particular focus on the Group’s ongoing 
investment in systems and infrastructure.

AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements – puttable 
financial instruments and obligations 
arising on liquidations (Amended)

This amendment requires some puttable financial instruments and some 
financial instruments that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to 
another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation 
to be classified as equity (currently would be classified as financial liabilities). 
Nationwide holds no such instruments.

AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

Improvements to IFRSs
(May 2008)

Several small amendments with no significant impact for the Society. AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes Addresses accounting by entities who grant customer loyalty award credits to 
customers as part of sales transactions which can be redeemed in the future 
for free or discounted goods or services. The Group is currently investigating 
the impact of this pronouncement. It is expected the pronouncement will only 
be applicable to the Nationwide cash reward credit card. The impact is not 
expected to be material.

AP beginning on or after  
1 July 2008

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 

Future Accounting Developments 
The following pronouncements will be relevant to the Group but were not effective at 4 April 2009 and have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. The full impact of these accounting changes is being assessed by the Group; however, the initial view is that these 
pronouncements are not expected to cause any significant impact on the Group Accounts other than as noted in the following tables.

The following pronouncements have been adopted by the European Union (EU) but are not yet effective:
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 

Pronouncement Nature of change Effective date

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements

The amendment requires the effects of all transactions with non controlling  
interests to be recorded in equity if there has been no change in control.  
It also specifies the accounting where control is lost. The amendment has no 
impact for the Society.

AP beginning on or after  
1 July 2009

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment  
in foreign operations

The IFRIC applies to an entity that hedges foreign currency risk arising from net 
investments in foreign operations and wishes to qualify for hedge accounting 
in accordance with IAS 39. The Society currently has no such hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations. The IFRIC will thus have no significant 
impact for the Society.

AP beginning on or after  
1 October 2008

Amendment to IAS 39: Eligible  
Hedged Items

The amendment clarifies how existing principles underlying hedge accounting 
should be applied in two particular situations:
a) one sided risk in a hedged item; and
b) inflation in a financial hedged item.
The amendment has no significant impact for the Society.

AP beginning on or after  
1 July 2009

IFRS 7 Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies and enhances disclosures about fair value 
measurements and the liquidity risk of financial instruments. We expect 
the amendment will result in further changes and enhancements to the risk 
disclosures provided in note 46. We have already adopted elements of the 
enhanced disclosure in note 46 in response to the original exposure draft.

AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2009

IFRIC 9 & IAS 39 Embedded Derivatives Clarifies that, on reclassification, an entity would be required to assess  
whether an embedded derivative would have to be separately accounted  
for under IAS 39.

This amendment will have no impact for the Society.

AP ending on or after  
30 June 2009

Improvements to IFRS’s (April 2009) Several small amendments with no significant impact for the Society. AP beginning on or after  
1 January 2010

The following pronouncements are neither adopted by the EU nor effective for this financial year:

Prior year reclassification
A short term deposit of £2,947 million at 4 April 2008 has been re-classified from loans and advances to banks to be included in cash and balances 
with the Bank of England on the balance sheet date. This change does not affect total assets or total cash and cash equivalents. The consequential 
change is to the cash and cash equivalents analysis in the notes to the cash flow statement (note 48) and the analysis of loans and advances to banks 
(note 16). 

This change has been made to give greater clarity, as under the new treatment all short term cash balances with the Bank of England are identified as 
such, which management believe is more relevant than the previous treatment of splitting those deposits for regulatory and other such requirements 
and those deposited solely for operational reasons. 

Interest receivable and interest expense
For instruments measured at amortised cost the effective interest method is used. The effective interest rate method is used to measure the carrying 
value of a financial asset or a liability and to allocate associated interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate,  
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

In calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, early 
redemption penalty charges) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees received and paid and costs borne that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate and all other premiums or discounts above or below market rates.

Interest income on available for sale assets, derivatives and other financial assets at fair value through the income statement is included in interest 
receivable and similar income. Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, 
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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Fees and commissions
Fees and costs which are directly attributable and incremental to generating a financial instrument are deferred and spread as interest receivable  
or expense on an effective interest basis.

Other fees and commissions are recognised on the accruals basis as services are provided, or on the performance of a significant act.

Segmental reporting
A business segment is defined as a group of assets and operations providing products and services that are subject to different risks and returns from 
those of other business segments. The Group considers that business segments are its primary reporting format for segment analysis. Business 
segments are based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structures.

No segmental analysis is presented on geographical lines because substantially all of the Group’s activities are in the United Kingdom, the Isle of Man and 
the Republic of Ireland.

Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

 Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets (including the fair value of contingent liabilities) of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions is included as an 
intangible asset. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The impairment test compares 
the carrying value of goodwill to the underlying associated asset value in use. If the carrying value exceeds the value in use, goodwill is considered 
impaired. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

 A bargain purchase resulting in negative goodwill arises when the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired exceeds the cost of an acquisition. 
Negative goodwill is recognised as a gain in the income statement.

(b) Software

 IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ requires the capitalisation of certain expenditure relating to software development costs. Software development costs are 
capitalised if it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits. Costs incurred to establish technological feasibility  
or to maintain existing levels of performance are recognised as an expense.

 Web development costs are capitalised where the expenditure is incurred on developing an income generating website.

 Where software costs are capitalised, they are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives (3 to 10 years).  
The amortisation periods used are reviewed annually.

 Computer application software licences are recognised as intangible fixed assets and amortised using the straight line method over their useful lives. 

(c) Other intangibles

 Other intangibles, which largely represents core deposit intangibles acquired by the Group, are amortised using the straight line method over their 
estimated useful life of between 5 and 10 years. The amortisation period is reviewed annually.

Leases
Leases entered into by the Group are primarily operating leases. 

(a) As lessee

 Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee. The Group has entered into 
operating leases for land and buildings. Operating lease payments are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the life of the lease. 

(b) As lessor

 Lease income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight line basis over the life of the lease. 

Taxation including deferred tax
Corporation tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law in each jurisdiction, is recognised as an expense in the period in which profits arise. 
The tax effects of tax losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which these losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted  
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Tax related to fair value re-measurement of available for sale assets, which are charged or credited directly to the available for sale reserve, is also 
credited or charged directly to the available for sale reserve and is subsequently recognised in the income statement together with the deferred  
gain or loss.

Tax related to movements in the valuation of property, which are charged or credited directly to the revaluation reserve, is also credited or charged 
directly to the revaluation reserve. Tax related to actuarial losses or gains on retirement benefit obligations, which are charged or credited directly to the 
general reserve, is also credited or charged directly to the general reserve.

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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Property, plant and equipment 
Freehold and long leasehold properties comprise mainly branches and office buildings. 

Branches and non specialised buildings are stated at revalued amounts, being the fair value, determined by market based evidence, at the date of the 
valuation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment. Valuations are completed annually by independent surveyors.

Increases in the valuations of branches and non specialised buildings are credited to the revaluation reserve except where they reverse decreases for 
the same asset previously recognised in the income statement, in which case the increase in the valuation is recognised in the income statement. 
Decreases in valuations are recognised in the income statement except where they reverse amounts previously credited to the revaluation reserve  
for the same asset, in which case the decrease in valuation is recognised in the revaluation reserve. 

Other property, plant and equipment, including specialised administration buildings and short leasehold buildings, are included at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items, major alterations and 
refurbishments. Where applicable, directly attributable borrowing costs incurred in the construction of qualifying assets are capitalised.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use and is calculated using the straight 
line method to allocate their cost or valuation over the following estimated useful lives:

 Branches and non specialised buildings  60 years 

  Specialised administration buildings 25 to 43 years

  Short leasehold buildings  over the period of the lease

  Other equipment   3 to 10 years

Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted, if appropriate, in the light of technological developments, usage and other relevant factors.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the net disposal proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset and are included in the 
income statement.

Investment properties 
Investment properties, which comprise of properties held for rental, are stated at fair value. The properties are revalued annually by independent 
surveyors supported by market evidence. Changes in fair value are included in the income statement. 

Depreciation is not charged on investment properties. 

Financial liabilities
Borrowings, including shares, deposits, debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue 
proceeds net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs incurred. 

Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is adjusted for the amortisation of any 
transaction costs premiums and discounts. The amortisation is recognised in interest expense and similar charges using the effective interest method.

Permanent Interest Bearing Shares (subscribed capital) are classified as financial liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

Borrowings that are designated as hedged items are subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements described in the derivatives 
and hedge accounting policy note. 

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at inception into the following four categories:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through the income statement

 This category consists of derivative financial assets and those assets designated as financial assets at fair value through the income statement at 
inception, including all mortgage commitments entered into where a loan has not yet been made. The Group does not hold any financial assets 
classified as held for trading.

 Financial assets at fair value through the income statement are carried at fair value. The fair values of derivative instruments are calculated by 
discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market data or valuations obtained from counterparties.

  Gains and losses arising from the changes in the fair values are recognised in the income statement.

(b) Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. The Group’s 
residential and commercial mortgage loans, unsecured lending and loans to banks are classified as loans and receivables.

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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  Loans are recognised when the funds are advanced to customers. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less provisions for impairment.

  Loans and receivables acquired through business combinations have been recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. This fair value at 
acquisition becomes the new amortised cost for acquired loans and receivables.

(c)  Available for sale (AFS)

 AFS assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not classified into either of the two categories above. 

 AFS assets are measured at fair value. Available for sale assets are, in the majority of cases, valued using market prices or prices obtained from 
counterparties. In cases where neither of these is available, discounted cash flow valuation models are used.

 Interest on available for sale assets is determined using the effective interest method (see interest receivable above).

 Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values are recognised directly in the available for sale reserve, except for impairment 
losses, and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in the income statement. Gains and losses arising on the sale of AFS assets, 
including any cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in the available for sale reserve, are recognised in the income statement. 

(d) Investments in equity 

 Investments in equity include certain investments which are held at fair value, with the remainder included at cost. Movements in fair value are 
accounted for through the AFS reserve.

The Group has not classified any financial assets into the held to maturity category.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred.

The impact of hedging on the measurement of financial assets is detailed in the derivatives and hedge accounting policy note.

Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether, as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition, there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired. Evidence of impairment may include:

i) indications that the borrower or group of borrowers are experiencing significant financial difficulty;

ii) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

iii) debt being restructured to reduce the burden on the borrower.

 The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists either individually for assets that are separately significant or individually 
or collectively for assets that are not separately significant. If there is no objective evidence of impairment for an individually assessed asset it is 
included in a group of assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The resultant 
provisions are deducted from the appropriate asset values in the balance sheets.

In the case of commercial loans that are considered individually significant, we assess cash flows on a case-by-case basis considering the  
following factors:

i) our aggregate exposure to the customer;

ii) the viability of the customer’s business model and their capacity to trade successfully out of financial difficulties and generate sufficient cash 
flow to service debt obligations;

iii)  the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;

iv) the likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;

v) the extent of other creditors’ commitments ranking ahead of Nationwide’s, and the likelihood of other creditors continuing to support  
the company;

vi) the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to which legal and insurance 
uncertainties are evident;

vii) the realisable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful repossession;

viii) the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding; and

ix) when available, the secondary market price of the debt.

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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In the case of loans that are not considered individually significant, cash flows are estimated based on past experience combined with our view  
of the future considering the following factors:

i) our aggregate exposure to the customer;

ii) based on the number of days in arrears at the Balance Sheet date, the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages  
of delinquency and ultimately be written off;

iii)  the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;

iv) the realisable value of any security; and

v) the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding.

 The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised the provision is adjusted and the amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

 Where a loan is not recoverable, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment once all the necessary procedures have been 
completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of 
impairment losses recorded in the income statement.

 Loans subject to collective impairment assessment and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due or impaired, 
assuming that there is no change to the total estimated future cash flows, but are treated as new loans after the minimum required number of 
payments under the new arrangements have been received. Loans subject to individual impairment assessment, whose terms have been 
renegotiated, are subject to ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired or are considered to be past due. For all renegotiated 
accounts, the net present value of estimated future cash flows, when discounted at a current market interest rate, does not indicate impairment. 

(b) Available for sale assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired. 
If any such evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and 
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised – is recognised in the income statement.

 A subsequent decline in the fair value of an investment security classified as available for sale is recognised in the income statement when there is 
further objective evidence of impairment as a result of further decreases in the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. Where there is no 
further objective evidence of impairment, the decline in the fair value of the financial asset is recognised directly in the available for sale reserve. If 
the fair value of an investment debt security classified as available for sale increases in a subsequent period, and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the 
income statement to the extent of the increase in fair value.

Derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivatives are entered into to reduce exposures to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates, market indices and credit risk.

(a) Derivative financial instruments

 Derivatives are carried at fair value with movements in fair values recorded in the income statement. Fair values are calculated by discounted cash 
flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market data. All derivatives are classified as assets where their fair value is positive and 
liabilities where their fair value is negative. Where there is the legal ability and intention to settle net, then the derivative is classified as a net asset 
or liability, as appropriate. 

 Where cash collateral is received, to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due to us, it is included as a liability within deposits from banks.  
Where cash collateral is given, to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due from us, it is included as an asset in loans and advances to banks.

(b) Embedded derivatives

 A number of complex contracts contain both a derivative and a non-derivative component, in which case the derivative is termed an embedded 
derivative. If the economic characteristics and risks of embedded derivatives are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the overall 
contract itself is not carried at fair value, the embedded derivative is accounted for separately and reported at fair value with gains and losses being 
recognised in the income statement.

 For derivatives acquired through business combinations, the assessment of whether the contracts are treated as embedded derivatives or not is 
carried out at the acquisition date.

(c) Hedge accounting

 When transactions meet the criteria specified in IAS 39, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting so that changes in the fair value of the 
underlying asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in the income statement to offset the fair value movement of the 
related derivative.

 To qualify for hedge accounting at inception the hedge relationship must be clearly documented. At inception the derivative must be expected  
to be highly effective in offsetting the hedged risk, and effectiveness must be tested throughout the life of the hedge relationship.
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The Group discontinues hedge accounting when:

 i) it is evident from testing that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge;

 ii) the derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised; or

 iii) the underlying item matures or is sold or repaid.

 The Group may also decide to cease hedge accounting even though the hedge relationship continues to be highly effective by ceasing to designate 
the financial instrument as a hedge.

 If the derivative no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative fair value hedging adjustment is amortised over the period to 
maturity of the previously designated hedge relationship. If the underlying item is sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value adjustment is 
immediately reflected in the income statement.

 In a micro hedge, the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted for the change in value of the hedged risk. In the case of a portfolio hedge, the 
adjustment is included in fair value adjustments for hedged risk.

Employee benefits
(a)  Pensions

 The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension arrangements. The majority of the Group’s employees are 
members of the defined benefit plans. A defined benefit plan is one that defines the benefit an employee will receive on retirement, depending on 
such factors as age, length of service and salary.

 The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by the independent actuary using the projected 
unit credit method and assumptions agreed with the Group. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash flows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the 
related pension liability.

 Actuarial gains and losses arise from experience adjustments (the effects of differences between previous actuarial assumptions and what has 
actually occurred) and changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full, in the year they occur, in the statement  
of recognised income and expense.

 The Group also operates defined contribution arrangements. A defined contribution arrangement is one into which the Group and the employee 
pays fixed contributions, without any further obligation to pay further contributions. Payments to defined contribution schemes are charged to the 
income statement as they fall due.

 Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the benefits are conditional on the employees 
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight line basis over 
the vesting period.

(b)  Other post-retirement obligations

 The Group provides post-retirement healthcare to a small number of former employees. The Group recognises this obligation and the actuarial 
gains and losses in a similar manner to the defined benefit pension plans.

(c)  Other long term employee benefits

 The cost of bonuses payable twelve months or more after the end of the year in which they are earned are recognised immediately in the year  
in which the employees render the related service.

(d)  Short term employee benefits

 The cost of short term employee benefits, including wages and salaries, social security costs and healthcare for current employees is recognised  
in the year of service.

Long term life insurance 
(a) Classification of contracts

 Prior to the sale of Nationwide Life the Group issued linked contracts that transferred both insurance risk and financial risk, and term and annuity 
contracts that transferred insurance risk. Contracts that contained significant insurance risk for the Group were accounted for as insurance 
liabilities. Contracts that did not contain significant insurance risk were classified as investment contracts and accounted for as financial liabilities. 
Premiums were recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder. Claims and surrenders were recognised when notified 
and maturities recognised on the policy maturity date.

(b) Recognition and measurement of insurance liabilities

 Premiums on term insurance contracts were recognised as revenue when they become due for payment. Single premiums on linked contracts 
were recognised as revenue when the policy came into force. A liability for contractual benefits that were expected to be incurred in the future was 
recognised when the premiums were recognised. Benefits were accounted for on maturity or when the insured event occurred. The increase or 
decrease in the liability for contractual benefits and benefits paid was included in the income statement. 
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Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the parent undertaking. Items included in the 
financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using their functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rate prevailing at the year end. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation and settlement of these items are recognised in the income statement. 

Exchange differences on equities held at fair value through the income statement are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Fair values are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right  
to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Sale and repurchase agreements (including stock borrowing and lending)
Investment and other securities may be lent or sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them (a ‘repo’). Such securities are retained on the balance 
sheet when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership remain within the Group, and the counterparty liability is included separately on the 
balance sheet as appropriate.

Similarly, where the Group borrows or purchases securities subject to a commitment to resell them (a ‘reverse repo’) but does not acquire the risks  
and rewards of ownership, the transactions are treated as collateralised loans, and the securities are not included in the balance sheet.

The difference between sale and repurchase price is accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method. 

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of 
acquisition, including: cash and non-restricted balances with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to banks, other 
amounts due from banks and short term government securities. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognised where there is a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the obligation will be settled and it can be 
reliably estimated.

Nationwide is committed to contribute to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) to enable the FSCS to meet compensation claims from, 
in particular, retail depositors of failed banks. A provision is recognised to the extent it can be reliably estimated for the obligation which arises from 
occurred bank failures based on information from HM Treasury, forecasted future interest rates and forecasted share of industry protected deposits. 
The ultimate liability for levies payable to the FSCS in respect of those financial institutions which collapsed during the financial year remains uncertain.

Contingent liabilities have not been recognised. 

Assets classified as held for sale and associated liabilities
In accordance with IFRS 5 (non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations), the Group classifies assets and liabilities as held for sale, 
where they will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The assets and liabilities are carried at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell except for financial assets which are included at fair value. 

£6 million of assets classified as held for sale previously shown separately on the 4 April 2008 balance sheet is now included in other assets.  
This change has been made to reflect the insignificant size of this balance. At 4 April 2009 assets classified as held for sale of £2 million are included 
within other assets on the balance sheet.
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2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and critical accounting estimates

The Group has to make judgements in applying its accounting policies which affect the amounts recognised in the accounts. In addition, estimates and 
assumptions are made that could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the following financial year. The most significant areas 
where judgements and estimates are made are as follows:

Impairment provisions on loans and advances
At 4 April 2009 loans and advances to customers totalled £155,233 million (2008: £142,991 million) against which impairment provisions of  
£470 million (2008: £212 million) have been made.

In accordance with the accounting policy on the impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost, where objective evidence exists that a loss has 
been incurred, the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Key assumptions included in the measurement of the incurred loss include data regarding the probability of any account going into default, the 
probability of defaulted accounts progressing to possession and the eventual loss incurred in the event of forced sale or write off. These assumptions are 
based on observed historical data and updated as management considers appropriate to reflect current conditions. The accuracy of the impairment 
provision would therefore be affected by unexpected changes in the above assumptions.

To the extent that actual cash flows differ from that estimated by 10%, the impairment provisions on loans and advances would change by an estimated 
£67 million (2008: £34 million). On our residential mortgage books our estimate of future House Price Index (HPI) movements is also a key assumption. 
To the extent that future HPI movements were to differ from expectations by 5%, the impact on the impairment provision would be £12 million.

Impairment of available for sale assets
At 4 April 2009 the fair value of available for sale assets totalled £21,223 million (2008: £25,486 million). At 4 April 2009 impairment losses of  
£48 million (2008: £102 million) have been charged to the income statement.

The Group determines that available for sale assets are impaired when it is considered that there is objective evidence of impairment. In determining 
whether this evidence exists, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the normal volatility in valuation together with consideration of the 
appropriateness of valuations under the current market conditions, evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector 
performance and operational and financing cash flows. This determination has been supported by rigorous credit assessment, undertaken by Risk 
Management Division, independently of our Treasury Division. Further details on the impairment of available for sale assets are included in note 46.

Fair value of derivatives and available for sale assets
Derivative financial instruments and available for sale assets are stated at fair value.

Derivative financial instruments are valued by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market data or valuations 
obtained from counterparties.

Available for sale assets are, in the majority of cases, valued using market prices or, as markets become inactive, prices obtained from counterparties.  
In cases where market prices or prices obtained from counterparties are not available, discounted cash flow valuation models are used. Changes in the 
assumptions used in the models could affect the reported fair value of available for sale assets. In addition, prices obtained from counterparties in an 
illiquid market are inherently less reliable and therefore careful judgment is required in applying them.

Fair value business combination calculations
The transfer of engagements of The Cheshire and The Derbyshire and the acquisition of core parts of the Dunfermline have been accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 3 (2008 Revised) Business Combinations, with assets and liabilities, including intangible assets not recognised by the societies, 
measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 

The most significant fair value adjustment represents the adjustment made for credit risk and interest rate risk on the acquired mortgage books. 

The credit risk adjustments are based on a number of assumptions with the most significant being the expectation of future house price movements, 
probabilities of default and the discount required in the event of a forced sale.

To the extent that the expectation of future house price movements differ from that estimated by 10% the credit risk adjustment would change by an 
estimated £10 million. To the extent that the estimated probability of default increases by 10% the credit risk adjustment would increase by an estimated  
£19 million and vice versa. To the extent that the discount required in the event of a forced sale increases from that estimated by 10% the credit risk 
adjustment would increase by an estimated £9 million and vice versa.

The interest rate adjustment is dependent upon the discount rate used, which represents the rates available in the market on similar product types at 
the time of the transaction. This rate is adjusted to remove the credit spread inherent in the interest rate, as credit losses have already been accounted 
for through the credit risk adjustment.

To the extent that the discount rate differs from that estimated by 10bps the interest rate adjustment would change by an estimated £19 million.

Similar adjustments apply to the fair value adjustment made in respect of interest rate risk on the acquired savings book. The valuation is similarly 
dependent upon the discount rate used, which is based on the rate available in the market on similar product types at the time of the transaction.

To the extent that the discount rate differs from that estimated by 10bps the interest rate adjustment would change by an estimated £0.7 million.

The acquisition of the Dunfermline occurred just before the year end and fair values are therefore included on a provisional basis. The sensitivities noted 
above therefore do not include calculations relating to the Dunfermline.
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2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and critical accounting estimates (continued)

Retirement benefit obligations (Pensions)
At 4 April 2009 net retirement obligations totalled £331 million (2008: £40 million).

The Group has to make assumptions on the discount rate, expected return on pension plan assets, mortality, inflation and future salary rises when 
valuing its pension liability and the cost of benefits provided. Changes in assumptions could affect the reported liability, service cost and expected 
return on pension plan assets.

The impact of a 0.1% increase in the inflation assumption would be to increase the carrying value of the pension obligations by approximately  
£43 million and vice versa. The impact of a 0.1% increase in the discount rate would be to reduce the value of the pension obligations by approximately  
£48 million and vice versa. Further details on the assumptions used in valuing the retirement benefit obligations can be found in note 38.

Provisions and contingent liabilities 
The Group establishes provisions for the estimated cost of making redress payments to customers in respect of past product sales or other 
administration processes, in those cases where the original processes are found to have been deficient. The ultimate cost is inherently uncertain and  
in determining the level of provisions required it is necessary for management to exercise significant judgement. The principal assumptions underlying 
the provisions relate to the number of cases requiring redress and the estimated average cost of redress per case; these will be affected by external 
factors beyond the control of management, such as regulatory actions and the performance of the financial markets. Therefore, over time, it is possible 
that adjustments will be necessary to the level of provisions held.

As noted in note 45 the UK Office of Fair Trading (OFT) issued High Court legal proceedings against a number of UK financial institutions, including 
Nationwide, to determine the legal status and enforceability of certain of the charges applied to their personal current account customers in relation to 
request for unauthorised overdrafts. Given the uncertainty as to the final outcome of the case no provision in relation to the outcome of this litigation 
has been made.

Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)
The ultimate liability for levies payable to the FSCS in respect of those financial institutions which collapsed during the financial year remains uncertain. 

The amount provided by the Group is the latest estimate of the contribution required in respect of the period of the initial three year loan facility from 
HM Treasury. This contribution is dependent upon the following factors:

Future interest rates;•	

The Group’s share of industry protected deposits; and•	

Finalisation of the principal balance of the HM Treasury loans, including the extent to which the FSCS can recover assets to fund their repayment  •	
and validation of the costs of the accounts transferred to Abbey, ING and Nationwide.

The impact of a 1% increase in the interest rate assumption would be to increase the carrying value of the FSCS provision by approximately £65 million 
and vice versa. The impact of the Group’s share of industry protected deposits increasing by 1% would be to increase the carrying value of the FSCS 
provision by approximately £16 million and vice versa. A decrease in the principal balance of the HM Treasury loans of £100 million would decrease the 
carrying value of the FSCS provision by £1 million and vice versa.

The Group is aware that further fees, in respect of any refinancing after the maturity of the initial 3 year loan facility or any compensation  
payments should the FSCS fail to recover sufficient funds to repay its loans, are possible but has not made any provision for them as they cannot  
be reliably estimated.

Further detail of the FSCS and the provision are included in note 34.

Effective interest rates (EIR)
The Group uses the EIR method to recognise income for certain financial assets (including Retail and Commercial mortgages) held at amortised cost. 
To calculate the appropriate EIR the Group makes assumptions of the expected lives of financial instruments and the anticipated level of early 
redemption charges. The most critical assumption is the anticipated level of early redemption penalty charges.

The impact of a 10% change in the anticipated level of future early redemption charges would result in a change of the value of the loans on the  
balance sheet of £4 million. 

Taxation
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for corporation tax. There are a number of transactions for which the final tax 
determination is uncertain at the balance sheet date.
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Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

On loans fully secured on residential property  6,916 6,547  6,009 5,861

On other loans:   

Connected undertakings•	  - -  710 648

Other•	  1,083 1,045  936 903

On investment securities  1,249 1 , 1 1 1  1,709 984

On other liquid assets  261 247  260 195

Net (expense)/income on financial instruments hedging assets  (410) 609  (410) 609

Expected return on pension assets (note 38)  151 142  151 142

 9,250 9,701  9,365 9,342

Included within interest receivable and similar income is interest accrued on loans 3 or more months in arrears: Group £49 million, Society £20 million 
(2008: Group £21 million, Society £13 million) and the unwind of the discount on the impairment provisions: Group £10 million, Society £10 million 
(2008: Group £6 million, Society £6 million) (note 13).

Interest receivable on loans fully secured on residential property and interest receivable on other loans are net of amortisation of fair value adjustments 
relating to the acquisitions of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies.

3. Interest receivable and similar income

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

On shares held by individuals  4,724 4,964  4,724 4,964

On subscribed capital  85 76  85 76

On deposits and other borrowings:   

Subordinated liabilities•	  93 90  93 90

Connected undertakings•	  - -  727 217

Other•	  1,130 829  980 634

On debt securities in issue  1,376 1,565  1,324 1,534

Foreign exchange differences  4 1  15 4

Net (income)/expense on financial instruments hedging liabilities  (61) 266  (148) 194

Pension interest cost (note 38)  141 114  141 114

 7,492 7,905  7,941 7,827

Interest expense on shares held by individuals includes amortisation of fair value adjustments relating to the acquisitions of The Derbyshire  
and The Cheshire building societies.

4. Interest expense and similar charges

5. Fee and commission income

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Mortgage related fees  24  22  18  17

Banking and savings fees  161  166  161  165

General insurance fees  124  107  108  86

Other fees and commissions  50  39  49  28

 359  334  336  296
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6. Fee and commission expense

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Mortgage related fees  1  -  -  -

Other fees and commissions  3  2  3  2

 4  2  3  2

7. Insurance premiums and insurance claims and change in insurance liabilities

Group
2009

£m
2008

£m

Insurance premiums receivable:

Gross•	  - 165

Reinsurers’ share•	  - (22)

Fair value (losses) on insurance assets  - (1)

Premiums on insurance contracts and fair value gains/losses on insurance assets - 142

Nationwide Group sold its life insurance subsidiary, Nationwide Life on 31 January 2008 to Legal & General. Since the sale, Nationwide has received 
commission income on the sale and renewal of Legal & General insurance products sold by Nationwide. This income is included in fees and commissions 
income (note 5).

Group
2009

£m
2008

£m

Insurance claims paid:

Gross•	 - 171

Reinsurers’ share•	 - (11)

Change in provisions for insurance liabilities:

Gross•	 - (22)

Reinsurers’ share•	 - (37)

Insurance claims and change in insurance liabilities - 101

8. Income from investments

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Income from equity shares  16 25  13 -

Income from shares in subsidiary undertakings  - -  24 153

 16 25  37 153
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9. Other operating income

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Gains on business combinations  157  -  157  -

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  (16)  -  (13)  -

(Loss)/profit on revaluation and sale of investment properties  (6)  1  (5)  -

Rental income from investment properties  -  1  -  -

Other rental income  7  4  7  4

Loss on sale of fixed assets  (3)  (1)  (3)  -

Income from subsidiary undertakings  -  -  1  1

Change in value of in force life insurance contract business  -  (8)  -  -

Other  6  6  5  -

145 3 149 5

The other income from change in value of in force life insurance contract business relates to the former subsidiary Nationwide Life Limited for the 
period up to the sale of the subsidiary to Legal & General on 31 January 2008.

The gains on business combinations comprises £89 million in relation to the acquisition of The Cheshire Building Society and £68 million in relation  
to the acquisition of core parts of the Dunfermline Building Society.

10. Gains/(losses) from derivatives and hedge accounting

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Gains less losses on derivatives:

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges•	  (3,340) (913)  (4,076) (1,017)

Attributable to hedged risk•	  3,213 889  3,916 992

(127) (24) (160) (25)

Other assets and liabilities•	  (146) (51)  (112) (51)

Mortgage pipeline•	  283 44  283 44

 10 (31)  11 (32)

Derivatives are used exclusively to hedge risk exposures and are not used for speculative purposes.

The other derivatives category includes derivatives economically hedging the mortgage pipeline and other assets and liabilities not in an IAS 39 hedge 
accounting relationship.

Given the extreme market and economic conditions during the year, there has been a much greater degree of volatility in the individual elements that 
make up the overall result from derivatives and hedge accounting. At certain points during the year, there has also been much greater volatility in the 
overall result than in previous years and than is apparent from the year end result, including as a result of IAS 39 technical hedge accounting failures.

11. Administrative expenses

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Employee costs:   

Wages and salaries•	  465 431  441 405

Social security costs•	  40 34  38 32

Pension costs (note 38)•	  94 100  91 94

 599 565  570 531

Other administrative expenses  653 603  632 554

 1,252 1,168  1,202 1,085
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11. Administrative expenses (continued)

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Other administrative expenses include:

Property operating lease rental•	  42  36  41  35

Other property costs•	  67  47  65  46

Postage and communications•	  68  61  68  60

Computer costs•	  65  59  65  58

Marketing and advertising•	  23  20  23  20

Money transmission and other bank costs•	  64  55  64  54

Legal and professional•	  25  41  24  34

Training, education and other staff related costs•	  182  126  176  110

Other•	  117  158  106  137

 653  603  632  554

Administrative expenses include £107 million of transformation costs, including £32 million directly relating to business combinations (2008:  
£52 million in respect of the Portman merger), and £2 million relating to the setting up of the new distribution agreement with Legal & General  
(2008: £7 million). Further details are provided in the business combinations notes 49 to 51. The remaining £73 million of transformation costs  
relate to the restructuring of parts of our business. 

Directors’ emoluments are shown as part of the Report of the Directors on Remuneration in accordance with Schedule 10A, paragraphs 1 to 9 to the 
Building Societies Act 1986.

The remuneration of the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is set out below:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Audit fees for the Group and Society statutory audit  1.7  1.3  1.7  1.2

Fees payable for other services:     

Audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation•	  0.4  0.4  -  -

Other services pursuant to legislation•	  0.1  0.1  0.1 0.1

All other services•	  2.7  2.5  2.7  2.5

 4.9  4.3  4.5  3.8

The Group policy in relation to the use of its auditors on non-audit engagements sets out the types of services they are generally precluded from 
performing. All non-audit services, where the fee is expected to exceed a de minimis limit, are subject to pre-approval by the Audit Committee.  
The fee payable for other services includes extra work in respect of the acquisitions of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies and  
acquisition of core parts of Dunfermline (2008: fees relating to the merger with the Portman Building Society).

12. Employees

Group Society
2009 2008 2009 2008

The average number of persons employed during the year was:   

Full-time•	  13,409  12,784  12,701  11,949

Part-time•	  5,526  5,534  5,435  5,347

 18,935  18,318  18,136  17,296

Society   

Central administration•	  9,821 8,469  9,821 8,469

Branches•	  8,315 8,827  8,315 8,827

Subsidiaries  799 1,022  - -

 18,935 18,318  18,136 17,296

Central administration employee numbers include employees engaged in direct customer-facing operations in administrative centres. 

Employee numbers include 734 staff who transferred to the Society from The Derbyshire Building Society, 627 who transferred to the Society from  
The Cheshire Building Society and 534 staff who transferred to the Society from the Dunfermline Building Society. 
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13. Impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers

2009 Loans fully secured on 
residential property

Loans fully secured  
on land Other loans Total

Group
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Total

£m

At 5 April 2008 5 33  6  24 - 144  11  201 212

Charge for the year 62 31 162  7 15 117 239 155 394

Amounts written  
off during the year (9) - (3) - (6) (126) (18) (126) (144)

Amounts recovered 
during the year 1 - - - - 17 1 17 18

Unwind of discount  
of provision - - (4) - - (6) (4) (6) (10)

At 4 April 2009 59 64 161 31 9 146 229 241 470

2009 Loans fully secured on 
residential property

Loans fully secured  
on land Other loans Total

Society
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Total

£m

At 5 April 2008  1  18  6  24  -  77  7  119  126

Charge/(credit)  
for the year  15  (9)  162  7  -  81  177  79  256

Amounts written  
off during the year  (4)  -  (3)  -  -  (80)  (7)  (80)  (87)

Amounts recovered 
during the year  1  -  -  -  -  10  1  10  11

Unwind of discount  
of provision  -  -  (4)  -  -  (6)  (4)  (6)  (10)

At 4 April 2009  13  9  161  31  -  82  174  122  296

2008 Loans fully secured on 
residential property

Loans fully secured  
on land Other loans Total

Group
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Total

£m

At 5 April 2007  2  28  7 24 -  143  9  195  204

Charge/(credit)  
for the year  5  (17)  (4) - -  122  1  105  106

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements  -  22  - - -  -  -  22  22

Amounts written  
off during the year  (3)  -  (1) - -  (129)  (4)  (129)  (133)

Amounts recovered 
during the year  1  -  4 - -  14  5  14  19

Unwind of discount  
of provision  -  -  - - -  (6)  -  (6)  (6)

At 4 April 2008  5  33  6 24 -  144  11  201  212
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13. Impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers (continued)

2008 Loans fully secured  
on residential property

Loans fully secured  
on land Other loans Total

Society
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Individual

£m
Collective

£m
Total 

£m

At 5 April 2007 1 19 7 24 - 71 8 114 122

Charge/(credit)  
for the year - (11) (4) - - 72 (4) 61 57

Acquired on transfer 
of engagements - 10 - - - - - 10 10

Amounts written  
off during the year - - (1) - - (67) (1) (67) (68)

Amounts recovered 
during the year - - 4 - - 7 4 7 11

Unwind of discount  
of provision - - - - - (6) - (6) (6)

At 4 April 2008 1 18 6 24 - 77 7 119 126

These provisions have been deducted from the appropriate asset values in the balance sheet.

14. Taxation

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Current tax:   

UK corporation tax at 28% (2008 - 30%)•	  34 189  2 151

Corporation tax – adjustment in respect of prior years•	  (7) (16)  (6) (11)

 27 173  (4) 140

Overseas income tax  6 11  - -

Total current tax  33 184  (4) 140

Deferred tax (note 27):   

Current year•	  20 (9)  16 6

Adjustment in respect of prior periods•	  (3) 10  2 6

Effect of corporation tax rate change•	  - 6  - 6

Total deferred taxation  17 7  18 18

 50 191  14 158

The Society’s tax charge includes receipts for the surrender of tax losses to subsidiary undertakings totalling £3 million (2008: receipts for the surrender 
of tax losses of £1 million).

Under IFRS, tax on policyholder investment returns is required to be included in the Group’s tax charge rather than being offset against the related 
income. The impact is, therefore, to either increase or decrease profit before tax with a corresponding change in the tax charge. The tax attributable  
to policyholder earnings in the comparative period was a credit of £15 million. Nationwide sold its life insurance subsidiary Nationwide Life on  
31 January 2008.

Further information about deferred tax is presented in note 27. 
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The actual tax charge differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Profit before tax  212  686  71  713

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2008 - 30%)  59  206  20  214

Effect of different tax rates in other countries  (3)  (3)  -  -

Effect of life subsidiary  -  (10)  -  -

(Income)/expenses not taxable/deductible for tax purposes:    

Building depreciation•	  2  2  1  2

Sale of subsidiaries•	  -  (5)  -  (42)

Non taxable dividend received•	  -  -  (5)  (36)

Other•	  2  1  2 19

Adjustments in respect of prior years  (10)  (6)  (4)  (5)

Utilisation of rate change of deferred tax balances  -  6  -  6

 50  191  14  158

The tax on items through reserves are as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Available for sale investments  (621) (177)  (621) (175)

Revaluation of property  (20) (11)  (20) (10)

Actuarial (loss)/gain on retirement benefit obligations  (90) 18  (90) 18

Impact of change in tax rate  - 4 - 4

 (731) (166)  (731) (163)

14. Taxation (continued)

The Group reports through the following three business segments: 

Retail

Mortgages and Savings, which includes the provision of residential mortgages (excluding specialist mortgage lending, see Commercial and •	
Specialist Lending below).

Consumer Finance, which includes credit card, unsecured personal lending and current accounts.•	

Insurance and Investments, which includes general insurance products, life assurance and unit trust products. Other than general insurance,  •	
these products were previously sold through our subsidiaries, Nationwide Life and Nationwide Unit Trust Managers. Following the sale of the 
subsidiaries to Legal & General on 31 January 2008, Nationwide has sold Legal & General insurance and investment products. The products 
continue to be sold via our existing distribution arrangements.

Distribution channels supporting these product divisions.•	

Commercial and Specialist Lending

Commercial lending, which includes all costs and income associated with the Group’s lending to the commercial property sector including •	
Registered Social Landlords. 

Specialist mortgage lending – includes Buy to Let and self-certified mortgages provided by subsidiaries (UCB Home Loans Corporation Ltd,  •	
The Mortgage Works (UK) plc, Derbyshire Home Loans Limited and E-MEX Home Funding Limited).

Group

Treasury group operations and income generation activities.•	

Cost and income associated with managing the Group’s capital position and wholesale funding and liquid asset management of the Group.•	

Items classified as being non-attributable to our core business areas, including rental income and associated property costs surplus to the •	
Society’s retail needs and costs which cannot be meaningfully allocated to a business segment.

15. Segmental reporting
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15. Segmental reporting (continued)

2009

Retail
£m

Commercial 
and Specialist 

Lending
£m

Group
£m

 Consolidation
Adjustments 

£m
Total

£m

Net interest income 921 2,179 (1,342) - 1,758

Revenue from other segments 185 (1,829) 1,644 - -
1,106 350 302 - 1,758

Other income 347 14 155 - 516

Total revenue 1,453 364 457 - 2,274

Administrative expenses 1,031 65 156 - 1,252

Depreciation and amortisation 107 5 14 - 126

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 118 276 - - 394

Provisions for liabilities and charges 8 - - - 8

Impairment losses on investment securities - - 51 - 51

Segment results 189 18 236 - 443

FSCS levies (241)

Gains from derivatives and hedge accounting 10

Profit before tax 212

Taxation 50

Profit after tax 162

Segment assets 242,566 45,924 45,654 (131,873) 202,271

Unallocated assets - - - - 90

Total assets 202,361

Segment liabilities 244,513 46,623 8,629 (102,280) 197,485

Unallocated liabilities - - - - 582

Total liabilities 198,067

Capital expenditure 239 30 8 - 277

Income has been attributed to the business segments in which it is generated. Funding costs have been calculated using a funds transfer pricing 
methodology which reflects the nature of the interest received or paid. The transfer pricing flows are shown as revenues from other segments.

Administrative expenses and depreciation have been allocated to segments based on the resources consumed, except where they cannot be 
meaningfully allocated in which case they have been included in the Group business segment. 

Capital is allocated to each business segment for investment purposes and is based on economic capital principles. No charge has been made for capital.
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15. Segmental reporting (continued)

2008

Retail
£m

Commercial 
and Specialist 

Lending
£m

Group
£m

 Consolidation
Adjustments 

£m
Total

£m

Net interest income 451 1,830 (485) - 1,796

Revenue from other segments 637 (1,504) 867 - -

1,088 326 382 - 1,796

Other income net of claims on insurance contracts 360 11 40 - 411

Total revenue 1,448 337 422 - 2,207

Administrative expenses 980 71 117 - 1,168

Depreciation and amortisation 119 2 3 - 124

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 110 (5) 1 - 106

Provisions for liabilities and charges (10) - - - (10)

Impairment losses on investment securities - - 102 - 102

Segment results 249 269 199 - 717

Losses from derivatives and hedge accounting (31)

Profit before tax 686

Taxation 191

Profit after tax 495

Segment assets 239,768 20,294 35,368 (116,565) 178,865

Unallocated assets - - - - 162

Total assets 179,027

Segment liabilities 241,793 20,931 53,027 (143,163) 172,588

Unallocated liabilities - - - - 431

Total liabilities 173,019

Capital expenditure 236 8 4 - 248

The Group operates predominantly in the UK, the Isle of Man and the Republic of Ireland and accordingly no geographical analysis has been presented.

16. Loans and advances to banks

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Placements with banks with a maturity on acquisition of:    

Accrued interest•	  23  9  20  9

Less than 3 months•	  4,239  2,627  4,201  2,567

More than 3 months but less than 1 year•	  567  4  562  4

More than one year but less than five years•	  38  -  38  -

 4,867  2,640  4,821  2,580

Mandatory reserve deposits with the Bank of England  173  197  173  197

 5,040  2,837  4,994  2,777

A short term deposit of £2,947 million at 4 April 2008 has been reclassified from loans and advances to banks to be included in cash and balances with 
the Bank of England on the balance sheet date. This change has been made to give greater clarity to the cash and balances with the Bank of England and 
reflects industry best practice.

Placements with banks with a maturity on acquisition of less than 3 months are included in the total cash and cash equivalents figure in note 48.

Mandatory reserve deposits with the Bank of England are not available for use in the Group’s day to day operations.
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17. Investment securities – available for sale 

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Government investment securities  4,720 3,348  4,720 3,348

Other public sector investment securities  2,471 600  2,471 600

Private sector investment securities:   

Listed•	  12,877  14,182  12,868  14,205

Unlisted•	  1,155  7,356  1,155  7,356

 21,223  25,486  21,214  25,509

Investment securities have remaining maturities as follows:   

Accrued interest•	  284  191  284  191

In not more than one year•	  3,037  9,830  2,972  9,830

In more than one year•	  17,902  15,465  17,958  15,488

 21,223  25,486  21,214  25,509

During the year an impairment loss of £48 million in Group and Society (2008: Group and Society loss of £102 million) has been recognised in the 
income statement as a result of liquidity issues faced by a number of treasury investment securities. Total impairment losses on investment securities  
of £51 million also include £3 million relating to non AFS investments.

Investment securities included in the table above with a carrying value of £5,795 million (2008: £8,857 million) have been sold under sale and 
repurchase agreements. These assets have not been de-recognised as Nationwide has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.  
The proceeds of all repurchase agreements of £11,054 million (2008: £9,554 million) are included within deposits from banks (note 29). 

Nationwide holds collateral under reverse sale and repurchase agreements with a fair value of £578 million (2008: £1,905 million). These transactions 
are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard stock lending, securities borrowing and reverse repurchase agreements. 
Nationwide is permitted to sell or repledge the assets received as collateral in the absence of their default. Nationwide is obliged to return equivalent 
securities. At 4 April 2009 the fair value of collateral repledged amounted to £546 million (2008: £357 million). Nationwide does not recognise 
securities received under reverse sale and repurchase agreements on the Group and Society balance sheets.

The investment securities portfolio contains some highly liquid instruments which have a life of 3 months or less, these securities are classified as  
cash equivalents in accordance with IAS 7 ‘Cash Flow Statements’. In the Group and Society accounts £931 million (2008: £3,223 million) of investment 
securities are included in the total cash and cash equivalents figure in note 48.

Included within Investment securities are amounts due from two Icelandic banks, Glitnir Bank and Kaupthing, Singer & Friedlander. Both these  
banks were placed in receivership during October 2008. Impairment charges of £12 million relating to these amounts have been included in the  
income statement.
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All derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although not all derivatives are designated as hedging instruments under 
the terms of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The table below analyses derivatives between those designated as hedging 
instruments and those which, whilst in economic hedging relationships, are not designated as hedging instruments:

18. Derivative financial instruments

2009 2008
Contract/ 

notional amount
Fair value Contract/ 

notional amount
         Fair value

£m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m £m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Derivatives held for hedging

a) Society

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps•	 137,045 1,736 5,884 103,915 697 661

Other derivatives

Cross currency interest rate swaps•	 9,833 850 901 9,786 298 439

Caps, collars and floors•	 294 - 5 217 1 -

Forward foreign exchange•	 1,829 90 30 5,957 43 83

Forward rate agreements•	 4,812 1 2 26,821 5 6

Swaptions•	 670 - 34 - - -

Interest rate futures•	 3,997 - 1 5,485 1 -

Interest rate swaps•	 33,266 136 223 45,848 182 101

Credit default swaps•	 169 9 - 206 3 2

191,915 2,822 7,080 198,235 1,230 1,292

b) Subsidiary

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps•	 13,623 850 - 10,435 170 155

Other derivatives

Cross currency interest rate swaps•	 14,594 3,283 - 11,595 1,254 -

Intra – Group swap elimination (18,434) (1,094) (1,094) (10,631) (246) (246)

Group 201,698 5,861 5,986 209,634 2,408 1,201

As described in note 46 Financial Instruments it is common practice for cash collateral to be passed between parties to derivative transactions in order 
to mitigate the market contingent counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding positions. Where cash collateral is received, to mitigate the risk 
inherent in amounts due to us, it is included as a liability within deposits from banks. Where Nationwide provides cash collateral, to mitigate the 
perceived risk inherent in amounts due from us, it is included as an asset in loans and advances to banks.

Group 2009 2008
Contract/ 

notional amount
Fair value Contract/ 

notional amount
         Fair value

£m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m £m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Derivatives have remaining maturities as follows:

In not more than one year•	 97,473 1,601 584 104,506 532 240

In more than one year•	 104,225 4,260 5,402 105,128 1,876 961

201,698 5,861 5,986 209,634 2,408 1,201

Society 2009 2008
Contract/ 

notional amount
Fair value Contract/ 

notional amount
         Fair value

£m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m £m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Derivatives have remaining maturities as follows:

In not more than one year•	 101,232 1,601 1,027 105,392 534 272

In more than one year•	 90,683 1,221 6,053 92,843 696 1,020

191,915 2,822 7,080 198,235 1,230 1,292

Contract/notional amount indicates the amount on which payment flows are derived at the balance sheet date and does not represent amounts at risk. 
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As discussed in the statement of accounting policies, when specific criteria are met, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting. In a micro hedge,  
the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted for the change in the fair value of the hedged risk. In the case of a portfolio hedge, the adjustment  
is included in this heading. The fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk for Group and Society at the year end was assets £3,408 million,  
(2008: Group and Society £247 million) and liabilities £239 million, (2008: Group and Society £nil).

During 2009 interest rates have fallen significantly and this is reflected in the growth of the fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk which 
represents the value of the hedged fixed rate risk in the retail mortgage portfolio. Correspondingly, the fair value of the derivatives hedging the retail 
mortgage portfolio have declined during the year.

19. Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk

20. Loans and advances to customers 

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Loans fully secured on residential property  138,794  127,078  120,927  112,409

Loans fully secured on land  11,750  11,476  11,368  11,355

Other loans  4,219  4,225  2,431  2,257

 154,763  142,779  134,726  126,021

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk  719  25  719  25

 155,482  142,804  135,445  126,046

Under the Building Societies Act 1997, loans to corporate bodies and Registered Social Landlords already existing at the date of adoption may not be 
reported as loans fully secured on residential property. Accordingly, the reported loans fully secured on land include Group £374 million (2008:  
£294 million) of loans which are fully secured on residential property, and Society £252 million (2008: £175 million) of loans which are fully secured  
on residential property. The increase in these loan balances during the year reflects further drawdowns on loans where the original advance was made 
before the date of adoption of the Building Societies Act 1997.

Maturity analysis
Loans and advances to customers have remaining contractual maturities as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Repayable on demand 1,313  1,301 1,178  1,230

Other loans and advances by residual maturity repayable:

In not more than three months•	 1,726  839 1,040 821

In more than three months but not more than one year•	  3,831  3,192 3,371 2,760

In more than one year but not more than five years•	 22,898 19,261 21,235  17,975

In more than five years•	 125,465  118,398 108,198  103,362

155,233  142,991 135,022  126,148

Impairment provision on loans and advances (note 13)  (470) (212)  (296) (126)

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk  719 25  719 24

 155,482  142,804  135,445  126,046

The maturity analysis is produced on the basis that where a loan is repayable by instalments, each such instalment is treated as a separate repayment. 
Arrears are spread across the remaining term of the loan.

The maturity analysis is based on contractual maturity rather than actual redemption levels experienced by the Group or Society, which are likely to be 
materially different.
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21. Investments in equity shares

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April  61  37  19  11

Acquired on transfer of engagements     

Derbyshire•	  1  -  1  -

Movements  19  24  -  8

At 4 April  81  61  20  19

Investments in equity shares include investments of £80 million (2008: £58 million) carried at fair value, the remaining equity investments are 
included at cost.

2009 2008
Assets 

pledged
£m

Secured 
funding

£m

Assets 
pledged

£m

Secured 
funding

£m

Covered bonds 38,130 9,408 18,680 9,356

Securitisations and other secured lending 29,401 1,498 - -

67,531 10,906 18,680 9,356

Pledged assets include those available to Nationwide Covered Bonds LLP, Silverstone Master Trust and other funding vehicles, even where they have 
not yet been used to provide collateral to support external funding transactions. Secured funding disclosed above, however, is that obtained from 
issuance to external counterparties and does not include self issuances that may be used in the future as collateral for repo and other similar type 
operations. As a result, the relationship between pledged assets and secured funding above is not representative of the haircut applied to collateral 
values in determining the available level of funding.

The Society established Nationwide Covered Bonds LLP in November 2005. The LLP provides security for issues of covered bonds made by the Society 
to external counterparties and also for the purpose of creating collateral.

The Society established the Silverstone Master Trust securitisation structure on 16 July 2008. Notes are issued by Silverstone Master Issuer plc 
(Securities 2008 - 1 and 2008 - 2) to the Society, either for the purposes of creating collateral to be used for funding or for subsequent sale of notes to 
investors outside the Group.

All of the assets pledged are retained in the Society’s balance sheet as the Society substantially retains the risks and rewards relating to the loans.

20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Certain loans and advances to customers are used to secure debt securities in issue (funding) as follows:
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22. Investments in group undertakings

Shares
£m

Loans
£m

Total
£m

At 5 April 2008 590 15,693 16,283

Acquired on transfer of engagements

Derbyshire•	 - 2,847 2,847

Cheshire•	 - 1,245 1,245

Additions 55 2,201 2,256

Disposals, redemptions and repayments - (1,650) (1,650)

At 4 April 2009 645 20,336 20,981

*  Regulated entities which are subject to regulations which require them to maintain capital at agreed levels and so governs the availability of funds 
for distribution as dividends.

All the above subsidiary undertakings are limited liability companies except First Nationwide which is an unlimited liability company with share capital.

All of the above companies are registered in England and Wales and operate in the UK except for Nationwide International Limited which is registered 
and operates in the Isle of Man.

The Group has interests in a number of entities which give rise to the risks and rewards that are in substance no different than if they were subsidiary 
undertakings. As a consequence, these entities are consolidated in the Group accounts.

The interests of the Society in these principal entities as at 4 April 2009 are set out below:

The interests of the Society in its principal subsidiary undertakings, all of which are consolidated, as at 4 April 2009 are set out below: 

100% held subsidiary undertakings Nature of business

First Nationwide Investment company

Moulton Finance Overseas BV Investment company

Nationwide International Limited * Offshore deposit taker

Nationwide Investments (No.1) Limited Investment company

Nationwide Syndications Limited Syndicated lending

Nationwide Trust Limited Consumer finance

The Mortgage Works (UK) plc * Centralised mortgage lender

UCB Home Loans Corporation Limited * Centralised mortgage lender

Derbyshire Home Loans Limited* Centralised mortgage lender

E-MEX Home Funding Limited* Centralised mortgage lender

Other subsidiary undertakings Nature of business Country of registration Country of operation

Great Eastern Investment Partnership Investment company England and Wales UK

Nationwide Covered Bonds LLP
Mortgage acquisition and  
guarantor of covered bonds

England and Wales UK

Silverstone Master Issuer plc 
(Securities 2008 - 1 and 2008 - 2)

Funding vehicle England and Wales UK

Pride No.1 LLP Funding vehicle England and Wales UK
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23. Intangible assets

2009
Externally 

acquired
Internally 

developed
Total

Computer
Software

Other 
Intangible 

Assets

Goodwill Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 5 April 2008 239 53  292 - 12 304

Additions 51 10 61 - - 61

Acquired on transfer of engagements

Derbyshire•	 2 - 2 17 4 23

Cheshire•	 2 - 2 10 - 12

Dunfermline•	 - - - 15 - 15

Disposals (7) (6) (13) - - (13)

At 4 April 2009 287 57 344 42 16 402

Amortisation

At 5 April 2008 144 23 167 - - 167

Charge for the year 8 27 35 - - 35

Disposals (6) (5) (11) - - (11)

At 4 April 2009 146 45 191 - - 191

Net book value

At 4 April 2009 141 12 153 42 16 211

Other intangible assets are the intangible assets recognised under IFRS 3 in respect of core deposits and customer relationships arising on the 
acquisitions of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies and core parts of the Dunfermline Building Society. Full details of the acquired 
intangibles are given in note 49 and 50.

£12 million of goodwill relates to the acquisition of The Mortgage Works (UK) plc on 30 November 2001 by Portman Building Society. A further £4 million 
of goodwill arises on the merger with The Derbyshire Building Society on 1 December 2008. The goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing.

Computer software

Externally 

acquired
Internally 

developed
Total

Computer
Software

Goodwill Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 5 April 2007 184 46  230 - 230

Additions 36 5 41 - 41

Acquired on transfer of engagements – Portman 23 3 26 12 38

Disposals (4) (1) (5) - (5)

At 4 April 2008 239 53 292 12 304

Amortisation

At 5 April 2007 105 18 123 - 123

Acquired on transfer of engagements 13 2 15 - 15

Charge for the year 28 4 32 - 32

Disposals (2) (1) (3) - (3)

At 4 April 2008 144 23 167 - 167

Net book value

At 4 April 2008 95 30 125 12 137

Computer software2008
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23. Intangible assets (continued)

2009
Externally 

acquired
Internally 

developed
Total

Computer
Software

Other 
Intangible 

Assets

Goodwill Total

Society £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 5 April 2008 239 53  292 - - 292

Additions 51 10 61 - - 61

Acquired on transfer of engagements

Derbyshire•	 2 - 2 17 4 23

Cheshire•	 2 - 2 10 - 12

Dunfermline•	 - - - 15 - 15

Disposals (7) (6) (13) - - (13)

At 4 April 2009 287 57 344 42 4 390

Amortisation

At 5 April 2008 144 23 167 - - 167

Charge for the year 8 27 35 - - 35

Disposals (6) (5) (11) - - (11)

At 4 April 2009 146 45 191 - - 191

Net book value

At 4 April 2009 141 12 153 42 4 199

Computer software

2008
Externally 

acquired
Internally 

developed
Total

Computer
Software

Goodwill Total

Society £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 5 April 2007 184 46  230 - 230

Additions 36 5 41 - 41

Acquired on transfer of engagements – Portman 23 3 26 - 26

Disposals (4) (1) (5) - (5)

At 4 April 2008 239 53 292 - 292

Amortisation

At 5 April 2007 105 18 123 - 123

Acquired on transfer of engagements 13 2 15 - 15

Charge for the year 28 4 32 - 32

Disposals (2) (1) (3) - (3)

At 4 April 2008 144 23 167 - 167

Net book value

At 4 April 2008 95 30 125 - 125

Computer software
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24. Property, plant and equipment

2009 Branches 
and non 

specialised 
buildings

£m

Specialised 
administration 

buildings

£m

Short 
leasehold 
buildings

£m

Total 
land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
machinery

£m

Equipment, 
fixtures, 

fittings and 
vehicles

£m

Total

£mGroup

Cost or valuation

At 5 April 2008 355 104 37  496 130 805 1,431

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements

Derbyshire•	 11 4 2 17 1 1 19

Cheshire•	 5 7 1 13 1 2 16

Dunfermline•	 4 3 - 7 - 3 10

Transfer (24) 24 - - - - -

Additions 15 1 5 21 25 170 216

Revaluation (90) - - (90) - - (90)

Disposals (2) (1) - (3) (1) (6) (10)

At 4 April 2009 274 142 45 461 156 975 1,592

Depreciation

At 5 April 2008 - 53 26 79 93 448 620

Charge for the year - 3 2 5 11 75 91

Disposals - - - - - (5) (5)

At 4 April 2009 - 56 28 84 104 518 706

Net book value

At 4 April 2009 274 86 17 377 52 457 886

During the year one property was transferred from branches and non specialised buildings to specialised administration buildings in order to provide  
a more accurate reflection of the nature and use of the property.

2008 Branches 
and non 

specialised 
buildings

£m

Specialised 
administration 

buildings

£m

Short 
leasehold 
buildings

£m

Total 
land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
machinery

£m

Equipment, 
fixtures, fittings 

and vehicles

£m

Total

£mGroup

Cost or valuation

At 5 April 2007 332 104 29  465 117 601 1,183

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements – Portman 49 - 8 57 - 45 102

Additions 10 - 1 11 13 182 206

Revaluation (22) - - (22) - - (22)

Disposals (14) - (1) (15) - (23) (38)

At 4 April 2008 355 104 37 496 130 805 1,431

Depreciation

At 5 April 2007 - 49 19 68 84 367 519

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements – Portman - - 6 6 - 22 28

Charge for the year - 4 2 6 9 78 93

Disposals - - (1) (1) - (19) (20)

At 4 April 2008 - 53 26 79 93 448 620

Net book value

At 4 April 2008 355 51 11 417 37 357 811
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2009 Branches 
and non 

specialised 
buildings

£m

Specialised 
administration 

buildings

£m

Short 
leasehold 
buildings

£m

Total 
land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
machinery

£m

Equipment, 
fixtures, 

fittings and 
vehicles

£m

Total
 

£mSociety

Cost or valuation

At 5 April 2008 342 104 37  483 128 794 1,405

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements

Derbyshire•	 10 4 2 16 1 1 18

Cheshire•	 5 7 1 13 1 2 16

Dunfermline•	 4 3 - 7 - 3 10

Transfer (24) 24 - - - - -

Additions 16 1 5 22 25 167 214

Revaluation (85) - - (85) - - (85)

Disposals (2) (1) - (3) (1) (4) (8)

At 4 April 2009 266 142 45 453 154 963 1,570

Depreciation

At 5 April 2008 - 53 26 79 91 437 607

Charge for the year - 3 2 5 11 74 90

Disposals - - - - - (3) (3)

At 4 April 2009 - 56 28 84 102 508 694

Net book value

At 4 April 2009 266 86 17 369 52 455 876

During the year one property was transferred from branches and non specialised buildings to specialised administration buildings in order to provide a 
more accurate reflection of the nature and use of the property.

24. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2008 Branches 
and non 

specialised 
buildings

£m

Specialised 
administration 

buildings

£m

Short 
leasehold 
buildings

£m

Total 
land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
machinery

£m

Equipment, 
fixtures, fittings 

and vehicles
£m

Total
 

£mSociety

Cost or valuation  

At 5 April 2007 318 104 29  451 115 580 1,146

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements – Portman 49 - 8 57 - 45 102

Additions 10 - 1 11 14 182 207

Revaluation (21) - - (21) - - (21)

Disposals (14) - (1) (15) (1) (13) (29)

At 4 April 2008 342 104 37 483 128 794 1,405

Depreciation

At 5 April 2007 - 49 19 68 82 348 498

Acquired on transfer  
of engagements – Portman - - 6 6 - 22 28

Charge for the year - 4 2 6 9 76 91

Disposals - - (1) (1) - (9) (10)

At 4 April 2008 - 53 26 79 91 437 607

Net book value

At 4 April 2008 342 51 11 404 37 357 798

Branches and non specialised buildings are included at fair value. Valuations, performed by independent surveyors, consist of a mixture of full and 
interim valuations and were undertaken as at 4 April 2009 in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation manual published by the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors. Valuations are based on active market prices. 

Specialised administration buildings and short leasehold buildings are included at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
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25. Investment properties

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April 15 15 12 12

Acquired on transfer of engagements

Cheshire•	  2 -  2 -

Revaluation  (6) -  (5) -
Disposals  (2) -  - -
At 4 April  9 15  9 12

Investment properties are carried at fair value. The valuations are undertaken by independent valuers in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation 
manual published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations are based on active market prices. 

26. Accrued income and expenses prepaid

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings  -  -  1,114  1,300

Treasury transactions awaiting clearing  625  461  625  461

Other  118  94  66  67

 743  555  1,805  1,828

27. Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary differences under the liability method at the standard UK corporation tax rate which from 1 April 2008 
is 28% (previously 30%).

The movements on the deferred tax account are as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April  116  49  109 73

Transfer from:    

Derbyshire•	  63  -  (1) -

Cheshire•	  2  -  (4) -

Dunfermline•	  -  -  - -

Portman•	  -  4  - 2

Income statement (charge)  (17)  -  (18) (12)

Income statement (charge)/income – rate change to 28%  -  (6)  - (6)

Reclassification to current tax  (17)  -  (17) -

Future consortium relief  -  1  - 1

Available for sale investments  3  7  1 4

Reclassification to current tax  -  (3)  - (3)

Property revaluation  20  8  20 8

Retirement benefit obligations  90  (18)  90 (18)

Cash flow hedge reserve  1  1  1 -

Tax losses carried forward  598  61  598 61

Change of corporation tax rate to 28%  -  (1)  - (1)

Taxation on items through reserves 712  55  710 51

Deferred tax asset  859  103  779 109

Transfer out of liabilities on disposal of life business  -  13  - -

At 4 April  859  116  779 109
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27. Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Retirement benefit obligations  92 14  92 14

Provisions for loan impairment  35 30  13 15

Other provisions  92 55  49 65

Accelerated tax depreciation  (4) 4  (4) 3

Property revaluation  (21) (44)  (23) (45)

Tax losses carried forward  665 57  652 57

 859 116  779 109

The majority of deferred tax assets are anticipated to be recoverable after 1 year. The Group considers that there will be sufficient future trading profits 
in excess of profits arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences to utilise the deferred tax asset.

As at the balance sheet date there are £8 million (Group and Society) of unused capital losses (2008: Group and Society £12 million) and £40 million 
(Group) of unused trading losses (2008: Group £Nil) for which no deferred tax asset is recognised.

The aggregate amount of the temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of overseas subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities 
have not been recognised in Group and Society is £86 million (2008: Group and Society £73 million). No liability has been recognised in respect of 
these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that such 
differences will not reverse in the future.

The deferred tax charge in the income statement comprises of the following temporary differences (note 14):

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Accelerated tax depreciation  10 -  9 -

Retirement benefit obligations  10 31  10 31

Provisions for loan impairment  (4) 4  2 2

Other  10 (34)  (6) (21)

Tax losses carried forward  (9) -  3 -

Change of corporation tax rate to 28%  - 6  - 6

 17 7  18 18

28. Shares

Group & Society
2009

£m
2008

£m

Held by individuals  128,279  113,810

Other shares  5 6

 128,284 113,816

Shares are repayable from the balance sheet date in the ordinary course of business as follows:  

Accrued interest  808 1,007

Repayable on demand  92,830 93,512

Other shares by residual maturity repayable:  

In not more than three months•	  6,476 1,184

In more than three months but not more than one year•	  19,816 14,913

In more than one year but not more than five years•	  8,343 3,200

In more than five years•	 11 -

 128,284 113,816
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29. Deposits from banks

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Deposits from banks are repayable from the balance sheet 
date in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Accrued interest  115 123  112 80

Repayable on demand  484 70  152 545

Other amounts owed to banks with residual maturity repayable:   

In not more than three months•	  8,651 9,399  8,650 9,388

In more than three months but not more than one year•	  3,398  1,126  3,356 1,114

In more than one year but not more than five years•	  66 585  1 -

In more than five years•	  569 474  179 100

 13,283  11,777  12,450  11,227

Deposits from banks include £11,054 million (2008: £9,554 million) in respect of sale and repurchase agreements. The carrying value of assets of 
£5,795 million (2008: £8,857 million) sold under sale and repurchase agreements are included within Investment Securities (note 17).

30. Other deposits

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  - -  5,216 3,304

Other  5,673  4,567  5,672  4,567

 5,673 4,567  10,888  7,871

Other deposits are repayable from the balance sheet date in the 
ordinary course of business as follows:
Accrued interest  50 47  50 47

Repayable on demand  1 1  5,217 3,305

Other amounts owed to depositors with residual maturity repayable:   

In not more than three months•	  4,158  3,766  4,157 3,766

In more than three months but not more than one year•	  1,182 749  1,182 749

In more than one year but not more than five years•	  282 4  282 4

 5,673  4,567  10,888  7,871

Other deposits comprise wholesale deposits placed with our Treasury department.

31. Due to customers

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Amounts due to customers are repayable from the balance sheet date 
in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Accrued interest  42 25  - 2

Repayable on demand  3,229 2,685  798 730

Other amounts owed to customers with residual maturity repayable:   

In not more than three months•	  422 40  10 -

In more than three months but not more than one year•	  678 498  2 -

In more than one year but not more than five years•	  - 185  - -

 4,371 3,433  810 732

Group amounts due to customers include savings deposit balances held in our off-shore subsidiary Nationwide International Limited. These savings 
accounts do not confer membership rights. 
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32. Debt securities in issue

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Certificates of deposit and commercial paper  14,083 13,086  14,083 13,086

Fixed and floating rate notes  19,807  20,511 18,030  20,708

Other debt securities  244 238  245 238

 34,134  33,835  32,358  34,032

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk  660 (63)  94 (6)

 34,794  33,772  32,452  34,026

Debt securities in issue are repayable from the balance sheet  
date in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Accrued interest  214 279  209 277

Residual maturity repayable:   

In not more than one year•	  18,033  19,150  18,033  19,150

In more than one year•	  15,887  14,406  14,116  14,605

 34,134  33,835  32,358  34,032

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk  660 (63)  94 (6)

 34,794  33,772  32,452 34,026

Debt securities in issue include Group and Society £10,906 million (2008: £9,356 million) secured on certain loans and advances to customers. 
Further information is given in note 20.

33. Other liabilities

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Third party income tax withheld  269 330  269 330

Liabilities to subsidiaries assumed on acquisition  
of Derbyshire and Cheshire

 - -  68 -

Other liabilities  402 421  406 330

 671 751  743 660

34. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Society

FSCS
£m

Other 
Provisions

£m
Total

£m
FSCS

£m

Other 
Provisions

£m
Total 

£m

At 5 April 2008  -  16  16  -  16  16

Acquired on acquisitions:       

Derbyshire•	  7  -  7  7  -  7

Cheshire•	  6  -  6  6  -  6

Dunfermline•	  4  -  4  4  -  4

Provisions utilised  -  (11)  (11)  -  (11)  (11)

Charge for the year  241  8  249  241  8  249

At 4 April 2009  258  13  271  258  13  271

At 5 April 2007 - 50 50 - 37 37

Provisions utilised - (24) (24) - (9) (9)

Release for the year - (10) (10) - (12) (12)

At 4 April 2008 - 16 16 - 16 16
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34. Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)

Financial Services Compensation Scheme
Based on its share of protected deposits, the Group pays levies to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) to enable the FSCS to meet 
claims against it. In September 2008 a claim was triggered against the FSCS by the transfer of Bradford and Bingley plc’s retail deposit business to 
Abbey National plc. Further claims have been triggered by the failures of various Icelandic Banks, London Scottish plc and the transfer of the core parts 
of Dunfermline Building Society to the Group.

The FSCS has met, or will meet, the claims by way of loans received from HM Treasury. The terms of these loans are interest only for the first three 
years and the FSCS will seek to recover the interest cost, together with ongoing management expenses, by way of annual levies on member firms over 
this period. The FSCS has, in turn, acquired the rights to the realisation of the assets of these financial institutions. The FSCS may have a further liability 
if there are insufficient funds available from the realisation of the assets of the financial institutions to fully repay the HM Treasury loans.

The Group has recognised a charge in the year for levies of £241 million. This charge is in addition to provisions totalling £17 million acquired on the 
transfers of business of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies and acquisition of core parts of the Dunfermline Building Society. The 
resulting total provision of £258 million is the Group’s estimated share of the levies which it will incur in respect of the period of the initial three year 
loan facility from HM Treasury. The provision has been calculated based on the Group’s estimated share of protected deposits, the FSCS’s latest 
estimates for the industry’s levies for scheme years 2008/9 and 2009/10, estimated capital amounts outstanding on the HM Treasury loans and 
estimated future libor rates in respect of levies of subsequent scheme years. The amounts do not take account of any levies which may be payable from 
any refinancing after the maturity of the initial 3 year loan facility or which may be payable should the FSCS fail to recover sufficient funds to repay its 
loans, as any such amounts cannot currently to be reliably estimated.

Other provisions
Other provisions have been made in respect of various customer claims. It is expected that the liability will predominantly crystallise over the next  
12 – 24 months.

36. Subordinated liabilities 

Group & Society
2009

£m
2008

£m

Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes due 2013 (€400m) - 315

6.74% Subordinated Loan due 2014 (£) 15 15

51/4% Subordinated Notes due 2014 ($225m) 152 113

33/8% Subordinated Notes due 2015 (€750m) 678 591

5% Subordinated Notes due 2015 ($400m) 269 200

5.875% Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes 2015 (£) 100 -

Subordinated Floating Rate Notes due 2016 (€300m) 272 236

7.125% Subordinated Notes due 2016 (£) 75 75

5.75% Callable Reset Subordinated Notes 2016 (£) 35 -

51/4% Subordinated Notes due 2018 (£) 200 200

85/8% Subordinated Notes due 2018 (£) 125 125

6.73% Subordinated Loan due 2019 (£) 15 15

5.25% Subordinated Loan due 2020 (£) 150 150

6.5% Callable Reset Subordinated Notes 2022 (£) 30 -

2,116 2,035

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk 127 29

Unamortised premiums and issue costs (10) (6)

2,233 2,058

35. Accruals and deferred income 

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Interest accrued on subordinated liabilities  29  28  29  28

Interest accrued on subscribed capital  17  14  17  14

Owed to subsidiary undertakings  -  -  21  6

Other  308  313  296  266

 354  355  363  314

The amounts above described as ‘other’ represent standard operational accruals incurred during the normal course of business.
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Fair value adjustments of £3 million arising on the acquisition of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies are included (net of subsequent 
amortisation) in unamortised premiums and issue costs.

All of the Society’s subordinated liabilities are unsecured. The Society may, with the prior consent of the FSA, redeem some of the subordinated notes 
early as follows:

All of the 6.74% subordinated loan due 2014 may, with the prior consent of the FSA, be redeemed on 7 May 2009, five years before the final •	
maturity date, by giving not less than 2 days notice to the holders. In the event that the Society does not redeem the notes early the interest rate 
will convert to a rate referenced to the then current 5 year gilt rate plus 3%. On 7 May 2009, the Group, with the consent of the FSA, redeemed 
early the £15 million subordinated loan at a cost of £15 million.

All (but not some only) of the 3•	 3/8% notes due 2015 at par (100%) on 17 August 2010 (or each subsequent interest payment date), by giving not 
less than 15 nor more than 30 days notice to the holders. In the event the Society does not redeem the notes early the interest rate will convert to 
a floating rate equal to the aggregate of 3 month Euribor and 0.76%.

All or some of the 5.875% fixed rate subordinated notes due 2015 on 17 December 2010 by giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days notice •	
to the holders. In the event the Society does not redeem the notes on 17 December 2010 the initial annual interest of 5.875% will be reset at 
0.5% over the prevailing five year gilt rate. These notes were acquired on the acquisition of The Derbyshire Building Society.

All (but not some only) of the floating rate notes due 2016 at par (100%) on 22 December 2011, by giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days •	
notice to the holders. In the event the Society does not redeem the notes on 22 December 2011 the initial interest margin of 0.22% over Euribor 
will increase by a further 0.5%. 

All of the 7.125% subordinated notes due 2016 may, with the prior consent of the FSA, be redeemed on 10 October 2011, five years before the •	
final maturity date, by giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice to the holders. In the event that the Society does not redeem the 
notes early the interest rate will convert to a rate referenced to the then current 5 year gilt rate plus 3.2%.

All of the 5.75% notes due 2016 on 6 December 2011 and every six months thereafter until the final maturity date of 6 December 2016. If the •	
issue is not repaid on the first call date, the coupon will be re-set to yield 1.62% over the prevailing five year Gilt benchmark. These notes were 
acquired on the acquisition of The Cheshire Building Society.

All (but not some only) of the 5•	 1/4% notes due 2018 at par (100%) on 12 February 2013, by giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days notice to 
the holders. In the event the Society does not redeem the notes on 12 February 2013 the fixed rate of interest will become an aggregate of 1.98% 
and the then current 5 year benchmark Gilt rate.

All or some of the 8•	 5/8% notes due 2018 at the higher of par (100%) or the benchmark 83/4% 2017 Gilt, by giving not less than 30 nor more than 
60 days notice to the holders.

All of the 6.73% subordinated loan due 2019 may, with the prior consent of the FSA, be redeemed on 7 April 2014, five years before the final •	
maturity date, by giving no less than 2 days notice to the holders. In the event that the Society does not redeem the notes early the interest rate 
will convert to a rate referenced to the then current 5 year gilt rate plus 3.1%.

All of the 5.25% subordinated loan due 2020 may, with the prior consent of the FSA, be redeemed on 23 November 2015, five years before the •	
final maturity date, by giving not less than 30 days notice to the holders. In the event that the Society does not redeem the notes early the interest 
rate will convert to a floating rate equal to the then current 3 month libor plus 1.54%.

All or some of the 6.5% notes due 2022 on 1 March and 1 September 2017. If the issue is not repaid on the first call date, the coupon will be  •	
reset to yield 300 basis points over the prevailing five year Gilt benchmark. These notes were acquired on the acquisition of The Cheshire  
Building Society.

The subordinated notes rank pari passu with each other and behind the claims against the Society of all depositors, creditors and investing members 
(other than holders of Permanent Interest Bearing Shares) of the Society.

The interest rate risk arising from the issuance of fixed rate subordinated debt has been mitigated through the use of interest rate swaps.

On 11 April 2008 the Group, with the consent of the FSA, redeemed early Euro 400 million of subordinated floating rate notes due 2013 at a cost  
of £325 million.

36. Subordinated liabilities (continued)
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37. Subscribed capital 

Group & Society
2009

£m
2008

£m

6.024% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  350  350

6.875% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  30  -

7.971% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  200  200

7.25% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  60  60

6.25% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  125  125

5.769% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  400  400

7.859% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  100  100

Floating Rate Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  10  -

6% Permanent Interest Bearing Shares  140  -

 1,415  1,235

Fair value adjustment for micro hedged risk 161  20

Unamortised premiums and issue costs  (50)  (10)

 1,526 1,245

Fair value adjustments of £40 million arising on the acquisition of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies are included (net of subsequent 
amortisation) in unamortised premiums and issue costs. 

All Permanent Interest Bearing Shares (PIBS) are unsecured and denominated in Sterling. Repaying the PIBS requires the prior consent of the FSA.

The 7.971% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 13 March 2015 or any fifth anniversary thereafter. •	

The 7.25% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 5 December 2021 and every fifth successive 5 December thereafter.•	

The 6.25% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 22 October 2024 and every fifth successive 22 October thereafter.•	

The 5.769% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 6 February 2026 or any fifth anniversary thereafter. •	

The 7.859% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 13 March 2030 or any fifth anniversary thereafter.•	

If the above five tranches of PIBS are not repaid on a call date then the interest rate is reset at a margin to the yield on the then prevailing 5 year 
benchmark Gilt rate.

The 6.024% PIBS are repayable, at the option of the Society, in whole on 6 February 2013 or any interest coupon date thereafter. If the 6.024% •	
PIBS are not repaid on their first call date then the interest rate is reset at a margin of 50 basis points over 3 month libor. If the 6.024% PIBS have 
not been repaid by 6 February 2018, the interest rate is reset at a margin of 150 basis points over 3 month libor.

The 6.875% PIBS are repayable at the option of the Society, in whole on 10 January 2019, or any fifth anniversary thereafter. If the PIBS are not •	
repaid on a call date, then the interest rate is reset at a margin of 300 basis points over the yield on the prevailing five year gilt benchmark.  
These PIBS were acquired on the acquisition of The Cheshire Building Society.

Interest on the floating rate PIBS is at 2.4% above six month libor. These PIBS are only repayable in the event of winding up the Society. These •	
PIBS were acquired on the acquisition of The Cheshire Building Society. 

The 6% PIBS are repayable at the option of the Society, in whole on 15 December 2016, or any interest coupon date thereafter. If the PIBS are not •	
repaid on their first call date then the interest rate is reset at a margin of 249 basis points over 3 month libor. These PIBS were acquired on the 
acquisition of The Derbyshire Building Society.

PIBS rank pari passu with each other. They are deferred shares of the Society and rank behind the claims against the Society of all subordinated 
noteholders, depositors, creditors and investing members of the Society.

The interest rate risk arising from the issuance of fixed rate PIBS has been mitigated through the use of interest rate swaps.
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38. Retirement benefit obligations

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Present value of funded obligations  2,253  2,159  2,250  2,157

Fair value of plan assets  (1,936)  (2,132)  (1,933)  (2,130)

 317  27  317  27

Present value of unfunded obligations  11  10  11  10

Total pension liabilities  328  37  328  37

Post retirement healthcare  3  3  3  3

 331  40  331  40

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Defined benefit current service cost  83  99  80  93

Defined contribution cost  5  -  5  -

Past service cost  14  10  14  10

Curtailment  (7)  (6)  (7)  (6)

 95  103  92  97

Capitalised as intangible fixed assets  (1)  (3)  (1)  (3)

Included in employee costs (note 11)  94  100  91  94

Expected return on pension assets (note 3)  (151)  (142)  (151)  (142)

Pension interest cost (note 4)  141  114  141  114

 84  72  81  66

Changes in the present value of defined benefit pension obligations are as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April  2,169  1,951 2,166  1,949

Acquired on transfer of engagements   

Derbyshire•	  67  -  67  -

Cheshire•	  57  -  57  -

Portman•	  -  257  -  257

Current service cost  83  99  80  93

Past service cost  14  10  14  10

Curtailment  (7)  (6)  (7)  (6)

Pension interest cost  141  114  141  114

Employee contributions  2  1  1  1

Subsidiary undertakings contributions  -  -  3  6

Actuarial gains  (198)  (204)  (197)  (204)

Benefits paid  (64)  (53)  (64)  (53)

At 4 April  2,264  2,169  2,261  2,167

The Group does not charge the net defined benefit cost to the subsidiary undertakings that participate in the defined benefit arrangements. The pension 
cost to the subsidiary undertakings equals the contributions payable to the Fund.

The Group operates both defined benefit arrangements and defined contribution arrangements. The principal defined benefit pension arrangement is 
the Nationwide Pension Fund. This is a contributory defined benefit arrangement, with two main sections. The final salary section was closed to new 
entrants with effect from 1 January 2002. The career average revalued earnings (CARE) section applied to new entrants with effect from 1 January 
2002 and was closed to new entrants on 31 May 2007. Since 1 June 2007 new employees are able to join a defined contribution arrangement. 

The Portman Building Society Pension and Assurance Scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from 1 October 2001. Employees who joined the 
Portman Group after that date were able to join a defined contribution arrangement. The Group also operates other pension arrangements for 
employees of the Derbyshire and Cheshire, certain current and former directors and officers, as well as for one subsidiary company. The defined benefit 
arrangements for the employees of the Dunfermline have not been transferred to the Group.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
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Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Equities  882  1,115  881  1,113

Government bonds  320  397  319  397

Corporate bonds  386  295  386  295

Infrastructure  106  68  106  68

Property  69  87  69  87

Other  173  170  172  170

 1,936  2,132  1,933  2,130

£2 million of the funds’ assets are invested in the Nationwide Group (2008: nil).

The amounts recognised in respect of pension obligations in the statement of recognised income and expense are as follows:

The major categories of plan assets for the pension funds, stated as fair value, are as follows:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Cumulative actuarial gains at 5 April 159  98 159  98

Actuarial (losses)/gains in the year  (321)  61  (321)  61

Cumulative actuarial (losses)/gains at 4 April  (162)  159  (162)  159

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April 2,132  1,782  2,130  1,779

Acquired on transfer of engagements    

Derbyshire•	  68  -  68  -

Cheshire•	  64  -  64  -

Portman•	  -  244  -  244

Expected return on assets  151  142  151  142

Actuarial (losses)  (519)  (143)  (518)  (143)

Contributions by employer  102  159  98  154

Employee contributions  2  1  1  1

Subsidiary undertakings contributions  -  -  3  6

Benefits paid  (64)  (53)  (64)  (53)

At 4 April  1,936  2,132  1,933  2,130

The actual return on assets was (18.1%) (2008: (0.1%)).

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

38. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
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38. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets including post retirement healthcare for the current and 
previous years are:

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m

Present value of defined  
benefit obligation  2,267 2,172 1,953 1,837 1,483 2,264 2,169 1,951 1,835 1,481

Fair value of plan assets  1,936 2,132 1,781 1,543 1,131 1,933 2,129 1,779 1,541 1,130

Total deficit  331 40 172 294 352 331 40 172 294 351

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Group & Society
2009

%
2008

%

Discount rate  6.5 6.4

Expected return on plan assets  6.5 7.0

Future salary increases  4.4 5.3

Future pension increases  3.3 3.4

Inflation  3.4 3.5

Medical cost trend rate  4.4 – 8.0  5.3 – 8.5

2009 2008

Retired and non-retired members PNXA 00 BY MC  PNXA 00 BY MC

2009 2008

Retired members  
Males•	 27.0  26.8

Females•	  29.0  28.9

Non-retired members   
Males•	 29.1  29.0

Females•	  30.2  30.2

To derive the expected long–term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of expected returns on risk free 
investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is 
invested and the expectations for the future returns of each asset class. The expected overall return was then calculated based on the asset allocation at 
4 April 2009. This resulted in the selection of the 6.5% assumption as at 4 April 2009 (2008: 7.0%). A deduction is made for the expenses of the Fund.

The assumptions on mortality are determined by the following actuarial tables: 

The mortality tables used at 4 April 2009 make an allowance for future mortality improvements to be at least 1.0% p.a. (2008: 1.0%) for males and 
0.5% p.a. (2008: 0.5%) for females.

The assumptions are illustrated by the following years of life expectancy at age 60:

The Group estimates that its contributions to the defined benefit pension funds during the year ended 4 April 2010 will be £83 million. 

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006

£m
2005

£m

Experience gains/(losses)  
on plan liabilities  12  (41)  (6) 8 23 12 (41) (6) 8 23

Changes in actuarial assumptions  186  245  39 (220) 53 185 245 39 (220) 53

Actuarial gains/(losses)  
on plan liabilities  198  204  33 (212) 76 197 204 33 (212) 76

Experience (losses)/gains  
on plan assets  (519)  (143)  (32) 205 28 (518) (143) (32) 205 28

 (321)  61  1 (7) 104 (321) 61 1 (7) 104

Experience gains and losses in respect of pension obligations for the current and the previous years are as follows:
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Movements in revaluation reserves were as follows:

40. Revaluation reserve

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April 121 128 121 128

Acquired on transfer of engagements – Portman  - 8  - 8

Revaluation decrease on land and buildings  (72) (19)  (72) (18)

Decrease in deferred tax liability on the revaluation of land and buildings  20 11  20 10

Transfer to general reserve  - (7)  - (7)

At 4 April  69 121  69 121

Movements in the general reserves were as follows:

39. General reserve

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April  6,303  5,296  5,452  4,413

Transfer of engagements of Portman  -  697  -  669

Merger related bonus to Portman members  -  (329)  -  (329)

Tax on merger related bonus to Portman members -  98 -  98

Profit for the year  162  495  57  555

Actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligations  (321)  61  (321)  61

Tax on actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligations  90  (18)  90  (18)

Impact of change in deferred tax rate  -  (4)  -  (4)

Transfer from revaluation reserve  -  7  -  7

At 4 April  6,234  6,303  5,278  5,452

Movements in available for sale reserves were as follows:

41. Available for sale reserve

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April (418) 41 (383) 15

Acquired on transfer of engagements – Portman  - (3)  - (3)

Net loss from changes in fair value  (2,216) (726)  (2,218) (663)

Amounts transferred to income statement on disposal and impairment  4 93  4 93

 (2,212) (633)  (2,214) (570)

Decrease in tax liability  621 177  621 175

At 4 April  (2,009) (418)  (1,976) (383)

See page 16 within the Business Review for further details of the movements in AFS reserves.
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Movements in the cash flow hedge reserve were as follows:

42. Cash flow hedge reserve

Group & Society
2009

£m
2008

£m

At 5 April 2 -

Acquired on transfer of engagements – Portman  - 2

Amortisation  (2) -

At 4 April - 2

Nationwide does not use cash flow hedge accounting. The cash flow hedge reserve has arisen from the merger with the Portman (see note 51).  
The balance taken on as at 28 August 2007 is being amortised over the appropriate period.

2009 Group Society
Contract 
amount 

£m

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount
£m

Contract 
amount 

£m

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount
£m

Irrevocable undrawn loan facilities 2,661 668 2,550 651

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend 10 1 10 1

 2,671  669  2,560  652

2008 Group Society
Contract 
amount 

£m

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount
£m

Contract 
amount 

£m

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount
£m

Irrevocable undrawn loan facilities 3,825 1,116 3,632 1,067

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend 16 2 16 2

3,841 1,118 3,648 1,069

43. Financial Commitments
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a) Bank charges
On 27 July 2007, following agreement between the UK Office of Fair Trading (OFT) and a number of UK financial institutions, the OFT issued High Court 
legal proceedings against those institutions, including Nationwide Building Society, to determine the legal status and enforceability of certain of the 
charges applied to their personal current account customers in relation to requests for unauthorised overdrafts (the ‘Test Case’). On 24 April 2008,  
a High Court judgement was received in respect of phase one of a two stage process. The Court’s judgement in respect of this first phase was that the 
institutions’ current terms and conditions relating to unauthorised overdraft charges are not unenforceable penalties but (subject to appeal) are 
assessable for fairness under the Unfair Terms and Consumer Contracts Regulations 1999. In the specific judgement on Nationwide’s terms and 
conditions for overdrafts, the Judge concluded that our current terms are in plain intelligible language. The Judge has also accepted that our historical 
terms and conditions are not unenforceable penalties.

On 23 May 2008 the relevant financial institutions were given permission to appeal the High Court’s judgement that the charges are assessable for 
fairness. The appeal hearing took place between 28 October and 5 November 2008. The judgement of the Court of Appeal was delivered on 26 
February 2009 and upheld the original decision of the High Court. There will be a further High Court hearing to determine the fairness of the charges. 
This is likely to be at the end of 2009 at the earliest. Pending resolution of the test case, the Financial Services Authority (FSA) has made a Direction 
that, subject to certain conditions, the handling of customer complaints on this issue can be suspended until 26 July 2009. In addition the Court of 
Appeal continued the stays on judgements of the various county courts until further decision by the High Court or, if relevant, the House of Lords.

The Society continues to assert that its charges are fair and transparent, and given the uncertainty as to the final outcome of the case, which could take 
another year, no provision in relation to the outcome of this litigation has been made. Depending on the Courts’ determinations, a range of outcomes is 
possible, some of which could have a material financial impact on the Society. The ultimate impact of the litigation on the Society can only be known at 
its conclusion.

b) Legal proceedings
During the ordinary course of business the Society is subject to threatened or actual legal proceedings. All such material cases are periodically 
reassessed, with the assistance of external professional advisers where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of incurring a liability. The Society does 
not expect the ultimate resolution of any proceedings to have a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the Society and has not disclosed 
the contingent liabilities associated with such claims either because they cannot reasonably be estimated or because such disclosure could be seriously 
prejudicial to the conduct of the claims.

45. Contingent Liabilities

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Leasing commitments

At the balance sheet date, future minimum payments under 
operating leases relating to land and buildings were as follows: 

Amounts falling due:

Within one year•	  35 26  35 25

Between one and five years •	  104 88  102 87

After five years•	  115 120  113 118

 254 234  250 230

Leasing payments due as lessor 
At the balance sheet date, subleasing payments  
receivable under non-cancellable subleases 31 8 18 8

At the balance sheet date, future minimum lease payments 
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Amount falling due:

Within one year•	  6 5  5 5

Between one and five years•	  21 15  18 15

After five years•	  25 20  17 20

 52 40  40 40

44. Capital and leasing commitments

Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the Accounts 95 45 95 45
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Strategy in using financial instruments
Financial instruments incorporate the vast majority of the Group and Society’s assets and liabilities. Given the dominant position of the Society within 
the Group structure, the term ‘Group’ is used in the remainder of this note to cover the activities of both Group and Society. Furthermore, since the 
risks of the organisation are managed on a Group basis, the risk disclosures are presented below only on a consolidated basis.

The Group accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating interest rates for various periods and seeks to earn an interest margin by 
investing these funds in high quality assets – predominantly mortgages. The principal market risks which arise from this core activity, and which need 
to be managed by the Group, are interest rate risks, (including basis risk), credit risks, foreign exchange risks and liquidity and funding risks.

The Group uses derivative instruments to manage various aspects of market risk. However, in doing so it complies with the Building Societies Act 1986 
which limits our use of derivatives to the mitigation of consequences arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates or other factors defined by 
the Act.

The principal derivatives used in balance sheet risk management are interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate options, cross-
currency interest rate swaps, interest rate futures, foreign exchange contracts and credit derivatives. Derivatives are used to hedge balance sheet and 
income exposures arising, inter alia, from fixed rate mortgage lending, fixed rate savings products, funding and investment activities in foreign 
currencies or involving fixed rate instruments or instruments with embedded options. Group risk exposures are recorded on the Society’s information 
systems and monitored accordingly.

The following table describes the significant activities undertaken by the Group, the risks associated with such activities and the types of derivatives 
which are typically used in managing such risks. Such risks may alternatively be managed using cash instruments as part of an integrated approach to 
risk management.

46. Financial instruments

Activity Risk Type of derivative instrument used

Fixed rate savings products and funding  Sensitivity to changes in interest rates Interest rate swaps, interest rate futures, 
activities in Sterling involving either fixed   swaptions and forward rate agreements 
rate instruments or instruments with  
embedded options

Fixed rate mortgage lending and investment Sensitivity to changes in interest rates, Interest rate swaps including basis swaps, 
activities involving either fixed rate instruments  including differential between base rate swaptions and forward rate agreements 
or instruments with embedded options and libor

Investment and funding in foreign currencies Sensitivity to changes in foreign  Cross-currency interest rate swaps and  
 exchange rates foreign exchange contracts

Investment of liquid resources in debt securities Sensitivity to changes in obligor credit  Credit default swaps 
 risk leading to default

The accounting policy for derivatives and hedge accounting is described in the Statement of Accounting Policies. Where possible, fair value hedge 
accounting is employed but no use is made of cash flow hedge accounting.

Control of derivatives
The Board and the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) are responsible for setting certain parameters respectively over the Group exposure to 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and other indices. The Board exercises oversight over these exposures. The Commercial and Treasury Credit 
Committee sets Group credit policy and regularly monitors and reviews credit exposures arising in all aspects of Group operations, including 
derivatives. All risk committees are overseen by the Group Risk Committee on behalf of the Board.

All exchange-traded instruments are subject to cash requirements under the standard margin arrangements applied by the individual exchanges. 
Such instruments are not subject to significant credit risk. Credit exposures arising on derivative contracts with certain counterparties are 
collateralised with cash deposits, to mitigate credit exposures. All Group derivatives activity is contracted with OECD financial institutions.

The principal financial risks to which the Group is exposed are interest rate, credit, foreign exchange, liquidity and funding risk. Each of these is 
considered below. Additional information on risk management and control is included in the Business Review.

Interest rate risk
The primary market risk faced by the Group is interest rate risk. The net interest income and market value of the Group’s assets is exposed to 
movements in interest rates. This exposure is managed on a continuous basis, within parameters set by ALCO, using a combination of derivative 
instruments, cash instruments (such as loans, deposits and bonds), and contractual terms within products and associated procedures.
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The Group does not run a trading book and therefore does not have the higher risk exposure run by many banking institutions. Given our policy of 
hedging fixed rate assets and liabilities back to floating rate, interest rate market value risk arises mainly from the Board’s decision to invest the Group’s 
reserves according to a specified fixed rate maturity profile. The level of risk can deviate from this – subject to limits – in particular as a result of decisions 
made by the Group’s Treasury department to temporarily deviate from the specified fixed rate maturity profile in the light of market conditions.

Interest rate earnings risk arises mainly from the diversity of product terms and associated procedures adopted by the Group in originating and 
administering retail and commercial products. Should reported exposure approach internal risk parameters, action is initiated by ALCO to mitigate 
such exposure, through changes to these product terms and procedures, or through the use of derivatives. 

The Group uses several metrics to monitor interest rate risk and details of these are set out below. The limits around these metrics have been set by 
ALCO and reflect the Group’s low risk appetite.

Value at Risk (VaR). This is a technique that estimates the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates 
and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. In its day-to-day monitoring Nationwide uses a 10-day horizon and a 99% 
confidence level.

The VaR model used by Nationwide incorporates underlying risk factors based on interest rate volatilities and correlations. Potential movements in 
market prices are calculated by reference to daily market data from the last two years equally weighted. Exposures against limits are reviewed daily  
by management. Actual outcomes are monitored periodically to test the validity of the assumptions and factors used in the VaR calculation. 

Although a valuable guide to risk, VaR needs to be viewed in the context of the following limitations:

historic data is not necessarily a good guide to future events;•	

the use of a 99% confidence level, by definition, does not take account of changes in value that might occur beyond this level of confidence.  •	
The VaR numbers may not encompass all potential events, particularly those that are extreme in nature; and

VaR is calculated on the basis of exposures outstanding at the close of business and therefore does not necessarily reflect intra-day exposures.•	

Sensitivity analysis (PV01 sensitivity). This is used to assess the change in value of the Group’s current net worth against a one basis point (0.01%) 
parallel shift in interest rates. As is the case with VaR, this analysis is done on a daily basis separately for each currency (but with the main risk arising 
from Sterling exposures) and in aggregate.

Stress testing. PV200 sensitivity is calculated in a similar manner to PV01 but against a much more severe 200 basis point (2.0%) parallel shift in 
interest rates. Both PV01 and PV200 numbers are generated and monitored daily.

Change in value of the Group’s current net worth is also calculated against a range of non-linear stresses to the yield curve. This output is reported and 
monitored on a monthly basis. 

The average gross exposures (before deduction of the above-mentioned specified fixed rate maturity profile for the Group’s reserves) through the 
reporting period are as follows:

All exposures include investment of the Group’s reserves. The PV01 and PV200 exposures have risen due to the increase in the balance sheet size, 
partly as a result of the mergers with other building societies during the year. VaR was also affected by a rise in interest rate volatilities during the year.

Earnings risk. Interest rate earnings risks, such as basis risk (the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship between interest rates which have 
similar but not identical characteristics – e.g. libor and Bank of England Base Rate) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss arising from early repayment of 
fixed rate mortgages and loans) are also monitored closely and regularly reported to ALCO.

Earnings risks are calculated using a variety of stochastic and deterministic scenarios.

Credit risk
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is defined as the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. Impairment 
provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date (see notes 13 and 17). Significant changes in the economy, or a 
sector that represents a concentration in the Group’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the balance sheet 
date. Management, therefore, carefully monitors its exposure to credit risk.

The Group’s Credit Committees for Retail and Commercial and Treasury are responsible for approving and monitoring the Group’s credit exposures 
which they do through formal annual review and approval of the Group’s lending policies. Specialist Lending is reviewed and approved by the Retail 
Credit Committee. Regular monitoring and review of lending is undertaken through detailed management information including the performance of 
credit scoring systems for all retail lending. Formal limits are set and reviewed at individual, segment and portfolio levels based on credit exposures 
split by individual counterparties, geographical location and industry sector. Summary minutes of the Credit Committees together with key risk 
monitoring metrics are reviewed by the Group Risk Committee. 

46. Financial instruments (continued)

 Average  High  Low  Average High Low
2009

£m
2009

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m
2008

£m
 2008 

£m

VaR 68 86 47 37 48 32

Sensitivity analysis (PV01) 2 2 1 2 2 1

Stress testing (PV200: all currencies) 374 427 295 317 375 273
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Prior to advancing funds, an assessment is made of the credit quality of borrowers and other counterparties for all lending to both retail and corporate 
customers. Retail lending is subject to credit scoring and lending policies. Corporate lending is based on counterparty assessment that includes the  
use of multiple rating methodologies. 

Maximum credit risk exposure at 4 April 2009 was £206.6 billion, (2008: £186.6 billion) which includes the carrying value for all assets  
and commitments. 

The classes of financial instruments to which the Group is most exposed are loans and advances to customers (note 20), loans and advances to banks 
(note 16), investment securities – available for sale (note 17), and derivative financial instruments (note 18).

Credit risk – Loans and advances to customers
Our £155.2 billion of loans and advances to customers continues to have a low risk profile when compared to industry benchmarks. A comparison of 
the arrears with the industry is given in the Business Review on page 13. The mix of lending has remained broadly consistent over the year, although 
the acquisitions in the year have increased the relative proportion of Specialist mortgages within our residential mortgage portfolio. 

Lending remains predominantly concentrated on high quality, secured products with residential mortgage lending making up 83.9% (2008: 83.6%), 
commercial loans 14.4% (2008: 14.4%) and consumer finance 1.7% (2008: 2.0%). Sub-prime lending within Specialist residential mortgages accounts 
for just 0.3% of all lending.

Included in loans and advances is £3.4 billion of Specialist Lending acquired from The Derbyshire, The Cheshire and Dunfermline building societies.  
The loans were included at fair value at the date of the mergers. The fair value includes an allowance for expected future credit losses.

46. Financial instruments (continued)

Loans and advances to customers 2009 2008

£bn % £bn %

Retail Residential mortgages 111.9 72.1 105.5 73.7

Specialist Residential mortgages 18.2 11.8 14.1 9.9

Total residential mortgages 130.1 83.9 119.6 83.6

Commercial Lending 22.4 14.4 20.6 14.4

Consumer Finance 2.7 1.7 2.8 2.0

Total 155.2 100.0 143.0 100.0

a) Total Residential mortgages
Asset quality of residential mortgages remains strong and we have retained our clear focus on affordability and loan to value (LTV) ratios. The overall 
number of residential mortgages 3 or more months in arrears as a proportion of the book remains very low at 0.76% (4 April 2008: 0.40%). Overall, 
our level of arrears remains strong compared with the industry average of 2.39% (4 April 2008: 1.18%). 

Possessions of Nationwide originated properties during the year totalled 941 cases (2008: 400) and represented only 2.12% of cases taken in by the 
industry as a whole compared to our par share of all cases of 11.90%. The closing stock of Group possessions, including acquired societies, of 1,248 
cases represents 0.087% of the total portfolio (31 March 2008: 0.017%), compared with the industry measure of 0.226% (31 March 2008: 0.132%).

The average LTV of residential mortgages is 52% (4 April 2008: 43%) whilst the average LTV of new lending was 58% (4 April 2008: 61%). The value 
of residential property is updated on a quarterly basis to reflect changes in the house price index (HPI). The difference in the LTVs over the year is due 
to a significant decrease in HPI rather than a change in the lending criteria. The percentage of cases per LTV band and an analysis of our gross 
residential mortgage lending during the year by borrower type are set out below:

2009
%

2008
%

Loan to value analysis:

Total book

<50% 51 63

50% - 60% 9 10

60% - 70% 9 9

70% - 80% 9 8

80% - 90% 8 7

90% - 100% 8 3

>100% 6 -

Average loan to value of stock (indexed) 52 43

Average loan to value of new business 58 61

New business profile:

First-time buyers 16 19

Home movers 22 39

Remortgagers 54 37

Buy to Let 8 5
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b) Retail business stream
The Retail portfolio is predominantly made up of £111.9 billion of residential mortgages (2008: £105.5 billion) with £2.7 billion of consumer finance 
lending (2008: £2.8 billion). By their nature, our Retail lending books comprise a large number of smaller loans and have low volatility of credit risk 
outcomes and are intrinsically highly diversified.

The table below provides further information on Retail loans and advances by payment due status:

46. Financial instruments (continued)

Residential
Mortgages

£bn

Consumer
Finance

£bn

Total

£bn %

Residential
Mortgages

£bn

Consumer
Finance

£bn

Total

£bn %

Not impaired:

Neither past due nor impaired 109.6 2.4 112.0 98 102.8 2.6 105.4 97

Past due up to 3 months  
but not impaired 1.9 0.1 2.0 2 2.4 0.1 2.5 3

Impaired  0.4 0.2 0.6 - 0.3 0.1 0.4 -

111.9 2.7 114.6 100 105.5 2.8 108.3 100

2009 2008

The status ‘past due up to 3 months but not impaired’ includes any asset where a payment due under strict contractual terms is received late or 
missed. The amount included is the entire financial assets rather than just the payment overdue. 

Loans in the analysis above which are less than 3 months past due have collective impairment allowances set aside to cover credit losses on loans 
which are in the early stages of arrears. Loans acquired through mergers with The Cheshire, The Derbyshire and Dunfermline have been fair valued on 
a basis which makes allowances for anticipated losses over the remaining life of the loans. Impaired loans totalling £47 million in the above analysis 
have been thus fair valued and are therefore unlikely to contribute any significant further losses to the Group.

Impaired Retail assets are further analysed as follows:

Residential
Mortgages

£m

Consumer
Finance

£m

Total

£m %

Residential
Mortgages

£m

Consumer
Finance

£m

Total

£m %

Impaired status:

Past due 3 to 6 months  217 63 280 51 190 61 251 58

Past due 6 to 12 months  100 70 170 31 60 71 131 30

Past due over 12 months  26 37 63 12 14 30 44 10

Possessions  33 - 33 6 10 - 10 2

 376 170 546 100 274 162 436 100

2009 2008

Negative Equity on Retail residential mortgages
2009

£m
2008

£m

Past due but not impaired 8 3

Impaired 3 1

Possessions 2 -

13 4

Possession balances represent properties which Nationwide has taken ownership of pending their sale.

£50 million (2008: £23 million) of loans that would be past due or impaired have had their terms renegotiated in the last 12 months.

Collateral held in relation to secured loans that are either past due or impaired is capped to the amount outstanding on an individual loan basis.  
The percentage, in the table above, is the cover over the impaired asset.

Collateral held against Retail residential mortgages
2009

£m
2009

%
2008

£m
2008

%

Past due but not impaired  1,937  99  2,381  100

Impaired  340  99  263  100

Possessions  31  94  10  100

 2,308  99  2,654  100
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46. Financial instruments (continued)

The status ‘past due up to 3 months but not impaired’ includes any asset where a payment due under strict contractual terms is received late or missed. 
The amount included is the entire financial assets rather than just the payment overdue. 

Percentage of accounts more than 30 days in arrears 2009 2008
NBS

%
Industry

%
NBS

%
Industry

%

Personal Loans 7.15 17.00 5.88 11.20

Credit Card 5.70 8.28 4.50 7.99

c) Commercial and Specialist Lending business stream
The Commercial and Specialist Lending business stream had total balances of £40.6 billion at the year end (2008: £34.7 billion). Specialist Lending 
operates through its two brands, UCB and TMW, primarily in the Buy to Let and self-certification markets with a very small exposure to the adverse 
market. In addition, the acquisitions of the Cheshire, Derbyshire and Dunfermline brands have led to an increase in the Specialist Lending portfolio. 
Commercial lending comprises loans secured on commercial property, loans to Registered Social Landlords and loans advanced under Private 
Finance Initiatives.

The make up of the Commercial and Specialist Lending portfolio is as follows:

Residential mortgage accounts by location

Residential mortgages are only secured against UK properties. The Group operates across the whole of the UK with a bias towards the south east  
of England and Greater London, reflecting the concentration of branches in that region and historically higher asset value growth trends. As at  
4 April 2009 around 34% (2008: 36%) of the Retail mortgage book was made up of exposures concentrated in the south east and Greater London.

Group & Society
2009

%
2008

%

South east England (excluding London) 12 12

Central England 22 21

Northern England 19 18

Greater London 22 24

South west England 9 10

Scotland 9 8

Wales and Northern Ireland 7 7

Total 100 100

Specialist
Lending

£bn

Commercial 
and other 

Lending
£bn

Total

£bn
%

Specialist 
Lending

£bn

Commercial 
and other 

Lending
£bn

Total

£bn
%

Not impaired:

Neither past due nor impaired  15.7 21.5 37.2 92 13.2 20.4 33.6 96

Past due up to 3 months  
but not impaired  1.4 0.5 1.9 4 0.7 0.2 0.9 3

Impaired  1.1 0.4 1.5 4 0.2 - 0.2 1

 18.2 22.4 40.6 100 14.1 20.6 34.7 100

2009 2008

The table below provides further information on Commercial and Specialist Lending loans and advances by payment due status as at 4 April:

2009 2008

£bn % £bn %

Self-certified  5.2 13 5.1 15

Buy to Let  11.2 27 8.5 24

Near Prime  1.3 3 0.4 1

Sub Prime  0.5 1 0.1 -

Specialist Lending  18.2 44 14.1 40

Commercial Lending  22.1 55 20.3 59

Other Lending  0.3 1 0.3 1

 40.6 100 34.7 100

In consumer finance Personal Loans and Credit Cards have arrears levels significantly lower than averages for the industry (FLA and APACS) as shown 
in the table below:



Nationwide 2009 Annual Report and Accounts104

Notes to the Accounts 
continued 

Specialist
Lending

£m

Commercial
Lending

£m

Total

£m %

Specialist
Lending

£m

Commercial
Lending

£m

Total

£m %

Impaired status:

Past due 3 to 6 months  443 122 565 38 107 20 127 53

Past due 6 to 12 months  320 229 549 37 51 9 60 25

Past due over 12 months  117 21 138 10 28 9 37 15

Possessions  215 12 227 15 17 - 17 7

 1,095 384 1,479 100 203 38 241 100

2009 2008

Loans in the analysis above which are less than 3 months past due have collective impairment allowances set aside to cover credit losses on loans 
which are in the early stages of arrears. Loans acquired through mergers with The Cheshire, The Derbyshire and Dunfermline have been fair valued on 
a basis which makes allowances for anticipated losses over the remaining life of the loans. Impaired loans totalling £490 million in the above analysis 
have been thus fair valued and are therefore unlikely to contribute any significant further losses to the Group.

Impaired Commercial and Specialist Lending assets are further analysed as follows:

Commercial assets totalling £359 million have individual provisions against them. 

Possession balances represent properties which Nationwide has taken ownership of pending their sale.

£45 million (2008: £28 million) of loans that would be past due or impaired have had their terms renegotiated in the last 12 months.

Collateral held in relation to secured loans that are either past due or impaired is capped to the amount outstanding on an individual loan basis.  
The percentage, in the table above, is the cover over the impaired asset.

Within Specialist Lending of £18.2 billion, 61.8% (4 April 2008: 60.2%) of lending is to Buy to Let customers, 35.4% (2008: 39.3%) is prime or 
near-prime lending and only 2.8% (4 April 2008: 0.5%) relates to sub-prime lending. Asset quality of these portfolios remains strong. The average LTV 
is 71% (4 April 2008: 63%) whilst the average LTV of new lending over the year was 67% (4 April 2008: 74%). We continue to closely monitor and, 
where appropriate, refine our lending criteria to ensure existing levels of asset quality are maintained.

Our Commercial loan portfolio of £22.1 billion comprises lending secured on commercial property (‘Property Finance’), advanced to Registered Social 
Landlords and advanced under the Private Finance Initiative as follows:

46. Financial instruments (continued)

Collateral held against Commercial and Specialist Lending 2009  2008

£m  % £m %

Past due but not impaired  1,844  97  819  95

Impaired  1,204  96  222  99

Possessions  218  96  16  94

3,266  97  1,057  96

Negative Equity on Commercial and Specialist Lending 2009  2008

£m £m

Past due but not impaired 53  42

Impaired  48 2

Possessions  9 1

 110 45

2009  2008
£bn % £bn %

Property Finance 13.7 62 12.9 64

Registered Social Landlords  7.2 33 6.3 31

Private Finance Initiative  1.2 5 1.1 5

 22.1 100 20.3 100

Loans to Registered Social Landlords are secured on residential property and loans advanced under the Private Finance Initiative are secured on cash 
flows from Government backed contracts. We have never suffered losses on our lending in these markets and there are currently no arrears of three 
months or more on these portfolios. Our Property Finance portfolio is well diversified by industry type and by borrower and we have no significant 
exposure to development finance. The proportion of Property Finance cases three months or more in arrears as at 4 April was 2.25%, and equates to 
223 cases (2008: 0.66%, 66 cases). 
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Liquidity Portfolio April
2009

£bn
AAA

%
AA
%

A
%

BBB
%

UK
%

US
%

Europe
%

Other
%

Bank of England 8.2 100 - - - 100 - - -

Loans to financial institutions 4.7 - 48 52 - 89 - 1 10

Other (including items in transit 
and clearing accounts)

0.4 - - - - 100 - - -

Non AFS Assets 13.3

Gilts 4.7 100 - - - 100 - - -

Supranational bonds 1.9 100 - - - - 5 95 -

Residential mortgage backed 
securities (RMBS)

2.7 99 1 - - 40 - 53 7

Covered bonds 0.9 86 14 - - - 3 91 6

Floating rate notes 6.6 23 23 52 2 34 2 54 10

Certificates of deposit and 
commercial paper

1.0 - 25 75 - 100 - - -

AFS Assets 17.8

Total liquidity portfolio 31.1 64 14 22 - 70 1 25 4

Ratings are obtained from Standard and Poors in the majority of cases, from Moody’s if there is no Standard and Poors rating available, and internal 
ratings are used if neither is available. 

We have continued to increase the quality of the liquidity portfolio, with over 48% of assets held in sovereign exposure and over 99% of the portfolio 
rated A or better with 78% rated AA or above.

In terms of counterparty concentration, the largest single Commercial customer, including undrawn commitments, represents only 1% (2008: 2%)  
of the total book.

d) Other lending
Other lending of £0.3 billion relates to a portfolio of European leveraged loans managed via a leading European CLO manager.

Credit risk – Cash and balances with the Bank of England, loans and advances to banks, investment securities – available for sale and 
derivative financial instruments

Credit risk within our Treasury Division arises from the investments held by Treasury for liquidity and investment purposes and for general business 
purposes. This aspect of credit risk is managed by Treasury Division and the Commercial and Treasury Risk function within Risk Management Division. 
The Commercial and Treasury Risk team underwrites all new facilities and monitors existing facilities. They also set and monitor compliance with 
policy and limits, reporting to the Commercial and Treasury Credit Committee. In addition, counterparty credit risk arises from the Group’s derivatives 
where the values are positive.

The Treasury Risk function monitors exposure concentrations against a variety of criteria including industry sector, asset class, and country of risk.  
The Treasury portfolio exposure is well spread across both industry sectors and jurisdictions. Nationwide has no exposure to emerging markets, 
hedge funds and only minimal exposure to non investment grade debt. 

Treasury assets are held in two portfolios – the liquidity portfolio and the investment portfolio. At 4 April 2009 the liquidity portfolio totalled  
£31.1 billion (2008: £27.3 billion) and the investment portfolio totalled £3.4 billion (2008: £4.3 billion). Analysis of each of these portfolios by credit 
rating and by location of issuer is given below, with further commentary provided in the Business Review on pages 17 to 18.

Property Finance lending is well diversified by industry type and an analysis is provided below:

46. Financial instruments (continued)

2009 2008

£bn % £bn %

Retail  4.1 30 3.8 29

Office  3.2 23 3.1 24

Residential  2.5 18 1.8 14

Industrial and warehouse  2.1 16 2.0 16

Leisure and hotel  1.0 7 0.8 6

Owner occupied  0.7 5 1.2 9

Other  0.1 1 0.2 2

 13.7 100 12.9 100
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46. Financial instruments (continued)

Investment Portfolio –  
all AFS assets April

2009
£bn

AAA
%

AA
%

A
%

Other
%

UK
%

US
%

Europe
%

Other
%

Collateralised debt obligations 
(CDO)

0.1 5 - - 95 - 100 - -

Collateralised loan obligations 
(CLO) 

0.5 100 - - - 26 70 4 -

Commercial mortgage  
backed securities 

0.6 93 6 1 - 50 11 39 -

Corporate bond portfolio 0.2 13 7 80 - 17 16 67 -

Credit card backed securities 0.3 97 3 - - 47 53 - -

Financial institutions including 
subordinated debt

0.6 - 26 69 5 22 35 36 7

Other corporate bonds - - 46 54 - 100 - - -

Residential mortgage backed 
securities (RMBS)

0.2 54 22 17 7 55 39 6 -

US student loan 0.7 98 1 1 - - 100 - -

Other investments 0.2 30 30 37 3 17 45 35 3

Total 3.4 65 11 21 3 27 52 19 2

Liquidity Portfolio
April

2008
£bn

AAA
%

AA
%

A
%

BBB
%

UK
%

US
%

Europe
%

Other
%

Bank of England 3.3 100 - - - 100 - - -

Loans to financial institutions 2.3 - 76 24 - 19 4 75 2

Other (including items in transit 
and clearing accounts)

0.5 - - - - 100 - - -

Non AFS Assets 6.1

Gilts 3.3 100 - - - 100 - - -

Supranational bonds 0.5 100 - - - - 7 89 4

Residential mortgage backed 
securities (RMBS)

3.5 100 - - - 44 - 49 7

Covered bonds 0.8 93 7 - - - 3 91 6

Floating rate notes 5.5 1 51 48 - 15 4 58 23

Certificates of deposit and 
commercial paper

7.6 - 64 36 - 52 - 47 1

AFS Assets 21.2

Total liquidity portfolio 27.3 43 35 22 - 49 1 43 7

Ratings are obtained from Standard and Poors in the majority of cases, from Moody’s if there is no Standard and Poors rating available, and internal 
ratings are used if neither is available. 

Over 97% of the investment portfolio is rated A or better with 76% rated AA or better. 
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Investment Portfolio –  
all AFS assets April

2008
£bn

AAA
%

AA
%

A
%

Other
%

UK
%

US
%

Europe
%

Other
%

Collateralised debt obligations 
(CDO)

0.1 98 - 2 - - 100 - -

Collateralised loan obligations 
(CLO)

0.5 100 - - - 26 67 7 -

Commercial mortgage  
backed securities 

0.9 81 16 3 - 55 11 34 -

Corporate bond portfolio 0.2 17 83 - - 37 12 51 -

Credit card backed securities 0.3 100 - - - 49 51 - -

Financial institutions including 
subordinated debt

0.6 - 59 37 4 24 33 37 6

Other corporate bonds 0.4 100 - - - 100 - - -

Residential mortgage backed 
securities (RMBS)

0.3 59 14 27 - 40 59 1 -

US student loan 0.7 99 1 - - - 100 - -

Other investments 0.3 42 13 3 42 20 49 28 3

Total 4.3 70 18 8 4 37 44 18 1

In assessing impairment, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in valuation, evidence of deterioration in the financial health  
of the investee, industry and sector performance and operational and financing cash flows. An impairment loss of £51 million (2008: £102 million)  
has been recognised in the income statement in respect of these assets. 

Collateral held as security for Treasury assets is determined by the nature of the instrument. Loans, debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills  
are generally unsecured with the exception of asset backed securities and similar instruments, which are secured by pools of financial assets.  
In addition, collateral, predominantly gilts, is held under reverse sale and repurchase agreements as described in note 17.

The fair value of derivative assets at 4 April 2009 was £5.9 billion (2008: £2.4 billion). Additional information on these assets is set out in note 18.  
The International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement is Nationwide’s preferred agreement for documenting derivative 
activity. It is common for a Credit Support Annex (CSA) to be executed in conjunction with the ISDA Master Agreement. Under a CSA, cash collateral  
is passed between parties to mitigate the market contingent counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding positions. Where cash collateral is received, 
to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due to us, it is included as a liability within deposits from banks. Where cash collateral is given to mitigate the 
risk inherent in amounts due from us, it is included as an asset in loans and advances to banks.

Netting arrangements do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis.  
The Group’s legal documentation for derivative transactions grants legal rights of set-off for those transactions. Accordingly, the credit risk associated 
with such contracts is reduced to the extent that negative mark to market values on derivatives will offset positive mark to market values on derivatives 
in the calculation of credit risk, subject to an absolute exposure of zero. 

Treasury portfolio credit mitigation
The Group has credit derivatives in place to cover the credit risk on a £153 million notional (2008: £188 million notional) of assets within the available 
for sale portfolio.

All of the credit derivatives have been undertaken with A+ or above rated US and European banking institutions.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the Sterling value of, or net income from, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency changes 
as a consequence of changes to foreign exchange rates.

In addition to commercial loans denominated in Euro, a significant proportion of Treasury funding and investment activity is undertaken in foreign 
currencies. Foreign currency exposure is hedged on the balance sheet or by using derivatives to reduce currency exposures to acceptable levels.

In line with the prudential guidance applying to all building societies and after taking account of foreign currency derivatives, the Group has no 
substantial net exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations or changes in foreign currency interest rates. ALCO sets limits on the level of exposure  
by currency which are monitored daily. 

VaR is used to monitor the risk arising from open foreign currency positions. Open currency positions represent the net value of assets, liabilities  
and derivatives in foreign currency. The parameters of the VaR methodology, and frequency of reporting are exactly as described above under  
Interest Rate Risk.

46. Financial instruments (continued)
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In addition to the assets and liabilities shown in the table above, residential commitments as at the year end for the Group stood at £4,680 million and 
for the Society £4,128 million. These commitments can be drawn at any time, but have a 6 month expiry from inception.

Commercial commitments for both Group and Society shown in note 43 can be drawn at any time. They have expiry dates that are specific to each 
contract and these can be in excess of 5 years. Of the Group commitments outstanding at the year end, £73 million have a maturity of less than 3 
months, £270 million have a maturity of within 3 to 12 months, £1,544 million mature within 1 to 5 years and £774 million mature after 5 years. Of the 
Society commitments outstanding at the year end, £73 million have a maturity of less than 3 months, £249 million have a maturity of within 3 to 12 
months, £1,473 million mature within 1 to 5 years and £755 million mature after 5 years.

46. Financial instruments (continued)

At 4 April 2009 –  
Residual maturity

 Repayable on 
demand

£m 

Up to 
3 months

£m

3 - 12  
months

£m 

1 - 5  
years

£m

More than  
5 years

£m 
 Total

£m 

Assets

Liquid assets  12,406  1,779  2,165  8,703  9,411  34,464

Loans and advances to customers  861  1,726  3,840  23,078  125,977  155,482

Other assets  475  880  1,609  6,443  3,008  12,415

Total assets  13,742  4,385  7,614  38,224  138,396  202,361

Liabilities       

Shares  93,558  6,490  19,862  8,363  11  128,284

Amounts owed to banks,  
customers and debt securities in issue  3,714  26,848  10,723  12,173  4,663  58,121

Other liabilities  952  224  703  4,091  1,933  7,903

Subordinated liabilities  -  15  -  19  2,199  2,233

Subscribed capital  -  -  -  -  1,526  1,526

Total liabilities  98,224  33,577  31,288  24,646  10,332  198,067
      

Net liquidity gap  (84,482)  (29,192)  (23,674)  13,578  128,064  4,294

Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk that the Group is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or can do so only at an excessive cost.

The Group liquidity policy is to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow imbalances and fluctuations in funding, to retain full public 
confidence in the solvency of the Group and to enable it to meet all financial obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a prudent level of high 
quality liquid assets, through management and stress testing of business cash flows, and through management of funding facilities. The Group liquidity 
policy is reconsidered annually by the Board. 

Liquid assets are categorised according to their liquidity characteristics, and the most liquid category of assets is the focus of management attention. 
This portfolio predominantly comprises holdings of sovereign-issued securities, and deposits with the central bank. Assets may be acquired through 
direct purchase, through repurchase agreements or through collateral swaps. Encumbered assets are excluded from the calculation of liquid assets 
which is conducted on a daily basis.

The Board is responsible for setting limits over the level and composition of liquidity balances. A series of liquidity stress tests is performed each month 
to confirm that the limits remain appropriate; for a forward period of one month, a liquidity model is used to apply a number of stress scenarios to the 
Group contractual and behavioural forward cash flows. The minimum level of liquidity to be held is determined through one of these stress scenarios, 
and internal liquidity limits are increased, where required, on a monthly basis.

ALCO is responsible for setting more detailed limits within the context of overall Board limits, including the level and maturity profile of wholesale 
funding, and for monitoring the composition of the Group balance sheet. Wholesale funding maturities are monitored to ensure that future maturities 
are not concentrated on a calendar basis. This enhances the ability of the Group to refinance maturing liabilities throughout forward months and 
quarters. A consolidated cash flow forecast is maintained on a continuous basis and reviewed by ALCO.

A Contingency Funding Plan has been approved by ALCO, and describes procedures and available actions to manage the Group’s liquidity resources 
through a period of market disruption or heavy retail outflows. This is reviewed on a biannual basis.

For each material class of financial liability a maturity analysis is provided in notes 28 to 32. In practice, customer deposits will be repaid later than on 
the earliest date on which repayment can be required. 

The table below analyses the carrying value of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

  2009    2008
Average

£m
High

£m
Low
£m

Average
£m

High
£m

 Low 
£m

VaR 0.2 0.5 - 0.2 0.4 -

The average gross Sterling equivalent exposures for foreign exchange risk through the year are as follows:
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The analysis of gross contractual cash flows above differs from the analysis of residual maturity due to the inclusion of interest accrued at current rates, 
for the average period until maturity on the amounts outstanding at the balance sheet date. 

46. Financial instruments (continued)

At 4 April 2008 –  
Residual maturity  Repayable on 

demand
£m 

Up to 
3 months

£m

3 - 12  
months

£m 

1 - 5  
years

£m

More than  
5 years

£m 
 Total

£m 

Assets

Liquid assets 3,603 10,361 2,050  9,130  6,532  31,676

Loans and advances to customers 1,089 839 3,192 19,272 118,412  142,804

Other assets 279 627 406  1,545  1,690  4,547

Total assets 4,971 11,827 5,648 29,947  126,634  179,027

Liabilities

Shares 94,154 1,215 15,181 3,266 -  113,816

Amounts owed to banks,  
customers and debt securities in issue 2,756 24,818 10,384 10,281 5,310 53,549

Other liabilities 940 58 350 828 175 2,351

Subordinated liabilities - 315 - - 1,743 2,058

Subscribed capital - - - - 1,245 1,245

Total liabilities 97,850 26,406  25,915  14,375  8,473  173,019

Net liquidity gap (92,879)  (14,579)  (20,267)  15,572  118,161  6,008

Liquid assets include cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England, loans and advances to banks and available for sale investment securities.

Other assets include derivative financial instruments, fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk, investments in equity shares, property plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, investment property, other assets, deferred tax assets and accrued income and expenses prepaid.

Other liabilities include derivative financial instruments, fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk, other liabilities, provisions for liabilities and 
charges, accruals and deferred income, current tax liabilities and retirement benefit obligations.

The following is an analysis of gross contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities:

Gross contractual cash flows

2009

 Repayable on 
demand

£m 

Up to 
3 months

£m

3 - 12  
months

£m 

1 - 5  
years

£m

More than  
5 years

£m 
 Total

£m 

Shares  93,558  6,658  20,156  8,721  12  129,105

Amounts owed to banks,  
customers and debt securities in issue  3,714  26,982  10,941  12,736  4,816  59,189

Other liabilities  952  770  2,202 3,235  878  8,037

Subordinated liabilities  -  22  82  1,688  676  2,468

Subscribed capital  -  10  81  694  1,662 2,447

Total liabilities  98,224  34,442  33,462  27,074 8,044  201,246

Gross contractual cash flows

2008

 Repayable on 
demand

£m 

Up to 
3 months

£m

3 - 12  
months

£m 

1 - 5  
years

£m

More than  
5 years

£m 
 Total

£m 

Shares  94,153  1,449  15,581  3,587  -  114,770

Amounts owed to banks,  
customers and debt securities in issue  2,756  25,297  11,164  12,371  5,973  57,561

Other liabilities  941  235  455  665  248  2,544

Subordinated liabilities  -  327  70  265  1,718  2,380

Subscribed capital  -  6  74  670  1,484  2,234

Total liabilities  97,850  27,314  27,344  17,558  9,423  179,489
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables summarise the classification of carrying amounts of the Group’s primary financial assets and liabilities as at 4 April 
2009 and 4 April 2008:

46. Financial instruments (continued)

2009 Liabilities at 
amortised cost

£m

Available  
for Sale

£m 

Loans and
Receivables

£m

Fair Value 
through 
Income 

Statement 
(including 

Derivatives) 
£m 

Total

£m Group

Financial Assets

Cash and balances with the Bank of England - - 8,201 - 8,201

Loans and advances to banks - - 5,040 - 5,040

Investment securities - 21,223 - - 21,223

Derivative financial instruments - - - 5,861 5,861

Loans and advances to customers - - 155,482 - 155,482

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk - - 3,408 - 3,408

Investments in equity shares - 81 - - 81

Other financial assets* - - - 218 218

Total Financial Assets - 21,304 172,131 6,079 199,514

Other non-financial assets 2,847

Total Assets 202,361

Financial Liabilities

Shares 128,284 - - - 128,284

Deposits from banks 13,283 - - - 13,283

Other deposits 5,673 - - - 5,673

Due to customers 4,371 - - - 4,371

Debt securities in issue 34,794 - - - 34,794

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk - - 239 - 239

Derivative financial instruments - - - 5,986 5,986

Subordinated liabilities 2,233 - - - 2,233

Subscribed capital 1,526 - - - 1,526

Total Financial Liabilities 190,164 - 239 5,986 196,389

Corporation tax 51

Other non-financial liabilities 1,627

Total Liabilities 198,067

*Other financial assets represents mortgage commitments entered into where a loan has not yet been made.
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46. Financial instruments (continued)

2008 Liabilities at 
amortised cost

£m

Available  
for Sale

£m 

Loans and
Receivables

£m

Fair Value 
through  
Income 

Statement 
(including 

Derivatives) 
£m 

Total

£m Group

Financial Assets

Cash and balances with the Bank of England - - 3,353 - 3,353

Loans and advances to banks - - 2,837 - 2,837

Investment securities - 25,486 - - 25,486

Derivative financial instruments - - - 2,408 2,408

Loans and advances to customers - - 142,804 - 142,804

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk - - 247 - 247

Investments in equity shares - 61 - - 61

Total Financial Assets - 25,547 149,241 2,408 177,196

Other non-financial assets 1,831

Total Assets 179,027

Financial Liabilities

Shares 113,816 - - - 113,816

Deposits from banks 11,777 - - - 11,777

Other deposits 4,567 - - - 4,567

Due to customers 3,433 - - - 3,433

Debt securities in issue 33,772 - - - 33,772

Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk - - - - -

Derivative financial instruments - - - 1,201 1,201

Subordinated liabilities 2,058 - - - 2,058

Subscribed capital 1,245 - - - 1,245

Other financial liabilities* - - - 51 51

Total Financial Liabilities 170,668 - - 1,252 171,920

Corporation tax (12)

Other non-financial liabilities 1,111

Total Liabilities 173,019

*Other financial liabilities represents mortgage commitments entered into where a loan has not yet been made.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not presented on the Group balance sheets 
at fair value: 

46. Financial instruments (continued)

2009 Group Society
Carrying 

value
£m

Fair value

£m

Carrying 
value

£m

Fair value

£m

Financial Assets

Loans and advances to banks 5,040 5,040 4,994 4,994

Loans and advances to customers:

Secured•	 130,651 132,821 113,445 115,459

Unsecured•	 2,531 2,561 1,172 1,172

Commercial•	 22,300 21,635 20,828 20,109

Financial Liabilities

Shares 128,284 128,895 128,284 128,895

Deposits from banks 13,283 13,297 12,450 12,464

Other deposits 5,673 5,648 10,888 10,863

Due to customers 4,371 4,371 810 810

Debt securities in issue 34,794 32,852 32,452 31,075

Subordinated liabilities 2,233 1,518 2,233 1,518

Subscribed capital 1,526 753 1,526 753

2008 Group Society
Carrying  

value
£m

Fair value

£m

Carrying  
value

£m

Fair value

£m

Financial Assets

Loans and advances to banks (reclassified) 2,837 2,837 2,777 2,777

Loans and advances to customers:

Secured•	 119,546 119,277 105,495 105,205

Unsecured•	 2,630 2,632 1,002 1,002

Commercial•	 20,628 20,448 19,549 19,363

Financial Liabilities

Shares 113,816 113,827 113,816 113,827

Deposits from banks 11,777 11,788 11,227 11,228

Other deposits 4,567 4,566 7,871 7,870

Due to customers 3,433 3,433 732 732

Debt securities in issue 33,772 33,162 34,026 33,360

Subordinated liabilities 2,058 2,071 2,058 2,071

Subscribed capital 1,245 1,254 1,245 1,254

a) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of 
estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. 

b) Deposits and borrowings
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows using 
interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity.

c) Debt securities in issue
The aggregate fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices. For those notes where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted 
cash flow model is used based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.
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Fair value measurement
The following table summarises the fair value measurement basis used for assets and liabilities held on the Balance Sheet at fair value:

The Derbyshire and The Cheshire building societies directors’ emoluments are disclosed in notes 5(c) and 4 of the Derbyshire and Cheshire respective 
cessation accounts. No directors from The Derbyshire or The Cheshire transferred to Nationwide.

Portman Building Society directors’ emoluments relating to the 2008 comparatives were disclosed in note 6 of the Portman cessation accounts for the 
period ending 27 August 2007.

In addition to the key management personnel compensation above a further amount of £99,000 (2008: £54,000) was contributed by the Society  
to a director’s stakeholder pension scheme as disclosed in the Report of the Directors on Remuneration on page 49.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as price) or indirectly  

(i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
These definitions have been taken from the March 2009 amendment to IFRS 7 ‘Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments’.

Equity investments, categorised as Level 3, are classified as available for sale with changes in value recognised in the available for sale reserve. When 
estimating the fair value of equity investments the exercise of judgement is required due to uncertainties inherent in estimating the value of private 
equity portfolios, however the estimation is based on guidelines issued by industry bodies, the financial position and results, industry and company 
risk profiles, and future prospects.

46. Financial instruments (continued)

Subsidiary, parent and ultimate controlling party
The Group is controlled by the Nationwide Building Society registered in England and Wales which is also considered to be the ultimate parent.  
Details of subsidiary undertakings can be found in note 22 to these accounts.

Key management compensation
The directors of the Society are considered to be the only key management personnel as defined by IAS 24.

Total compensation for key management personnel for the year by category of benefit was as follows:

47. Related party transactions

2009  

Group

Level 1

£m

Level 2

£m

Level 3

£m

Total

£m

Financial Assets

Investment securities – AFS 4,719 16,504 - 21,223

Investments in equity shares - - 80 80

Derivative financial instruments - 5,861 - 5,861

Financial Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - (5,986) - (5,986)

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Short term employee benefits  4,042 5,371

Post employment benefits  78 157

Other long term benefits  2,434 1,264

Contractual/other settlements  749 -

Total key management personnel compensation for year  7,303  6,792
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Transactions with related parties
A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These include loans, deposits and the payment and 
recharge of administrative expenses. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and the related income and 
expenses for the year are as follows: 

Transactions with key management personnel
Transactions with key management personnel are on the same terms and conditions applicable to other employees within the Group.

A register is maintained by the Society containing details of loans, transactions and arrangements made between the Society or its subsidiary 
undertakings and Directors of the Society or persons connected with Directors of the Society. 

The register will be available for inspection by members at the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2009 and during normal office hours at the  
Society’s principal office (Nationwide House, Pipers Way, Swindon) during the period of 15 days prior to the meeting.

Transactions with Group companies
Transactions with Group companies arise in the normal course of business. Interest on outstanding loans and deposits accrues at a transfer price rate 
agreed between the Society and its subsidiaries.

Related party transactions
As part of the transitional arrangements prior to the mergers with The Cheshire and The Derbyshire building societies, transitional funding facilities 
were put in place. Revolving one month unsecured facilities of £250 million were available for each society, which were fully drawn down by both 
societies at the time of their respective acquisitions. In addition further secured funding arrangements were put in place for £250 million for each of 
the societies. No drawn downs were made on the secured facilities by either Society. The facilities were made on commercial terms.

As part of the normal course of business the Group had a £35 million loan due from Dunfermline Building Society. The loan was repaid on  
30 March 2009.

As part of the transitional arrangements prior to the Portman merger in 2007, the Society provided a facility to Portman Building Society from  
6 August 2007. The total amount provided was £1 billion, of which £755 million was drawn down. The facility was made on commercial terms.

47. Related party transactions (continued)

Society
Subsidiaries

Group and Society
Key management 

personnel

2009
£m

2008
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

Loans payable to the Society     

Loans outstanding at 5 April  15,693  8,576  0.3  1.0

Acquired on transfer of engagements  4,092  6,106  -  -

Loans issued during the year  2,201  1,591  0.3  0.1

Loan repayments during the year  (1,650)  (580)  (0.2)  (0.8)

Loans outstanding at 4 April  20,336  15,693  0.4  0.3

Deposits payable by the Society     

Deposits outstanding at 5 April  3,304  2,463  2.7  2.3

Acquired on transfer of engagements  -  495  -  -

Deposits issued during the year  1,940  1,013  3.5  1.9

Deposit repayments during the year  (28)  (667)  (1.3)  (1.5)

Deposits outstanding at 4 April  5,216  3,304  4.9  2.7

Net interest income     

Interest receivable  710  648  -  0.1

Interest expense  727  217  0.1  0.1

Other income and expenses     

Fees and expenses paid to the Society  1  19  -  -

Other balance sheet items

Amounts owed to the Society 1,114 1,300 - -

Other liabilities payable by the Society  68  - - -

Accruals payable by the Society  21  6  -  -
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Group Society
2009

£m
2008

£m
2009

£m
2008

£m

Non-cash items included in profit before tax

Net increase/(decrease) in impairment provisions 258 (14) 170 (6)

Impairment losses on investment securities 51 102 51 102

Depreciation and amortisation 126 124 125 123

Loss on sale of fixed assets 3 1 3 1

Interest on subordinated liabilities 93 90 93 90

Interest on subscribed capital 85 76 85 76

Loss on the revaluation of land and buildings 16 - 13 -

Loss on the revaluation of investment properties 6 - 5 -

Gain/(loss) from derivatives and hedge accounting (10) 31 (11) 32

(Profit) on sale of subsidiary undertaking - (10) - (133)

(Gain) on business combinations (157) - (157) -

471 400 377 285

Changes in operating assets 

Loans and advances to banks (325) (35) (330) (143)

Investment securities (543) (3,126) (542) (3,192)

Derivative financial instruments and fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk (7,085) (2,359) (5,224) (1,210)

Other financial instruments at fair value - (537) - -

Deferred tax assets (659) (62) (659) (47)

Loans and advances to customers (2,483) (26,726) (1,937) (19,445)

Other operating assets (321) 1,413 (873) (8,955)

(11,416) (31,432) (9,565) (32,992)

Changes in operating liabilities 

Shares 4,490 27,020 4,490 27,020

Deposits from banks, customers and others 856 9,343 689 10,311

Derivative financial instruments and fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk 4,769 529 5,772 748

Debt securities in issue 356 4,900 (2,240) 6,458

Insurance contract liabilities - (1,228) - -

Retirement benefit obligations 298 (133) 298 (133)

Other operating liabilities (1,344) 559 (1,035) 559

9,425 40,990 7,974 44,963

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with the Bank of England (Reclassified) 8,201 3,353 8,193 3,345

Loans and advances to other banks repayable in 3 months or less (Reclassified) 4,262 2,636 4,221 2,575

Investment securities with a maturity period of 3 months or less 931 3,223 931 3,223

13,394 9,212 13,345 9,143

48. Notes to the cash flow statements

A short term deposit of £2,947 million at 4 April 2008 has been reclassified from loans and advances to banks to be included in cash and balances with 
the Bank of England on the balance sheet date.

The Group is required to maintain balances with the Bank of England which, at 4 April 2009, amounted to for the Group and Society £173 million 
(2008: £197 million). These balances are included within loans and advances to banks on the balance sheet and are not included in the cash and cash 
equivalents in the cash flow statement as they are not liquid in nature.
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49. Transfer of engagements

On 1 December 2008 and 15 December 2008, the Society acquired all of The Derbyshire Building Society Group (The Derbyshire) and all of  
The Cheshire Building Society Group (The Cheshire) respectively, by way of a transfer of engagement under the Building Society Act. The primary 
reason for the acquisitions was to enhance the strength and stability of the building society sector. The Boards of The Derbyshire and The Cheshire 
independently reached a conclusion that merging with Nationwide was in the best interests of their members, given the current uncertain economic 
environment and following the identification of financial issues faced by both Societies. From the Nationwide perspective, the acquisitions provided an 
opportunity to build on its strong position within the financial services sector by adding two attractive customer franchises to its existing operations.

The Consolidated Income Statement of the Group includes acquisition related administrative expenses for The Derbyshire and The Cheshire of  
£12 million. As the merger programmes for both The Derbyshire and The Cheshire were run jointly it is impractical to split these costs between  
the two acquisitions.

The Derbyshire Building Society
The assets and liabilities acquired and associated adjustments are set out below:

Balance Sheet

Notes

Cessation 
Accounts
UK GAAP 

Format

£m

IFRS 
Reclassifications

£m

Fair Value
Adjustments

£m

Acquisition
Fair Values

£m

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Bank of England 5 - - 5

Loans and advances to banks 671 - - 671

Investment securities – available for sale ii 423 - (96) 327

Derivative financial instruments i/iii - 41 79 120

Loans and advances to customers iv 5,073 - (75) 4,998

Investments in equity shares - - 1 1

Intangible assets v - 2 21 23

Property, plant and equipment v 22 (2) (1) 19

Current tax assets 2 - - 2

Deferred tax assets vi 20 - 43 63

Other assets vii 26 - (25) 1

Accrued income and expenses prepaid i 43 (41) 1 3

Total assets 6,285 - (52) 6,233

LIABILITIES

Shares viii 4,365 (2) 54 4,417

Deposits from banks 347 - - 347

Due to customers 743 - 5 748

Debt securities in issue ix 377 - 32 409

Derivative financial instruments iii - 2 72 74

Provisions for liabilities and charges x - - 7 7

Other liabilities 13 - - 13

Accruals and deferred income 7 - - 7

Subordinated liabilities ix 105 - (1) 104

Subscribed capital ix 143 - (36) 107

Total liabilities 6,100 - 133 6,233

Net identifiable assets 185 - (185) -

Imputed consideration xi -

Gain on acquisition -
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continued

49. Transfer of engagements (continued)

We expect to receive all gross contractual amounts receivable relating to the above financial assets with the exception of the following:

Fair Value

£m

Gross contractual  
amounts receivable

£m

Cash flows not expected  
to be collected

£m

Loans and advances to customers 4,998 5,160 270

Investment securities – available for sale 327 433 10

5,325 5,593 280

The gross contractual amounts receivable represents the cessation account balance before provisions and other fair value adjustments. Cash flows not 
expected to be collected are the undiscounted credit losses associated with the balance. 

Explanation of material adjustments to take on balances 
i)  The cessation accounts of The Derbyshire have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP) and 

some balance sheet reclassifications have therefore been made to conform with IFRS formats. The most material of these has been to reclassify 
accrued interest on derivative financial instruments from Accrued Income and Expenses Prepaid to Derivative Financial Instruments.

ii)  Investment securities were previously carried at amortised cost subject to impairment. These are now included at fair value using market prices  
or prices obtained from counterparties. 

iii)  Derivative financial instruments were previously carried at amortised cost and these are now included at fair value based on discounted future  
cash flow models, with market inputs valued consistently with the Group.

iv)  Loans and advances to customers were previously carried at amortised cost subject to impairment and have been recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. The acquisition fair value adjustment reflects both credit and interest rate risk associated with these assets. This fair value 
acquisition becomes the new amortised cost for acquired loans and receivables.

v)  Identifiable intangible assets are in respect of core deposits, £16 million (recognising the intrinsic value of the retail savings book), customer 
relationships (recognising the income streams from renewable contracts – primarily insurance) and brand, £1 million and goodwill, £4 million 
(recognising the benefit to the Group of The Derbyshire savings book). The core deposit and customer relationships and brand intangibles will be 
amortised over their useful lives of between 5 and 10 years. The goodwill will be subject to annual impairment review. In addition, £2 million of 
computer software has been reclassified from Property, Plant and Equipment to Intangible Assets. We have classified the former head office of the 
acquired Society as a specialised administration building.

vi)  The deferred tax adjustment reflects the tax consequences of the other fair value adjustments made.

vii)  The other asset fair value adjustment primarily reflects the write off of premiums paid by The Derbyshire to acquire mortgage books.

viii) The fair value adjustments for shares reflect interest rate risk associated with these liabilities. Under UK GAAP these liabilities were carried at 
amortised cost.

ix)  The fair value adjustments for debt securities in issue, subscribed capital and subordinated liabilities reflect both credit and interest rate risk 
associated with these liabilities. Under UK GAAP these liabilities were carried at cost.

x)  The fair value adjustment for provisions for liabilities and charges represents recognition of the FSCS liability relating to The Derbyshire savings 
balances transferred to the Group. 

xi)  Consideration represents the fair value of members’ interests transferred. The combination of the two societies did not involve the transfer of  
any cash consideration. The value of the consideration has been calculated by measuring the fair value of The Derbyshire business. The calculation 
has been made with reference to quoted financial services organisations with publicly available valuations, adjusted to take account of such items 
as the relative size, financial status, economic diversification and the unquoted nature of the business. This has resulted in a value of £nil attributed 
to the consideration.

The cessation accounts of The Derbyshire for the period 1 January 2008 to 30 November 2008, audited by KPMG, reported net interest income of  
£40 million and a post tax loss of £70 million. To calculate an estimate of the results of the business combination from the beginning of the year, we 
estimate that net interest income of £27 million and a post tax loss of £69 million relating to The Derbyshire would be added to the figures as reported 
in the Group income statement. 

Following the acquisition, The Derbyshire ceased to exist, being subsumed by Nationwide Building Society. It is thus not possible to separate its results 
post the transfer of engagements.
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Balance sheet

Notes

Cessation 
Accounts 

£m

Fair Value
Adjustments 

£m

Acquisition 
Fair Values 

£m

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Bank of England 57 - 57

Loans and advances to banks 139 (1) 138

Investment securities – available for sale i 639 (8) 631

Derivative financial instruments ii 35 5 40

Loans and advances to customers iii 3,755 (26) 3,729

Intangible assets iv 2 10 12

Property, plant and equipment iv 15 1 16

Investment properties 3 (1) 2

Current tax asset 1 - 1

Deferred tax asset 4 2 6

Other assets 1 - 1

Accrued income and expenses prepaid 2 - 2

Retirement benefit asset 7 - 7

Total assets 4,660 (18) 4,642

LIABILITIES

Shares v 3,236 19 3,255

Deposits from banks v 291 1 292

Due to customers v 521 5 526

Debt securities in issue vi 262 (5) 257

Derivative financial instruments ii 93 12 105

Deferred tax liabilities 4 - 4

Provisions for liabilities and charges vii - 6 6

Accruals and deferred income 8 - 8

Subordinated liabilities vi 65 (2) 63

Subscribed capital vi 41 (4) 37

Total liabilities 4,521 32 4,553

Net identifiable assets 139 (50) 89

Imputed consideration viii -

Gain on acquisition ix 89

49. Transfer of engagements (continued)

We expect to receive all gross contractual amounts receivable relating to the above financial assets with the exception of the following:

Fair Value
£m

Gross contractual 
amounts receivable

£m

Cash flows not 
expected to be 

collected
£m

Loans and advances to customers 3,729 3,710 100

Investment securities – available for sale 631 657 5

4,360 4,367 105

The gross contractual amounts receivable represents the cessation account balance before provisions and other fair value adjustments.  
Cash flows not expected to be collected are the undiscounted credit losses associated with the balance.

The Cheshire Building Society

The assets and liabilities acquired and associated fair value adjustments required to conform with IFRS 3 (2008 Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ 
are set out below:



Nationwide 2009 Annual Report and Accounts 119

Notes to the Accounts 
continued

49. Transfer of engagements (continued)

Explanation of material adjustments to take on balances
i) The fair value adjustment in respect of investment securities reflects the adoption of more prudent counterparty risk valuations. The methodology 

used is fully consistent with that used by the Group.

ii) The fair value adjustment in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the adoption of Nationwide’s discounted cash flow models. 

iii) Loans and advances to customers were previously carried at amortised cost subject to impairment and have been recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. The acquisition fair value adjustment reflects both credit and interest rate risk associated with these assets. This fair value 
acquisition becomes the new amortised cost for acquired loans and receivables. Furthermore the fair value hedge adjustment of £72 million 
recognised in The Cheshire cessation accounts has been written off.

iv) The intangible assets are in respect of core deposits, £9 million (recognising the intrinsic value of the retail savings book), customer  
relationships (recognising the income streams from renewable contracts – primarily insurance) and brand £1 million. These intangibles will be 
amortised over their useful lives of between 5 and 10 years. We have classified the former head office of the acquired Society as a specialised 
administration building.

v) The fair value adjustments for shares, deposits from banks and due to customers reflect interest rate risk associated with these liabilities. Under 
IFRS these liabilities were previously carried at amortised cost. 

vi) The fair value adjustments for debt securities in issue, subscribed capital and subordinated liabilities reflect both credit and interest rate risk 
associated with these liabilities. Under IFRS these liabilities were carried at amortised cost. 

vii) The fair value adjustment for provisions for liabilities and charges represents the FSCS liability relating to The Cheshire savings balances transferred 
to the Group.

viii) Imputed consideration represents the fair value of members’ interests transferred. The combination of the two societies did not involve the transfer 
of any cash consideration. The value of the consideration has been calculated by measuring the fair value of The Cheshire business. The calculation 
has been made with reference to quoted financial services organisations with publicly available valuations, adjusted to take account of such items 
as the relative size, financial status, economic diversification and the unquoted nature of the business. This has resulted in a value of £nil attributed 
to the consideration.

ix) Net identifiable assets in excess of consideration transferred results in a gain on acquisition. IFRS 3 (Revised 2008) requires that, where the fair 
value of the acquired assets exceeds the consideration transferred, the acquirer should reassess the identification and measurement of the assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities and the measurement of the consideration. After completing this additional review, in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS 3 (Revised 2008), this gain has been recognised in the income statement. The gain represents the fact that, in the distressed 
market conditions at the acquisition date, the value of net assets acquired was greater than the value of the ongoing business on a standalone 
basis, represented by imputed consideration.

The cessation accounts of The Cheshire for the period 1 January 2008 to 14 December 2008, audited by KPMG, reported net interest income of  
£31 million and a post tax loss of £34 million. To calculate an estimate of the result of the business combination from the beginning of the year, we 
estimate that net interest income of £23 million and a post tax loss of £36 million relating to The Cheshire would be added to the figures as reported  
in the Group income statement.

Following the acquisition The Cheshire ceased to exist, being subsumed by Nationwide Building Society. It is thus not possible to separate its results 
post the transfer of engagements.
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Notes

Provisional 
Fair Values 

£m

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Bank of England 2

Loans and advances to banks 578

Investment securities – available for sale 9

Derivative financial instruments 53

Loans and advances to customers i 1,032

Intangible assets ii 15

Property, plant and equipment ii 10

Accrued income and expenses prepaid 2

Other assets 35

Total assets 1,736

LIABILITIES

Shares iii 2,306

Deposits from banks iii 50

Derivative financial instruments 76

Other deposits iii 731

Provisions for liabilities and charges iv 4

Accruals and deferred income 2

Total liabilities 3,169

Net identifiable liabilities 1,433

Cash consideration 1,501

Imputed consideration -

Total consideration 1,501

Gain on acquisition v 68

The consolidated income statement of the Group includes acquisition related administrative expenses for the Dunfermline of £2 million.

The provisional fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are set out below:

50. Acquisition

On 30 March 2009 the Society acquired the retail and wholesale deposits, branches, head office and originated residential mortgages (other than 
social housing loans and related deposits) of Dunfermline Building Society (Dunfermline). This acquisition follows a sale process conducted by the Bank 
of England under the Special Resolution Regime provisions of the Banking Act 2009. The acquisition was designed to protect Dunfermline’s members 
and depositors who became Nationwide members and depositors on the acquisition date.

On acquisition HM Treasury made a payment to the Society of £1.5 billion to cover the net liabilities that are not covered by the acquired assets.

As the acquisition took place immediately prior to year end, at the date of preparing the Group financial statements the information required to value 
the acquisition was incomplete. The initial accounting for the Dunfermline acquisition has thus been determined provisionally and it has not been 
possible to provide details of cashflows not expected to be collected for receivables acquired. Any revisions to fair values will be recognised as 
adjustments to the initial accounting in the following period. The Dunfermline will not be preparing any cessation accounts.
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50. Acquisition (continued)

Explanation of material provisional fair value adjustments
i) Loans and advances to customers have been adjusted to reflect both credit and interest rate risk associated with these assets. Note only originated 

residential mortgages (other than social housing loans) were acquired.

ii) Identifiable intangible assets recognised under IFRS 3 (2008 Revised) is in respect of core deposits (recognising the intrinsic value of the retail 
savings book), customer relationships (recognising the income streams from renewable contracts – primarily insurance) and brand. These 
intangibles will be amortised over their useful lives of between 5 and 10 years. We have classified the former head office of the acquired Society  
as a specialised administration building. 

iii) Shares, deposits from banks and other deposits have been adjusted to reflect interest rate risk associated with these liabilities. 

iv) This represents recognition of the FSCS liability relating to the Dunfermline savings balances transferred to the Group.

v) The gain on acquisition primarily represents the discount given as part of commercial negotiations prior to the purchase of the identified assets  
and liabilities by the Society.

vi) The Group did not acquire any rights, obligations or liabilities in respect of the Dunfermline Building Society pension scheme.

The results for the five day period post acquisition are deemed immaterial to the Group. As only part of the Dunfermline Building Society was acquired 
it is not possible to disclose the revenue and profit/loss of the combined entity as though the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year.

Balance sheet PBS take  
on balances

£m

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Bank of England 9

Loans and advances to banks 97

Investment securities – available for sale 2,553

Derivative financial instruments 178

Loans and advances to customers 16,997

Intangible fixed assets 34

Property, plant and equipment 64

Accrued income and expenses prepaid 4

Deferred tax assets 6

Other assets 33

Assets classified as held for sale 6

Total assets 19,981

51. Transfer of engagements – Portman Building Society

On 28 August 2007, the Society merged with Portman Building Society (PBS). The Group assets and liabilities acquired are set out below:
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Balance sheet PBS take  
on balances

£m

LIABILITIES

Shares 13,763

Deposits from banks 1,052

Due to customers 773

Debt securities in issue 2,933

Derivative financial instruments 68

Other liabilities 231

Accruals and deferred income 17

Deferred tax liabilities 2

Subordinated liabilities 250

Permanent interest bearing shares 176

Current tax liabilities (1)

Retirement benefit obligations 13

Total liabilities 19,277

General reserve 697

Revaluation reserve 8

Available for sale reserve (3)

Cash flow hedge reserve 2

Total reserves and liabilities 19,981

The consolidated income statement of the Group for 2009 includes merger related administrative expenses of £18 million (2008: £52 million).  
An additional £11 million of merger related administrative expenses was disclosed in the 2007 Annual Report and Accounts. 

Reserves transferred from PBS to the Group were reduced by a £5 million charge to income for merger related redundancy costs within the Portman 
completion accounts.

51. Transfer of engagements – Portman Building Society (continued)

52. Capital Management

The Group is subject to the capital requirements imposed by its regulator the Financial Services Authority (FSA). Capital comprises the Group’s 
general reserve, revaluation reserve, Permanent Interest Bearing Shares (PIBS) and subordinated debt, subject to various adjustments required by the 
capital rules.

During the year the Group complied with the capital requirements set by the FSA. Further details about the Group’s capital position can be found in 
the Business Review, in the Risk Management and Control section on page 30 and also on page 19.
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Annual Business Statement 

2009
%

Statutory 
Limit

%

Lending limit 16.9 25.0

Funding limit 28.6 50.0

1. Statutory percentages

The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building 
Societies Act 1997.

The lending limit measures the proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential property and is calculated  
as (X-Y)/X where:

X = business assets, being the total assets of the Group plus impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers less liquid assets, property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties and insurance assets as shown in the Group balance sheet.

Y = the principal of, and interest accrued on, loans owed to the Group which are fully secured on residential property. 

The funding limit measures the proportion of shares and borrowings not in the form of shares held by individuals and is calculated as (X-Y)/X where:

X =  shares and borrowings, being the aggregate of:

i)  the principal value of, and interest accrued on, shares in the Society;

ii)  the principal of, and interest accrued on, sums deposited with the Society or any subsidiary undertaking of the Society excluding offshore 
deposits; and

iii)  the principal value of, and interest accrued under, bills of exchange, instruments or agreements creating or acknowledging indebtedness and 
accepted, made, issued or entered into by the Society or any such undertaking, less any amounts qualifying as own funds.

Y =  the principal value of, and interest accrued on, shares in the Society held by individuals otherwise than as bare trustees (or, in Scotland, simple 
trustees) for bodies corporate or for persons who include bodies corporate. 

The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 1997 and ensure that the 
principal purpose of a building society is that of making loans which are secured on residential property and are funded substantially by its members.

 

 

For the year ended 4 April 2009
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2009
%

2008
%

As a percentage of shares and borrowings:

Gross capital•	 4.3 5.6

Free capital•	 3.9 5.1

Liquid assets•	 18.5 18.9

Profit for the financial year as a percentage of mean total assets 0.08 0.31

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets 0.72 0.82

2. Other percentages

The above percentages have been prepared from the Society’s consolidated accounts and in particular: 

‘Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares, deposits from banks, other deposits, amounts due to customers and debt securities •	
in issue.

‘Gross capital’ represents the aggregate of general reserve, revaluation reserve, available for sale reserve, cash flow hedge reserve, •	
subscribed capital and subordinated liabilities. 

‘Free capital’ represents the aggregate of gross capital and provisions for collective impairment losses on loans and advances to customers •	
less property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

‘Liquid assets’ represent the total of cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England, loans and advances to banks and  •	
investment securities.

‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. •	

‘Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation.•	

For the year ended 4 April 2009
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers

At 4 April 2009

Directors

Name and date of birth Occupation Date of appointment Other directorships

G M T Howe 
MA (Cantab)
Chairman
3 September 1949

Company Director 1 January 2005 Gateway Electronics Components Ltd
Investec Ltd, South Africa
Investec plc
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Group plc, 

Chairman 

G J Beale
BSc, ACA
19 October 1958

Chief Executive Officer 5 April 2003 Visa Europe Ltd
Visa Europe Services Incorporated,  

United States

R P Walther
MA, FIA 
Joint Deputy Chairman
31 July 1943

Company Director 1 July 2002 British United Provident Association Ltd
BUPA Health Assurance Ltd
BUPA Insurance Ltd
BUPA Insurance Services Ltd
Derbyshire Building Society Staff Pension 

Scheme Trustee Co Ltd
Fidelity European Values plc, Chairman
Nationwide Pension Fund Nominee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Trustee Ltd
Portman Pension Trustees Ltd

W Tudor John
MA (Cantab), D.L.
Joint Deputy Chairman
26 April 1944

Company Director 28 August 2007 Grainger plc
Lehman Brothers European  

Mezzanine 2004 SICAV 
NFTS Foundation
Wales in London Ltd

S D M Bernau 
BSc (Econ), FCIB, MCT 
15 August 1951

Group Product  
and Marketing Director

1 November 1996 at.home nationwide ltd, Chairman
Ethos Independent Financial  

Services Ltd, Chairman
Jubilee Mortgages Ltd
The Minchinhampton Golf Club Ltd

T P Prestedge
12 February 1970

Group Development Director 28 August 2007 The Nationwide Foundation

M M Rennison
BA, FCA
9 August 1960

Group Finance  
Director

1 February 2007 Confederation Mortgage Services Ltd
Exeter Trust Ltd
First Nationwide
LBS Mortgages Ltd
Nationwide Anglia Property Services Ltd
Nationwide BES Fund Managers Ltd 
Nationwide Housing Trust Ltd, 
Nationwide Investments (No.1) Ltd
Nationwide Lease Finance Ltd
Nationwide Mortgage Corporation Ltd
Nationwide Syndications Ltd
Staffordshire Financial Services Ltd
The Mortgage Works (UK) plc
UCB Home Loans Corporation Ltd
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers (continued)

At 4 April 2009

Directors

Name and date of birth Occupation Date of appointment Other directorships

D J Rigney 
ACMA, MBA
1 June 1963

Group Operations
Director

1 October 2006 HM Land Registry
Monument (Sutton) Ltd
Nationwide Anglia Property Services Ltd
NBS Fleet Services Ltd
Staffordshire Leasing Ltd
The Derbyshire (Premises) Ltd 

M P V Wyles
ACII
25 August 1958

Group Distribution Director 28 August 2007 Confederation Mortgage Services Ltd
Derbyshire Home Loans Ltd
E-Mex Home Funding Ltd
Exeter Trust Ltd
Jubilee Mortgages Ltd
LBS Mortgages Ltd
Ridgeway Mortgage Services Ltd
Staffordshire Financial Services Ltd
The Mortgage Works (UK) plc
UCB Home Loans Corporation Ltd

Mrs S J David
MA (Cantab)
20 November 1962

Company Director 16 April 2003 Bacardi Global Brands Incorporated, 
United States

Bacardi Global Brands Ltd

Mrs S C Ellen
BSc
15 December 1948

Company Director 28 August 2007 Prudential Health Holdings Ltd
Prudential Health Ltd
Prudential Health Services Ltd
Prudential Protect Ltd
ST Ellen Consultancy Ltd
St John Ambulance
West Middlesex University Hospital  

NHS Trust, Chairman

M K Jary 
MA (Oxon), MBA
15 June 1963

Management Consultant 1 January 2009 Duchy Originals Ltd
Duchy Originals Foods Ltd
International Consulting Partners  

Societe Civile (France)
OC&C Peleus Advisors LLP
OC&C Resources Ltd
OC&C Strategy Consultants Limited 

Partnership (Guernsey)
OC&C Strategy Consultants S.A.R.L. 

(France)
OC&C Strategy Consultants LLP
OC&C Strategy Consultants International 

(Netherlands)
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers (continued)

At 4 April 2009

Directors

Name and date of birth Occupation Date of appointment Other directorships

K Loosemore
30 January 1959

Non Executive Director 1 January 2009 Farnham Castle
Micro Focus International plc
Morse plc 

M P Nicholls
MA (Cantab), MBA
5 May 1949

Company Director 28 August 2007 Burcot House Management Ltd
EcoSecurities Group plc, Ireland, Chairman
Northern Investors Company plc
The Evolution Group plc
Venture Production plc, Deputy Chairman

D A Ross 
BSc, LLB, FCA, ACMA, CTA (Fellow), FCT
1 August 1950

Building Society Director 1 December 2004 Access Bank (UK) Ltd
European Central Counterparty Ltd

Ms S Taverne
3 February 1960

Company Director 16 November 2005 Consumer Credit Counselling Service 
FCE Bank plc 
Good Governance Network
One Parent Families/Gingerbread, Chair
The Design Museum
Vlessing & Taverne Ltd

Directors
Documents may be served on any of the directors at Burges Salmon LLP, Narrow Quay House, Narrow Quay, Bristol, BS1 4AH.

Directors’ Service Contracts
The standard terms for new executive director appointments include a contractual notice period of 12 months. Seven executive directors had or have 
contracts on this basis; they are (with the date of their contract) S D M Bernau (1 November 1996), G J Beale (3 March 2003), D J Rigney (1 October 
2006), M M Rennison (1 February 2007), J A Sutherland (5 April 2007), T P Prestedge (28 August 2007) and M P V Wyles (28 August 2007). 

Directors’ Share Options
No director or other officer, including connected persons, has any rights to subscribe for shares in, or debentures of, any connected undertaking of 
the Society.

Annual Business Statement 
continued
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers (continued)

At 4 April 2009

Officers

Name Occupation Directorships

A J Alexander
ACA

Divisional Director
(Finance)

Confederation Mortgage Services Ltd
Derbyshire Building Society Staff Pension Scheme 

Trustee Co Ltd
Exeter Trust Ltd
Jubilee Mortgages Ltd
Maple Mortgage Holdings Ltd
Maple Mortgage Securities No. 1 Ltd
Nationwide Healthcare Trustee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Nominee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Trustee Ltd
NBS Fleet Services Ltd
Portman Pension Trustees Ltd
Staffordshire Financial Services Ltd 

R T Bailey 
DMS

Divisional Director 
(Insurance & Investments)

The New Swindon Company Ltd

L J Coleman
BA (Hons), MBA, ACIB, AMCT

Divisional Director 
(Treasury)

First Nationwide
Nationwide Investments (No.1) Ltd
Nationwide Lease Finance Ltd
Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

M Gibbard
BSc, FCA, MCT

Divisional Director
(Risk Management)

LBS Mortgages Ltd
The Mortgage Works (UK) plc
UCB Home Loans Corporation Ltd

G P Hughes Divisional Director
(Retail Network)

M R Jenkins 
BA (Hons), FCA, DIPL

Divisional Director  
(Commercial)

at.home nationwide ltd
Longwide Ltd
Nationwide BES Fund Managers Ltd
Nationwide Housing Trust Ltd
Nationwide Lease Finance Ltd
Nationwide Mortgage Corporation Ltd
Nationwide Syndications Ltd
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers (continued)

At 4 April 2009

Officers

Name Occupation Directorships

R Johnston
LLB, F Col, ACII

Group Secretary
 

T K Kaye
MBA

Divisional Director
(Change Management)

Mrs M R Mason Divisional Director
(Member Account Administration)

A McQueen Divisional Director 
(Mortgages)

Confederation Mortgage Services Ltd
Derbyshire Home Loans Ltd
E-Mex Home Funding Ltd
Exeter Trust Ltd
Jubilee Mortgages Ltd
LBS Mortgages Ltd
Staffordshire Financial Services Ltd
The Mortgage Works (UK) plc
UCB Home Loans Corporation Ltd

S G Nowell Divisional Director
(Business Protection)

Miss A J Robb
BSc (Hons), FCA

Divisional Director
(Strategy & Planning)

P Stafford Divisional Director  
(Information Technology)

Nationwide International Ltd, Isle of Man

Mrs M M Taylor Divisional Director  
(Corporate Affairs)

The Nationwide Foundation

G Wilkinson Managing Director  
(Regional Brands)

Cheshire Property Services Ltd
Cheshire Mortgage Brokers Ltd
Derbyshire IFS Ltd
Aspects Leicester Ltd

J R Wood Divisional Director
(Consumer Finance)

Aldbury Housing Association
Derbyshire Building Society Staff Pension Scheme 

Trustee Co Ltd 
Nationwide Pension Fund Nominee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Trustee Ltd
Nationwide Trust Ltd
Portman Pension Trustees Ltd
Visa UK Ltd

J D Wrighthouse
BSc (Hons), MA, CFCIPD

Divisional Director
(Human Resources)

Derbyshire Building Society Staff Pension Scheme 
Trustee Co Ltd

Nationwide Healthcare Trustee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Nominee Ltd
Nationwide Pension Fund Trustee Ltd
Portman Pension Trustees Ltd

Annual Business Statement 
continued
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